
 
 

AGENDA  
 
Meeting: Children's Services Select Committee 

Place: Council Chamber, Bradley Road, Trowbridge 

Date: Tuesday 27 September 2011 

Time: 10.30 am 

 

 
Please direct any enquiries on this Agenda to Sharon Smith, of Democratic and 
Members’ Services, County Hall, Bythesea Road, Trowbridge, direct line (01225) 
718378 or email sharonl.smith@wiltshire.gov.uk 
 
Press enquiries to Communications on direct lines (01225) 713114/713115. 
 
This Agenda and all the documents referred to within it are available on the Council’s 
website at www.wiltshire.gov.uk  
 

Membership: 
Cllr Christine Crisp 
Cllr Paul Darby 
Cllr Andrew Davis 
Cllr Peter Davis 
Cllr Mary Douglas 
Cllr Peter Fuller 
Cllr Mark Griffiths 
 

Cllr Russell Hawker 
Cllr Jon Hubbard 
Cllr Jacqui Lay (Vice Chairman) 
Cllr Bill Moss 
Cllr Helen Osborn 
Cllr Carole Soden 
 

 

Substitutes: 
Cllr Ernie Clark 
Cllr Christopher Devine 
Cllr Peggy Dow 
Cllr Nick Fogg 

Cllr Tom James MBE 
Cllr John Knight 
Cllr Jeff Osborn 
Cllr William Roberts 

 

Non-Elected Voting Members: 
Rev Alice Kemp Parent Governor Representative (SEN) 
Mr Neil Owen Parent Governor Representative (Secondary) 
Mrs Rosheen Ryan Parent Governor Representative (Primary) 
Dr Mike Thompson Roman Catholic Church Diocesan Representative 

 

Non-Elected Non-Voting Members: 
Mrs Di Dale Further Education Representative 
Mr Chris Dark Secondary Schools Headteacher Representative 
Mrs Judith Finney Primary School Headteachers Representative 
John Hawkins School Teacher Representative 
Chris King Children & Young People's Representative 



 
 

 PART I 

 Items to be considered while the meeting is opened to the public 

 

1)   Apologies and substitutions  

 

2)   Minutes of the Previous Meeting (Pages 1 - 12) 

 To confirm and sign the minutes of the Children’s Services Select Committee 
held on 22 July 2011 (copy attached). 

 

3)   Declarations of Interests  

 To receive any declarations of personal or prejudicial interests or dispensations 
granted by the Standards Committee. 

 

4)   Chairman's Announcements  

 

5)   Public Participation and Councillors Questions  

 The Council welcomes contributions from members of the public. 
 
Statements 
 
If you would like to make a statement at this meeting on any item on this 
agenda, please register to do so at least 10 minutes prior to the meeting. Up to 
3 speakers are permitted to speak for up to 3 minutes each on any agenda item.  
Please contact the officer named above for any further clarification. 
 
Questions  
 
To receive any questions from members of the public or members of the 
Council received in accordance with the constitution. Those wishing to ask 
questions are required to give notice of any such questions in writing to the 
officer named above (acting on behalf of the Director of Resources) no later 
than 5pm on Tuesday 20 September 2011.  Please contact the officer named 
on the first page of this agenda for further advice.  Questions may be asked 
without notice if the Chairman decides that the matter is urgent. 
 
Details of any questions received will be circulated to Committee members prior 
to the meeting and made available at the meeting and on the Council’s website. 

 

6)   Report of the Denominational Home-to-School Transport rapid scrutiny 
exercise (Pages 13 - 32) 



 To present for retrospective endorsement the report of the Denominational 
Home-to-School Transport rapid scrutiny exercise, which took place on 8th 
September with Cllr Carole Soden as the Lead Member. The report was 
referred directly to Cabinet for consideration, alongside a report from the 
Corporate Director for Neighbourhood and Planning seeking Cabinet approval 
for a change to the Council’s policy in respect of denominational home-to-school 
transport.  
 
On 13th September, Cabinet made the following decision: 
 
That Cabinet approves the following change to the Council’s Education 
Transport Policy in respect of denominational home to school transport in 
order to achieve financial savings: 
 
Withdraw discretionary home to school transport assistance for children 
attending a denominational school on grounds of their religion with effect 
from September 2012 but with transitional provisions to assist all pupils 
who are already receiving transport subject to the following: 
 
 

• except where there is a legal entitlement to free transport (i.e. 
for low income families in certain circumstances, as 
described in paragraph 3 of the report presented); 

 
• during 2011/2012 Council officers would seek to support the 

schools to arrange their own transport, to try and ensure that, 
as far as possible, transport continues to be available but 
funded by the users or from other sources rather than by the 
Council and 

 

• the Council would provide a fixed amount of funding direct to 
the schools, to assist them with the costs of providing 
transport for all pupils who are already attending the school, 
each year until they leave. The payment would be made once 
each year and would be for a fixed amount per pupil, for each 
child still attending the school who was receiving transport in 
the 2011/12 academic year. The overall amount paid by the 
Council would therefore decrease each year as successive 
year groups leave the school. The amount paid per pupil 
would be set at £409 per pupil (adjusted for any extraordinary 
costs), which is equivalent to the average overall cost per 
head of providing the existing transport in 2011/12, less the 
2011/12 parental contribution. Transport would have to be 
arranged by the schools affected. 

 
 
Reason for Decision: 
 
To achieve savings that will be required to balance the budget over a number of 
years, whilst providing continuity of education for pupils already attending a 
denominational school, and to support schools in making their own 
arrangements for pupil transport. 



 
 
The following documents are attached: 
 

1. The report of the Denominational Home-to-School Transport rapid 
scrutiny exercise, plus appendices;  
 

2. Responses from Cllr Dick Tonge, Cabinet Member for Highways and 
Transport, to the recommendations of the Rapid Scrutiny Group 

 
Members are asked to endorse the report of the rapid scrutiny exercise and 
note the responses of the Cabinet Member for Highways and Transport.  Cllr 
Richard Gamble, Portfolio Holder for Public Transport will attend to answer 
members’ questions. 

 

7)   Report of the 11 to 19 Commissioning Strategy rapid scrutiny exercise 
(Pages 33 - 42) 

 To present for retrospective endorsement the report of the 11 to 19 
Commissioning Strategy rapid scrutiny exercise, which took place on 9th 
September with Cllr Jon Hubbard as the Lead Member. The report was referred 
directly to Cabinet for consideration, alongside a report from the Corporate 
Director for Children and Education seeking Cabinet adoption of the 11 to 19 
Commissioning Strategy. 
 
On 13th September, Cabinet made the following decision: 
 
That Cabinet agrees the strategic direction and priorities outlined in the 11 
to 19 Commissioning Strategy as detailed at Appendix 1 of the report 
presented, including agreeing the following: 
 
(a)  The commissioning priorities outlined in section 6 of the strategy 

and highlighted in section 15 of the report presented;  
 
(b) The Wiltshire Youth Work Offer for young people aged 13 to 19 also 

outlined in section 6 of the Strategy and sections 22 and 23 of the 
report presented and  

 
(c)     The savings from youth work services budgets outlined in section 24 

of the report presented. 
 
 
Reason for Decision: 
 
The Wiltshire Children and Young People’s Trust brings together all agencies 
working with children and young people in Wiltshire. The Trust has developed a 
commissioning strategy covering services for the 11 to 19 age range. The 
strategy sets out the strategic direction for services for this age range including 
services purchased and provided by Wiltshire Council. Wiltshire Council Cabinet 
is being asked to endorse and approve the strategy including the 



commissioning priorities.  
 
The 11 to 19 strategy includes plans for reshaping youth services in Wiltshire 
and for making the savings from the transformation of youth work services 
noted in the Council’s Financial Plan for 2011 to 2015. 
 
 
The following documents are attached: 
 

3. The report of the 11 to 19 Commissioning Strategy rapid scrutiny 
exercise; 
 

4. Responses from Cllr Lionel Grundy, Cabinet Member for Children’s 
Services, to the recommendations of the Rapid Scrutiny Group.    

 
Members are asked to endorse the report of the rapid scrutiny exercise and 
note the response from the Cabinet Member for Children’s Services. 
 

 

8)   Coalition Update (Pages 43 - 50) 

 The Corporate Director for the Department of Children and Education to provide 
a regular update on developments relating to children’s services arising from the 
coalition government. 

 

9)   Budget and Performance Monitoring - Department for Children & 
Education (Pages 51 - 70) 

 The Revenue Budget Monitoring report presented to Cabinet on 13th September 
is attached, together with an edited version of the Appendix (showing only 
DCE’s departmental risk analysis). 
 
A version of the Business Plan Scorecard report presented to Cabinet on 13th 
September is also attached, edited to contain only information pertinent to 
children and education.  
 
Members are asked to note the reports.   
 
Where possible, members are asked to forward any specific questions to 
the Senior Scrutiny Officer in advance of the meeting. 

 

10)   Ofsted Unannounced Inspection of Contact, Referral and Assessment 
Arrangements (Pages 71 - 96) 

 A report by the Corporate Director, Department for Children & Education is attached, 
which updates members on the findings of the recent inspection which took place in 
July 2011. 

 

 



11)   Multi-Agency Thresholds Document (Pages 97 - 136) 

 A report by the Corporate Director, Department for Children and Education is 
attached which briefs members on the new Multi-agency Thresholds document that is 
currently being used in Wiltshire. 

 

 

12)   Task Group update (Pages 137 - 138) 

 A report providing updates on Task Group activity is attached. Members are 
asked to note its contents. 

 

13)   Forward Work Programme (Pages 139 - 144) 

 A copy of the draft Forward Work Programme is attached for consideration. 

 

14)   Date of Next Meeting  

 The Committee’s next meeting is scheduled to be held on Thursday 24 
November 2011, at Monkton Park, Chippenham, starting at 10.30am. 

 

15)   Urgent Items  

 Any other items of business which the Chairman agrees to consider as a matter 
of urgency. 

 

 PART II 

 Items during whose consideration it is recommended that the public 
should be excluded because of the likelihood that exempt information 

would be disclosed 
 

None 

 



 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 

CHILDREN'S SERVICES SELECT COMMITTEE 
 
 
 

 
DRAFT MINUTES OF THE CHILDREN'S SERVICES SELECT COMMITTEE 
MEETING HELD ON 22 JULY 2011 AT COUNCIL CHAMBER, BRADLEY ROAD, 
TROWBRIDGE. 
 
Present: 
 
Cllr Christine Crisp, Cllr Andrew Davis, Cllr Peter Davis, Cllr Mary Douglas, 
Cllr Mark Griffiths, Cllr Russell Hawker, Mr J Hawkins, Cllr John Knight (Substitute), 
Cllr Jacqui Lay (Vice Chairman), Cllr Helen Osborn, Mr N Owen, Mrs R Ryan, 
Cllr Carole Soden (Chairman) and Dr M Thompson 
 
Also  Present: 
 
Cllr Richard Gamble, Cllr Lionel Grundy, Cllr Alan Macrae and Cllr Dick Tonge  
 
  

 
177. Apologies and substitutions 

 
Apologies for absence were received from Cllr Jon Hubbard (who was 
substituted by Cllr John Knight) and Revd Alice Kemp.   
 

178. Minutes of the Previous Meeting 
 
Resolved: 
 
To confirm and sign the minutes of the Select Committee meeting held on 
9 June 2011. 
 

179. Declarations of Interests 
 
Cllr John Knight declared a personal interest in Minute No 187 - Denominational 
Home to School Transport because he was a Local Authority Governor at St 
Augustine’s School, Trowbridge. He stated that he would take part in the debate 
and vote. 
 
Dr Mike Thompson also declared a personal interest in Minute No 187  - 
Denominational Home to School Transport because he represented the Clifton 
Diocese on this Select Committee and therefore had a particular interest in this 
subject. He stated that he would take part in the debate and vote. 
 
 

Agenda Item 2

Page 1



 
 
 
 

 

 
 
 

180. Chairman's Announcements 
 
The Chairman announced that on Tuesday 19 July 2011, the Secretary of State 
for Education made a series of announcements on education funding  with the 
aim of making the system fairer and less bureaucratic. These announcements 
covered both capital investment and school revenue funding. 
 
The following three consultation documents had been issued:- 
 
Capital Funding  
 

• A consultation on the implementation of the 2010/11 review of Education 
Capital (the James Review), the response date being 11 October 2011.  

 
Revenue Funding 
 

• A consultation on schools funding reform: proposals for a fairer system. 
This consultation built on the initial consultation issued in April 2011 and 
looked at the development of a national funding formula.  The response 
date was 11 October 2011. 

 

• A consultation on the basis for the decision on the appropriate amount of 
academies funding transfer for 2011/12 and 2012/13.  This was in the light 
of the Secretary of State’s decision to reconsider the reduction to local 
authority funding that was made as part of the two year local government 
settlement for 2011/12 and 2012/13 to reflect the transfer of central 
services from local authorities to Academies and Free Schools.  The 
consultation aimed to respond to the challenges made by local authorities 
regarding the basis on which the original decision was made. The 
response date was 16 August 2011. 
 

Links to the consultation documents on the DfE website would be circulated to 
members of this Select Committee.  
                                                                                                                      

181. Public Participation and Councillors Questions 
 
Members of the public addressed the Committee and submitted written 
questions for which written responses had been prepared as set out in Minute 
No 187 below. 
 
There were no questions received from members of the Council. 
 

182. Coalition Changes - Update from Department for Children and Education 
(DCE) 
 
The Select Committee received a report by the Corporate Director, Department 
for Children & Education which provided the following updates on Coalition 
proposals for children’s services and education:- 

Page 2



 
 
 
 

 

 
 
 

 

• Reform of Early Learning and Children’s Centres 

• Consultation on New Admissions Code 

• Key Stage 2 Testing, Assessment and Accountability Review 

• Further Action to help our School System to become world class 

• Definition of Persistent Absence 

• Behaviour in Schools 

• Managing Teacher Performance 

• 16 – 19 Bursary Scheme 

• Academies Update 

• Early Intervention: Smart Investment, Massive Savings 
 
Resolved: 
 
To note the contents of the report. 
 

183. Budget & Performance Monitoring - DCE 
 
The Committee received a copy of the Budget Monitoring Report which was to 
be considered by Cabinet on 26 July 2011, together with relevant appendices.  
It was noted that there was no Performance Report on this occasion.  
 
It was noted that the numbers of Looked After Children and Children with a 
Child Protection Plan were increasing and that these increasing levels were 
higher than budgeted for.  The number of children coming into care because of 
neglect or emotional abuse was increasing and the number of active court 
proceedings currently stood at 60, against an average in previous years of 38 at 
any one time.  The increase in court proceedings was also causing pressure on 
the Department’s legal budget as the Council’s legal service was unable to 
meet the current demand and therefore had to put work out to external 
solicitors. Pressures on the Leaving Care budget were also significant.  It was 
noted that officers would review options to address these pressures and report 
back to Cabinet in September.  
 
Resolved: 
 
To note the latest budget performance data provided. 
 

184. Future Educational Direction 
 
The Select Committee considered a report by the Corporate Director, Children 
& Education which provided information on the future educational direction as 
national systems moved towards a more self-improving, practitioner-led and 
locally determined model.   
 
It was noted that the Local Authority (LA) was keen to support the widest ‘family’ 
of schools in Wiltshire. It was recognised that all schools required support more 

Page 3



 
 
 
 

 

 
 
 

than ever, whether they be an Academy, Voluntary Aided, Foundation, 
Community or Voluntary Controlled, the aim being to improve life chances for 
children and young adults in Wiltshire.  The relationship between the Local 
Authority and schools was very good and this had resulted in the building of the 
Wiltshire Learning Trust, this being an umbrella alliance to describe the LA’s 
offer to schools and early years’ settings to provide choice, access and quality.  
Its aim was to support all schools to do the best for their population, particularly 
to improve life chances and safeguard children. 
 
It was reported that all schools on becoming academies received information on 
services available from Wiltshire Council within the Wiltshire Learning Trust. A 
pack of information had been distributed in May 2011 detailing services the LA 
would continue to provide on the same basis to all maintained schools and also 
those available to purchase.   Members were informed that this was not really a 
new venture as some trading with schools had been in operation for over 10 
years in such services as human resources and finance.   It was necessary now 
to sharpen up the delivery of these services so that they could be provided 
quickly and efficiently to schools in Wiltshire and further afield when requested. 
 
Resolved: 
 
To note the contents of the report.   
 

185. Reducing Child Poverty 
 
Consideration was given to a joint report by the Corporate Directors, Children & 
Education and Public Health & Wellbeing which was due to be considered by 
Cabinet at its next meeting on 26 July 2011.  The purpose of the report was to 
seek Cabinet’s approval to the Wiltshire Reducing Child Poverty Strategy and 
this Select Committee was invited to make any comments prior to Cabinet’s 
consideration of the Strategy. 
 
It was noted that the Child Poverty Act, which committed both the current and 
future Governments to eradicating child poverty by 2020 received Royal Assent 
in March 2010.  The Act required Central Government to produce a national 
strategy to reduce child poverty.  It also required local areas to address child 
poverty through cooperation between partners, the production of a needs 
assessment and strategy. 
 
The Select Committee received the written views of Revd Alice Kemp who 

considered that there was a need to specifically target the needs of families 

where a parent or child was disabled.  She suggested that these families were 

significantly more likely to be at risk of poverty and stated that it cost on average 

three times as much to bring up a disabled child compared to a non-disabled 

child. Often parents were unable to work because of the health needs of their 

child.  She questioned what else could be done to alleviate poverty in this 

specific group of families.    

Page 4



 
 
 
 

 

 
 
 

 

Members expressed support for the Strategy and drew attention to specific 

areas of deprivation in Wiltshire.   

 

After further discussion, 

 

Resolved: 

 

(1) To note and commend the report and the Child Poverty Strategy. 

 

(2) To recommend that Cabinet makes adequate funding available to 

fulfil the objectives described in the Strategy.    

 
186. 13-19 Commissioning Strategy consultation - Report of the Rapid Scrutiny 

Exercise 
 
Members were reminded that at the last meeting a rapid scrutiny exercise was 
established to respond to the 13-19 Commissioning Strategy consultation 
document and following on from this, a report was presented for consideration 
setting out the Rapid Scrutiny Group’s findings and recommendations.  It had 
also been agreed that at this meeting, the Select Committee would agree 
arrangements for scrutiny of the results of the 13-19 Commissioning Strategy 
and subsequent proposals to Cabinet. 
 
The Select Committee then considered in detail the findings and 
recommendations of the Rapid Scrutiny Group and  
 
Resolved: 
 
(1) To submit the response to the 13-19 Commissioning Consultation 

drafted by the Rapid Scrutiny Group, subject to the following 
amendments:- 

 

Q1. Do you have any comments on the purpose of the 13 to 19 

commissioning strategy outlined in section 2.1 including the specific age 

range covered by the strategy?  

 

The Committee wishes to emphasise the value of engaging young people 

below the age of 13 in youth services, as it encourages their future 

involvement. 

 

Q2. Do you have any comments on or additions to the scope of the 13-19 

commissioning strategy outlined in section2.2? 

 

Page 5



 
 
 
 

 

 
 
 

Consideration should be given to using the Health & Wellbeing budget to 

fund services for young people in the 13-19 age bracket. 

 

Q3. Are there any other strategies or plans which cover the 13-19 age 

range to add to the list in section 2.3? 

 

Housing development affects people of all ages, so should be considered 

when planning services for 13-19 year olds. Consideration should 

therefore be given to including the Core Strategy within this list. 

 

Q12. Do you agree with the commissioning priorities identified in section 

7.2?  Do you have any comments, amendments or additions?  Can you 

select your top 3 commissioning priorities?  

 

The Committee considers that the top commissioning priority should be 

to increase the availability of affordable housing for young people 

including continuing to invest in housing support for vulnerable young 

people. 

 

(2) To establish a rapid scrutiny exercise to consider and make 
recommendations on:- 

 
(a) The consultation process followed by the 13-19 Commissioning 

Strategy,  paying mind to the concerns raised by the original 
Rapid Scrutiny Group. 

 
(b) The consultation results and subsequent proposals to Cabinet 

for the 13-19 Commissioning Strategy, prior to their 
consideration by Cabinet on 13 September 2011.    

 
(3) To  agree that the following recommendation be NOT made to 

Cabinet:- 
 

“In light of the issues that could be experienced in bringing about 

substantial change to services in such a short period of time, 

thought should be given to extending the timescale for 

implementing these changes to allow for secondary consultation 

and for ensuring all internal and potential external processes are in 

place before any changes are made.  

 

Thought should also be given to whether the £600k expected to be 

cut from the 2012/13 youth development service budget could be 

Page 6



 
 
 
 

 

 
 
 

funded from the £733k outturn underspend that was ringfenced into 

earmarked reserves at the end of the 2010/11 financial year.” 

  
(Cllr Russell Hawker requested that his abstention from voting be 
recorded.)  

 
187. Denominational Home to School Transport 

 
The Chairman introduced this item and announced that she would agree to take 
the report by the Corporate Director for Neighbourhood and Planning, which 
was made available on Tuesday 19 July 2011, as an item of urgent business 
because there would not be a further meeting of this Committee to consider and 
make comments before it was presented to Cabinet for approval on 13 
September 2011. 
 
Cllr Richard Gamble, Portfolio Holder for Public Transport, gave a brief 
overview of the contents of the report, explaining that following consideration of 
the representations received, and of the financial, environmental, legal and 
equalities impacts, the following three options were now put forward for 
consideration:- 
 
Option 1 – implement original proposal to withdraw all discretionary 
denominational transport assistance with effect from September 2012.   
 
Option 2 – withdraw discretionary denominational assistance with effect from 
September 2012, but with transitional provisions to assist pupils entering the 
final year of their GCSE course in 2012.  
 
Option 3 – withdraw discretionary denominational assistance with effect from 
September 2012, but with transitional provisions to assist all pupils who are 
already receiving transport.   
  
The Committee received statements from members of the public as follows, 
expressing their opposition to the proposal:- 
 
Mr Alastair Erdozain – Retired Governor, St John’s RC Primary School, 
Trowbridge 
 
Ms Emma Kayne – Governor, St Patrick’s RC Primary School, Corsham 
 
Ms Helen Ward – Parent & Foundation Governor, St Augustine’s RC School, 
Trowbridge 
 
Mr Michael Stevenson – Chair of Governors, St Augustine’s RC School, 
Trowbridge. 
The Committee also noted that questions had been received from the following 
members of the public and to whom written responses were given:- 
 

Page 7



 
 
 
 

 

 
 
 

Mrs Jane Keogh – a parent 
 
Mr Tony Lowe –  
 
Father Jean-Patrice Coulon – Parish Priest, Our Lady, the Immaculate 
Conception, Devizes   
 
The Committee also received letters opposing the proposal from:- 
 
Dr Michael Thompson – representing Clifton RC Diocese  
 
Mr Paul Hughes – Headteacher, St Joseph’s RC School, Salisbury    
 
During the ensuing debate the following points were raised:- 
 

• A suggestion was made that a Rapid Scrutiny Task Group be set up in 
order to give more time for consideration to be given to the contents of the 
report prepared by the Corporate Director for Neighbourhood and 
Planning.  The Task Group should be open to the public and its views and 
comments would be forwarded to Cabinet to consider at its meeting on 13 
September 2011. 

 

• Whilst supporting in principle the setting up of a Rapid Scrutiny Task 
Group, a number of Members considered that all Members of the Select 
Committee should be invited to participate, rather than a small number of 
its membership, bearing in mind that the Task Group would be sending its 
views and comments direct to Cabinet. 
 

• Many parents make arrangements for their children’s primary or secondary 
education to be carried out in one school and to be suddenly faced with 
having to either pay for denominational school transport or finding a totally 
new school might not viable.   
 

• Consideration should also be given to a further Option of no change to the 
current arrangements and a detailed examination should be given to 
costing figures provided. 
 

After further discussion, 
 
Resolved: 
 
1. To establish a Rapid Scrutiny Task Group to consider the proposals 

to Cabinet on Denominational Home-to-School Transport and to 
make recommendations as appropriate, this meeting to take place 
prior to Cabinet’s meeting on 13 September 2011 and to include an 
opportunity for public participation. 

 

Page 8



 
 
 
 

 

 
 
 

2. To appoint the following members of this Select Committee to form 
the Task Group:- 
 

Cllr Christine Crisp, Cllr Peter Davis, Cllr Mark Griffiths, Cllr Russell 
Hawker, Cllr Jon Hubbard, Cllr Jacqui Lay, Cllr Carole Soden, Mr Neil 
Owen, Mrs Rosheen Ryan and Dr Michael Thompson.   

 
3.   To request that the Chairman and Scrutiny Officer liaise with the 

Cabinet Member and officers to ensure that the further information 
requested by members is made available for the Rapid Scrutiny Task 
Group. 

 
188. Task Group Update 

 
The Select Committee received an update on the activity of the following Task 
Groups:- 
 

• Further Education in the Salisbury Area Task Group 

• Major Contracts Task Group 

• Placements for Looked After Children (LAC) Task Group 

• Special School and Post-16 SEN Task Group 
 
After discussion, 
 
Resolved: 
 
(1) To note the contents of the report. 
 
(2) To agree that the Placements for Looked After Children Task Group 

meets in mid-November 2011 to consider the Children in Care 
Commissioning Strategy, with any conclusions being referred for 
endorsement by the Select Committee at its meeting on 24 
November 2011, and, if appropriate, referred to Cabinet on 15 
December 2011. 
 

(3) To note that the Chairman of the Special School and Post-16 SEN 
Task Group would be meeting with the Head of Targeted School 
and Learner Support on 14 July 2011 to discuss the direction of this 
Task Group which would be reported back to this Select Committee 
at its next meeting.     

 
189. Forward Work Programme 

 
The Select Committee received the Forward Work Programme for consideration 
and comment. 
Resolved: 
 
To note the Forward Work Programme. 

Page 9



 
 
 
 

 

 
 
 

 
190. Date of Next Meeting 

 
Resolved: 
 
To note that the next meeting of the Select Committee would be held on 
Tuesday 27 September 2011 at Monkton Park, Chippenham, starting at 
10.30am.  
 

191. Urgent Items 
 
There were no urgent items. 
 

192. Exclusion of the Press and Public 
 
Resolved: 
 
In accordance with Section 100A(4) of the Local Government Act 1972 to 
exclude the public from the meeting for the business specified in Minute 
Number 193 because it is likely that if members of the public were present 
there would be disclosure to them of exempt information as defined in 
paragraph 3 and 4 respectively of Part I of Scheduled 12A to the Act and 
the public interest in withholding the information outweighs the public 
interest in disclosing the information to the public. 
 

193. Transformation of the Passenger Assistant Service 
 
On considering a confidential report by the Corporate Director, Neighbourhood 
& Planning and the written views of Revd Alice Kemp, 
 
Resolved: 
 
(1) To support the implementation of the recommended Option 7. 
 
(2) To recommend to Cabinet that the fourth bullet point under the 

proposal be amended to read as follows, because the Select 
Committee felt that the original wording of “if required” suggested 
there was some uncertainty over whether such a core of PAs would 
actually be retained:- 
 
“Retain a core of 5-10 PAs in house as required, to make sure that 
the necessary experience is available to deal with the requirements 
of service users with “acute” needs”.    

 

Page 10



 
 
 
 

 

 
 
 

 
(Duration of meeting:  10.30 am - 2.00 pm) 

 
 
 

The Officer who has produced these minutes is Roger Bishton, of Democratic & 
Members’ Services, direct line (01225) 713035,  

e-mail roger.bishton@wiltshire.gov.uk 
 

Press enquiries to Communications, direct line (01225) 713114/713115 
 

Page 11



Page 12

This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

Wiltshire Council 

 

Cabinet 

13th September 2011 
 

 

 
Final Report of the Rapid Scrutiny Exercise: 

 

Denominational Home-to-School Transport 
 

 
Purpose  
 
1. To present the conclusions and recommendations of the Denominational 

Home-to-School Transport rapid scrutiny exercise established by the 
Children’s Services Select Committee. The exercise relates to a report of the 
Corporate Director for Neighbourhood and Planning, seeking Cabinet 
approval for a change to the Council’s Education Transport Policy in respect 
of denominational home-to-school transport, which is included in the Cabinet 
Agenda pack (pages 17-36) at Item 6.  

 
Background 
 
2. On 22nd July 2011, the Children’s Services Select Committee received a 

report from the Corporate Director for Neighbourhood and Planning containing 
proposals to Cabinet to change the funding of Denominational Home-to-
School Transport in Wiltshire. Having discussed the report, the Committee 
resolved to undertake a rapid scrutiny exercise at a later date in order to give 
members more time with the information provided. Members also asked that 
further analyses of the anticipated savings and potential risks of the proposals 
be provided prior to the rapid scrutiny meeting. It was agreed that the exercise 
would include an opportunity for public participation. 

 
3. Prior to the meeting, requests for additional information were submitted by 

members of the Rapid Scrutiny Group. All further information provided in 
response was circulated to members and considered alongside the report of 
the Corporate Director for Neighbourhood and Planning. The information used 
for the meeting was published in advance on the Council website and is 
appended to this report. 

 
4. The Rapid Scrutiny Exercise was held on 8th September 2011, at 6.30pm to 

make it easier for members of the public to attend. The following members of 
the Children’s Services Select Committee comprised the Rapid Scrutiny 
Group (a full list of members and officers who attended is included at 
Appendix B): 

 
Cllr Peter Davis Councillor 
Cllr Mark Griffiths 
Cllr Jon Hubbard 

Councillor 
Councillor 

Agenda Item 6

Page 13



 

 

Cllr Jacqui Lay Councillor 

Mr Neil Owen Co-opted Secondary Parent Governor 
Representative on the Children’s Services Select 
Committee 

Mrs Rosheen Ryan 
 
Cllr Carole Soden  
 
 
Dr Mike Thompson 
 

Co-opted Primary Parent Governor Representative 
on the Children’s Services Select Committee 
Councillor (Lead Member for the Rapid Scrutiny 
Exercise and Chairman of the Children’s Services 
Select Committee) 
Clifton Diocese Co-opted Member of the Children’s 
Services Select Committee 

 
5. Members of the public were invited to submit questions and statements by 

12pm two days in advance of the meeting, replicating Cabinet timescales for 
representations from the public.  

 
Procedure followed for the Rapid Scrutiny Exercise 
 
6. The Chairman welcomed all present and described the procedure to be 

followed for the meeting. The powers and processes of rapid scrutiny 
exercises were summarised and reference was made to a report circulated 
describing these in greater detail. 
 

7. Members of the public who wished to make statements or ask questions were 
invited to do so. A list of those who spoke is included at Appendix C.  
 

8. Following this, Cllr Gamble responded to points raised by members of the 
public and introduced the report of the Corporate Director for Neighbourhood 
and Planning containing proposals to Cabinet to change the funding of 
Denominational Home-to-School Transport in Wiltshire. 
 

9. Members of the Rapid Scrutiny Group asked questions of the executive 
members, officers and members of the public. 
 

10. The Chairman thanked all present for attending and answering members’ 
questions. Members of the Rapid Scrutiny Group then went into a closed 
meeting to agree their final conclusions and recommendations based on the 
evidence considered.  

 
Summary of discussions 
 
11. The Portfolio Holder for Public Transport described the arrangements 

currently in place for providing financial assistance for denominational home-
to-school transport, noting that the Council’s average contribution is 
approximately £400 per pupil. He disagreed that the proposal to remove such 
assistance was ‘discriminatory’ against faith schools. He also reported that the 
decision on the matter had not already been taken. 
 

12. The Cabinet Member for Children’s Services stated that a comparison 
between financial assistance for denominational home-to-school transport and 

Page 14



 

 

financial assistance for post-16 educational transport was not a valid one;  
post-16 educational transport was ‘universal’ in that there was no alternative 
educational provision, whereas those attending denominational schools had 
the option of attending alternative schools. The Corporate Director for 
Children and Education added that decreasing financial assistance for those 
in post-16 education would hit some of the most vulnerable in society hardest. 
 

13. It was reported that all faiths were represented on the Council’s Admissions 
Forum and none of them had made a request for denominational home-to-
school transport to be included on a meeting agenda. 
 

14. It was noted that the Council’s responsibilities with respect to denominational 
home-to-school transport were the same for academies as for maintained 
schools.  
 

15. It was noted that the Council has certain legal obligations with respect to 
providing denominational home-to-school transport to pupils entitled to free 
school meals. Following a member query, it was reported that the number of 
pupils to whom this currently applied was around 10. Others who were not 
entitled to free school meals would be able to share any transport provided for 
these pupils, but the low numbers involved meant that it would have little 
impact on costs. 
 

16. It was noted that the last review of denominational home-to-school transport 
took place in 2006/7 and that the arrangements agreed then were subject to a 
further review after they had been in place for two years in preparation for the 
2010-11 budget. The Rapid Scrutiny Group asked those present what had 
been communicated to parents by both the faith schools and the Council 
regarding the continuance of financial assistance once this time period 
elapsed. Members of the public present indicated that there had been little or 
no communication on this matter. Representatives from faith schools 
indicated that, because the review scheduled for 2010 had not transpired, it 
was assumed that the present arrangement would continue.  The Portfolio 
Holder for Public Transport responded that the Cabinet did not perceive the 
current review as a review of the 2007 position – rather, it was a separate 
review that had been necessitated by the cuts in Government funding 
experienced in 2010.  
 

17. Following a member query, the Portfolio Holder for Public Transport stated 
that although it may be reasonable to expect the current level of financial 
assistance for home-to-school transport to continue for pupils’ time at their 
current school (Option 3 in the Cabinet report),  the financial reality meant that 
this was not the recommended option. 
 

Management of home-to-school transport 
 

18. Following a member query, the Cabinet Member for Highways and Transport 
reported that the Council would seek to work closely with schools to assist 
them in taking over the management of home-to-school transport, and this 
would include the passing over of funds. Members were referred to the 

Page 15



 

 

additional information provided detailing the kinds of support the Council 
would be able to provide (included in Appendix A). The Portfolio Holder for 
Public Transport stated that some of the faith schools, such as St Augustine’s, 
already provide home-to-school transport to some degree.  
 

19. Following a member query, the Portfolio Holder for Public Transport reported 
that calculating and implementing any necessary adjustments to existing 
transport timetables and routes was a technical skill that the Council’s 
Passenger Transport Unit (PTU) had significant expertise in. In response, 
members questioned why it was proposed to handover such a specialised 
task to schools when the Council employed experts in this field.  

 
20. Members questioned whether it was feasible for the smaller schools affected 

to take over the management of home-to-school transport. The Cabinet 
Member for Highways and Transport replied that in such cases the schools 
and affected parents could work together to provide alternative transport in 
conjunction with other parents, for example through car-sharing.  

 

21. Members commented that traffic levels around some schools were already an 
issue and questioned whether the impact of the proposals on congestion and 
air quality had been fully considered. 

 
Educational impact of the proposals 
 
22. Members questioned whether the educational impact on pupils who might 

change schools as a result of the proposals had been fully considered. They 
also noted that the member request for further information on this issue had 
not been met. The Corporate Director for Children and Education responded 
that it was not possible to make precise predictions of the impact of changing 
schools on individual pupils and so the request for this information had not 
been a reasonable one. She added that Wiltshire had a high proportion of 
children from military families who regularly transitioned between schools and 
the Council had been praised by Ofsted for its work in supporting such 
transitions. Members commented that if children changing schools required 
specialised support then this suggested there would indeed be an educational 
impact. The Corporate Director responded that the support referred to was for 
children who changed schools on a very regular basis. 
 

23. Members questioned why the cost of providing transport for pupils transferring 
to another school were predicted to decrease annually in the projections 
provided. In response, it was reported that a pupil who no longer travelled to a 
denominational school would have the standard legal entitlement to a local 
school place. Their taking up this place might prevent other pupils with less 
entitlement from attending that school, but there are enough places within the 
Wiltshire school system to meet the consequent ripple of demand.  The 
Portfolio Holder for Public Transport clarified that the figures referred to 
related only to transport costs.  

 
 
 

Page 16



 

 

Conclusions  
 
24. The Rapid Scrutiny Group have concerns that affected schools, particularly 

small ones, would experience significant difficulty taking over the 
management of home-to-school transport for its pupils given the complexity 
and specialised nature of the task and the limited resources and technical 
expertise at their disposal.  
 

25. The Rapid Scrutiny Group have concerns at the potentially negative 
educational impact on pupils needing to change schools as a result of the 
removal of financial assistance for home-to-school transport. Members feel it 
is reasonable that parents already receiving financial assistance would expect 
it to continue for the remainder of pupils’ time at their current schools. 
However, members did not think it reasonable for the financial assistance to 
‘follow’ the pupil to their next school (i.e. when moving from primary to 
secondary education), or to continue in post-16 education.  
 

26. The Rapid Scrutiny Group recognises the challenging financial circumstances 
in which the Council is working and the consequent need to make savings. 
However, the Group notes that the financial impact on the Council of providing 
transitional provisions for all those pupils already in receipt of transport (as 
laid out in Option 3) compared to the financial impact of providing such 
assistance only for pupils entering their final year of GCSE studies in 
September 2012 (as in Option 2) is relatively insignificant in terms of the 
Council’s overall budget: £277K over a seven year period (see Table 1 
below). The financial impact on affected parents, however, and the 
educational impact on pupils needing to change schools as a result of the 
proposals in Option 2 could be very significant indeed.  
 

Table 1 – Projected savings from implementing options outlined in the report to Cabinet 
 

 2012/13 2013/14 2014/15 2015/16 2016/17 2017/18 2018/19 Totals 

Option 
2 

£132,000 £159,000 £160,000 £161,000 £162,000 £162,000 £162,000 £1.098M 

Option 
3 

£38,000 £69,000 £100,000 £134,000 £158,000 £160,000 £162,000 £821,000 

Difference £94,000 £90,000 £60,000 £27,000 £4,000 £2,000 £0 £277,000 

 

27. Given the challenging financial circumstances in which the Council is 
operating and the need to make savings in the provision of discretionary 
services, the Rapid Scrutiny Group feels it appropriate that the parental 
contribution toward denominational home-to-school transport increase by a 
small percentage and the Group suggests the amount of 10%. This would 
further decrease the comparative financial impact on the Council of 
implementing Option 3 over Option 2.  

 
Recommendations 
 
28. Members of the Rapid Scrutiny Exercise recommend that Cabinet adopt the 

following option:  
 

Page 17



 

 

Withdraw discretionary denominational assistance with effect from September 
2012, but:  
 

• The  current level of assistance to continue for all pupils already in 
receipt of transport, minus the amount saved through implementing a 
10% increase to the parental contribution for each pupil; 
 

• For this assistance to continue for the remainder of the pupils’ time at 
their current school (but not for post-16 education); 

 

• Transport to continue to be arranged by the Council, except where 
schools are willing to take over this responsibility.  

 
 
 
Cllr Carole Soden – Lead Member for the Rapid Scrutiny Exercise; and 
  
Chairman of the Children’s Services Select Committee 
 
Paul Kelly – Designated Scrutiny Officer 
 
Report author: Henry Powell – Senior Scrutiny Officer 
 

01225 718052 henry.powell@wiltshire.gov.uk 
 

 
Background documents 
 
Denominational Home-to-School Transport – report of the Director of Neighbourhood 
& Planning, to Cabinet on 13th September 
 
Appendices 
 
Appendix A  Additional Information provided for the Rapid Scrutiny Exercise 

(except the relevant 2006 Cabinet report, which is available at the following 
link:  
http://cms.wiltshire.gov.uk/CeListDocuments.aspx?CommitteeId=685&Meetin
gId=1092&DF=05%2f09%2f2006&Ver=2 )  

 
Appendix B Other members and officers attending the Rapid Scrutiny 

Exercise 
 
Appendix C  Public participation at the Rapid Scrutiny Exercise 
 

Page 18



Page 19



Page 20



Page 21



Page 22



Page 23



Page 24



Page 25



Page 26



Page 27



Page 28



Appendix B 
 
Other members and officers attending the rapid scrutiny exercise 
 
Cllr Tony Deane   Councillor (observing) 
Cllr Richard Gamble Portfolio Holder for Transport 
Cllr Lionel Grundy OBE Cabinet Member for Children’s Services 
Cllr Dick Tonge  Cabinet Member for Highways and Transport 
 
Mark Boden   Corporate Director, Neighbourhood and Planning 
Julie Cathcart  Head of School Improvement 
Phil Cooch   Manager, Schools Accounting and Budgets 
Stephanie Denovan  Service Director, Schools and Learning 
Nick Glass   Manager, Schools, Buildings and Places 
Carolyn Godfrey  Corporate Director, Children and Education 
Parvis Khansari  Service Director, Strategic Services  
Henry Powell   Senior Scrutiny Officer 
Sharon Smith  Democratic Services Officer 
Tazril Tamin    Educational Transport Entitlement Manager 
Ian White   Head of Service, Passenger Transport 
 
 
Appendix C 
 
Public participation at the rapid scrutiny exercise 
 
Emma Kayne  Parent Governor, St Patrick’s Primary School, Corsham   
Lena Pheby    Parent, St Patrick’s Primary School, Corsham   
Father Jean-Patrice Coulon  Parish Priest, Our Lady the Immaculate Conception, 

Devizes 
Michael Stevenson  Chair of Governors at St Augustine’s Catholic College 
Francis White  Governor at St Augustine’s Catholic College 
Alistair Urdizane 
 
 
 

Page 29



Page 30

This page is intentionally left blank



Responses to the recommendations of the Rapid Scrutiny Group from the 

Cabinet Member for Highways and Transport 

 
The Cabinet would like to thank the Rapid Scrutiny Group for carrying out a thorough 
and effective review of the proposals, and for their report and recommendations. In 
reaching their decision, Cabinet members took careful note of these, as well as the 
many representations received throughout the consultation period and made in 
person at the meeting.  
 
Cabinet were particularly concerned about the potential impact on children already 
attending the denominational schools, and in order to minimise the risk of such 
children having to change school agreed to implement the Rapid Scrutiny Group’s 
second recommendation; 
 
for assistance to continue for the remainder of the pupils’ time at their current school 
(but not for post-16 education). 
 
This has been done by approving Option 3, which will result in funding being 
provided by the Council to the schools to assist them in providing transport for these 
children until such time as they move to another school or into post-16 education.  
 
This will cause financial stress on the passenger transport budget as savings will be 
deferred, and this will have to be addressed through the budget setting process. 
Cabinet did not however consider that it could agree to the Group’s third 
recommendation; 
 
that transport continues to be arranged by the Council, except where schools are 
willing to take over this responsibility. 
 
If long term arrangements are to be put into place to provide transport to 
denominational schools after the Council’s funding has ceased, it will be vital that the 
schools take the responsibility for making transport arrangements for their own pupils 
as the Council contribution declines. This should start at the earliest opportunity 
whilst the Council is still providing a funding contribution for the maximum number of 
pupils. 
 
The Group’s concerns about the ability of schools (in particular the smaller schools 
with relatively expensive transport arrangements) to arrange their own transport 
were however noted, and it was emphasised again that assistance will be provided 
to them by the passenger transport team in setting up cost-effective transport. The 
recommendation was also amended such that the allocation of funding to the 
schools will be adjusted to reflect the variation in transport costs between schools in 
different circumstances.  
 
As transport arrangements will from September 2012 be the responsibility of the 
schools (albeit with a fixed contribution from the Council), it will be for the schools 
themselves to decide what contribution should be made by parents, and whether 
they implement a 10% increase as recommended by the Rapid Scrutiny Group. The 
schools will also be able to decide for themselves who is eligible for transport, and 

Page 31



on what terms. This will give them more flexibility to develop sustainable 
arrangements for the long term as the Council’s funding contribution reduces.  
 
 
Cllr Dick Tonge 
Cabinet Member for Highways and Transport 

Page 32



Wiltshire Council 
 
Cabinet 
13 September 2011 
 

 
 

Final Report of the Rapid Scrutiny Exercise: 
 

11 to 19 Commissioning Strategy  
 

 
Purpose  
 
1. To present the conclusions and recommendations of the 11 to 19 

Commissioning Strategy rapid scrutiny exercise established by the Children’s 
Services Select Committee. The exercise relates to a report of the Corporate 
Director for Children and Education, presenting the 11 to 19 Commissioning 
Strategy and proposing its adoption by Cabinet, included in the Cabinet 
Agenda pack at Item 7 (pages 37-78).  

 
Background 
 
2. In June 2011, the Children’s Services Select Committee established a rapid 

scrutiny exercise to respond to the 13-19 Commissioning Strategy 
consultation. The consultation response drafted by that group was 
subsequently endorsed (with a few amendments) by the Select Committee on 
22nd July and submitted to the appropriate department.  
 

3. The rapid scrutiny report to the Select Committee raised a number of 
concerns about the consultation process followed and recommended that 
further scrutiny be undertaken. The Select Committee therefore established a 
further rapid scrutiny exercise to consider two matters:  
 
a) the consultation process followed for developing the commissioning 

strategy, and; 
 

b) the report of the Corporate Director for Children and Education presenting 
final proposals for the commissioning strategy to Cabinet. 

 
4. The Rapid Scrutiny Exercise was held on 9th September 2011 with the 

following members and officers in attendance: 
 

Cllr Peter Davis Councillor 

Cllr Jon Hubbard Councillor (Lead Member) 

Cllr Jacqui Lay Councillor 

Cllr Helen Osborn Councillor 

  

Cllr Lionel Grundy OBE Cabinet Member for Children’s Services 

Cllr Richard Clewer Portfolio Holder for Youth Skills 

Agenda Item 7

Page 33



  
Julie Cramp Joint Director, Commissioning & Performance 

Henry Powell  Senior Scrutiny Officer 

 
Summary of Discussions 
 
a) Discussion of the consultation process 
 
5. Following a member query, it was reported that the consultation results were 

analysed by the Voice and Influence team and these, plus the eventual 
outcomes, would be fed back to consultees. 
 

6. It was reported that the age range of the Commissioning Strategy has been 
extended from 13 to 19, to 11 to 19, to mirror the age range of secondary (and 
further) education. Members expressed concern that not enough activities 
were available for 11 and 12 year olds as youth work tended to be aimed at 
13 to 19 year olds. However, it was acknowledged that involving very young 
people in youth activities could discourage older teens from taking part. It was 
also noted that those younger than 13 are sometimes permitted to participate 
in youth activities and that local discretion around this would remain. 
 

7. Members expressed concern that the Corporate Research Team had not 
been fully involved in designing the consultation process and drafting all of the 
consultation questions. Members felt that the questions included in the 
‘Commissioning Strategy – draft for consultation’ were worded in a way that 
was inaccessible and uninviting to the average person and would not, 
therefore, have encouraged maximum response. It was noted that 31 seemed 
a disappointing number of written responses to a consultation in a large 
county.  In response, officers and the Cabinet Member reported that the 
questions included in this consultation document were aimed at professionals 
involved with youth work and it was therefore appropriate and necessary for 
them to be of a technical nature. The consultation questions included on the 
Sparksite website, however, were intended for young people and were 
worded accordingly. Also, some of the 31 written responses were from large 
organisations, such as the Police Authority, rather than individuals. The 
Cabinet Member noted that simple, ‘tick box’ consultation questions 
requesting yes’s or no’s would probably have prompted a larger response, but 
would have achieved very little. 
 

8. It was reported that two Area Boards had held special meetings to consider 
the consultation document and others received briefings at their regular 
meetings. Members expressed concern that some Area Boards had chosen 
only to have a Chairman’s announcement on the consultation. 

 
9. Members expressed concern that it had not been made clear within the 

consultation process that new campus developments would not necessarily 
be available (or include youth work) in all areas of Wiltshire. Members 
questioned how much relevance localised plans such as campus 
developments had to a county-wide strategy. Members also had concerns 
regarding the relevance of the campus programme to this consultation, given 

Page 34



the disparity between the timescales for making savings and the projected 
timescales for the campus projects.  The Portfolio Holder for Youth Skills 
responded that the consultation was an invitation to young people to express 
how they wanted youth work to be delivered in the future and so it was 
essential to include the campus plans within that context. It was also reported 
that it was made clear in consultation sessions with young people that youth 
work provision in campuses was not a certainty everywhere. 

 
Discussion of the proposals to Cabinet 
 
10. The Director for Commissioning and Performance introduced the Cabinet 

report and summarised the proposed Wiltshire Youth Work Offer for 
members.  
 

11. It was reported that in some local authorities youth work was now exclusively 
provided by volunteers whereas Wiltshire Council was able to retain paid 
youth work staff, while working increasingly closely with the voluntary and 
community sector. The Council’s comparatively strong financial situation had 
also allowed the delay of the  necessary cuts for one year while an in-depth 
review and consultation on services for 13-19 year olds took place.  
 

12. It was reported that any subscriptions for access to youth work were likely to 
be a nominal amount and members were reassured that no young person 
would be refused access on the basis of their ability to pay. It was noted that 
paying small subscriptions can actually increase young people’s sense of 
ownership over their youth centres and activities. Other methods of income 
generation such as corporate sponsorship and projects run by young people 
(e.g. smoothie bars) would also be explored.  
 

13. Members expressed concern that there is the potential for the proposed Youth 
Advisory Groups’ role to overlap with existing bodies, such as CAYPIGs 
(Community Area Young People’s Issues Groups). It was reported that 
CAYPIGs were run entirely by Youth Services, whereas Youth Advisory 
Groups would be of a  more over-arching nature. Each Youth Advisory Group 
would reflect the unique circumstances and requirements of its local area and 
that existing groups and bodies, such as CAYPIGs, would be involved in their 
development. The primary role of young people in planning and shaping 
services would be ensured by requiring each Youth Advisory Group to elect a 
chairman under the age of twenty-five and also for more than 50% of their 
members to be under that age. Members might also include councillors and 
community area managers.  
 

14. The Director for Commissioning and Performance reported that the move 
towards focusing more resources on one-to-one work with young people 
engaging in risky behaviours could involve changes to the role of the Youth 
Development Service Team Leaders. However, this, and other decisions 
around staffing such as the precise mix of full-time and sessional staff and 
volunteers would depend on local circumstances. There would be voluntary 
opportunities across all areas of the service and all would receive appropriate 

Page 35



training and supervision. The framework for using those volunteers would 
reflect the Council’s Volunteering Strategy.  
 

15. It was clarified that each community area as a whole was expected to 
generate an average of £2,500 income, so areas of higher deprivation where 
income generation was more challenging could be ‘supported’ by more 
affluent parts of the same community area. Each area would also decide if 
and how to manage generating income from subscriptions.  
 

16. The Lead Member thanked the officers and executive members for attending 
and answering the Rapid Scrutiny Group’s questions.  

 
Conclusions and recommendations 
 

1. The Rapid Scrutiny Group regrets that 11 to 12 year olds were not 
involved in the consultation until a late stage and fear that, as a 
consequence, their views may not have influenced the development of 
the Strategy.  
 

2. It is noted that the Council’s Consultation Strategy requires all 
consultations of this nature to be cleared through the Corporate 
Research Team and that, following a recommendation from the 
Children’s Services Select Committee in 2010, assurances were given 
this would happen in future. 
 
The Rapid Scrutiny Group regrets that the Corporate Research Team 
were not fully involved in designing the consultation process and that 
the consultation document was consequently not hosted on the Council 
website.  
 

3. The Rapid Scrutiny Group notes that one set of consultation questions 
were aimed at young people (those included on the Sparksite website) 
and another set were aimed at professionals from the youth work sector 
(those questions included in the consultation document).  
 
The Group is therefore concerned that there were no equivalent 
questions designed for adult, lay people, and feel this may have partly 
led to the low number of written consultation responses received. 

 
4. The Rapid Scrutiny Group is concerned that it was not made clear in the 

consultation document that all the suggestions outlined for the future of 
a local youth work offer (for example, those including campus 
developments) would not be available in all areas of Wiltshire within the 
timeframe of the Strategy. 
 

5. The Rapid Scrutiny Group is concerned that some Area Boards’ 
participation in the consultation amounted only to a chairman’s 
announcement. 

 

Page 36



6. The Rapid Scrutiny Group welcomes in principle the idea of Youth 
Advisory Groups, particularly the emphasis on involving young people 
in planning and shaping local services.  However, the Group 
recommends that existing groups and bodies within the local area (such 
as CAYPIGs) are involved in the formation of any new groups to prevent 
duplication, and that recognition is given to each local area’s unique 
circumstances and requirements.  
 

7. With reference to the proposed use of subscriptions for income 
generation, the Rapid Scrutiny Group welcomes the reassurance 
provided that no young person will be excluded from youth activities on 
the basis of their ability to pay. The Group also welcomes the proposal 
that other forms of income generation will be investigated.  
 

8. Although 11 to 12 year olds are sometimes allowed to participate in 
youth services activities, the Rapid Scrutiny Group is concerned that 
there is no dedicated youth work provision for this age group. 
 

9. The Rapid Scrutiny Group regrets the necessity to lose any staff in order 
to balance budgets, but also recognises the constraints under which the 
report was written. However, the Group does have concerns that 
replacing paid staff with potentially untrained volunteers could have a 
negative impact on the quality of provision. 
 
 

 
Cllr Jon Hubbard – Lead Member for the Rapid Scrutiny Exercise 
 
Paul Kelly – Designated Scrutiny Officer 
 
Report author: Henry Powell – Senior Scrutiny Officer 
 

01225 718052 henry.powell@wiltshire.gov.uk 
 
Appendices 
 
None 
 
Background documents 
 

• A report on the Process for Developing and Consulting on the 13-19 
Commissioning Strategy 

• Commissioning Strategy for Young People aged 13 to 19 – April 2012 to 2015 
(draft for consultation – May 2011) 

• 13 to 19 Commissioning Strategy – Summary of Young People’s Consultation 
Responses 

• 11 to 19 Commissioning Strategy (report to Cabinet 13th September 2011) 

• Commissioning Strategy for Young People Aged 11 to 19 April 2012 to 2015 (an 
appendix to the above) 

Page 37



Page 38

This page is intentionally left blank



Response to 11 – 19 Commissioning Strategy Rapid Scrutiny Report from 

Councillor Lionel Grundy 

 

1 The Rapid Scrutiny Group regrets that 11 – 12 year olds were not involved 

in the consultation until a late stage and fear that, as a consequence, their 

views may not have influenced the development of the Strategy. 

 

Councillor Grundy:  The draft Strategy covered the 13 – 19 age range.  During the 

consultation, a number of people suggested that we should cover the secondary age 

range and the Strategy was therefore amended to cover 11 – 19 once the consultation 

had closed.  However, some 11 – 12 year olds would have been covered by the 

consultation work that took place in secondary schools.  Overall, 746 young people 

took part in the consultation and it is very unlikely that focusing specifically on the 

views of 11 – 12 year olds would have produced a different view on the Strategy. 

 

2 It is noted that the Council’s Consultation Strategy requires all 

consultations of this nature to be cleared through the Corporate Research 

Team and that, following a recommendation from the Children’s Services 

Select Committee in 2010, assurances were given this would happen in 

future.  The Rapid Scrutiny Group regrets that the Corporate Research 

Team was not fully involved in designing the consultation process and that 

the consultation document was consequently not hosted on the Council 

website. 

 

Councillor Grundy:  The Corporate Research Team comment on all consultation 

work with the general public.  The consultation questions in the Strategy were aimed 

at professional staff that work with young people.  The Snap Survey questions aimed 

at young people (as members of the public) were checked with the Corporate 

Research Team.  The Corporate Research Team has been extremely positive about the 

written report on the consultation with young people and has stated that it is of a high 

standard. 

 

3 The Rapid Scrutiny Group notes that one set of consultation questions 

were aimed at young people and another set were aimed at professionals 

from the youth work sector.  The Group is therefore concerned that there 

were no equivalent questions designed for adult, lay people, and feel this 

may have partly led to the low number of written consultation responses 

received. 

 

Councillor Grundy:  The consultation with adult, lay people was undertaken through 

the Area Boards.  Each Area Board was offered a presentation to explain the Strategy 

and the proposals.  Those Area Boards expressing a particular interest were offered a 

separate specific meeting to discuss the Strategy.  There were 31 written responses but 

many of these reflect the views of a large number of individuals, eg, a single response 

sent by the Police, responses from Town and Parish Councils, a response from a 

special meeting in Melksham, and a response from the Connexions Service.    

 

4 The Rapid Scrutiny Group is concerned that it was not made clear in the 

consultation document that all the suggestions outlined for the future of a 

local youth work offer (for example, those included campus developments) 

Page 39



would not be available in all areas of Wiltshire within the timeframe of the 

Strategy. 

 

Councillor Grundy:  The consultation was about the future strategic direction for the 

Youth Development Service and asked young people and key stakeholders about 

ideas/principles for the future delivery of the YDS.  It was fully explained to young 

people at the CAYPIG meetings that campuses would not be available in all areas 

during the timeframe of the Strategy.  Adults involved with Area Boards will clearly 

already be aware of timeframes for campus developments. 

 

5 The Rapid Scrutiny Group is concerned that some Area Boards’ 

participation in the consultation amounted only to a chairman’s 

announcement. 

 

Councillor Grundy:  All Area Boards were sent a Briefing Paper and offered a 

presentation.  Area Boards have local discretion over agendas for meetings.  It is 

disappointing that some Area Boards chose not to have a full agenda item and that 

some Councillors linked to those Area Boards have then criticised the consultation 

process. 

 

6 The Rapid Scrutiny Group welcomes in principle the idea of Youth 

Advisory Groups, particularly the emphasis on involving young people in 

planning and shaping local services.  However, the Group recommends 

that existing groups and bodies with the local area (such as CAYPIGs) are 

involved in the formation of any new groups to prevent duplication, and 

that recognition is given to each local area’s unique circumstances and 

requirements. 

 

Councillor Grundy:  It is agreed that it will be important that existing groups and 

bodies within the local area are involved in the formation of Youth Advisory Groups 

to prevent duplication. 

 

7 With reference to the proposed use of subscriptions for income generation, 

the Rapid Scrutiny Group welcomes the reassurance provided that no 

young person will be excluded from youth activities on the basis of their 

ability to pay.  The Group also welcomes the proposal that other forms of 

income generation will be investigated. 

 

Councillor Grundy:  The Cabinet Paper includes examples of how each community 

area can raise income, and each community area will need to decide on how it 

generates income.  It is good to hear that there is already feedback from one 

community area on the enthusiasm of young people to become involved in this work. 

 

8 Although 11 to 12 year olds are sometimes allowed to participate in youth 

services activities, the Rapid Scrutiny Group is concerned that there is no 

dedicated youth work provision for this age group. 

 

Councillor Grundy:  The majority of positive activities for young people aged 11 – 

19 are organised by secondary schools, and the voluntary and community sector.  In 

Page 40



most community areas, there is a wide range of sports clubs and other activities, such 

as Scouts and Guides, which are well-attended by this age group. 

 

9 The Rapid Scrutiny Group regrets the necessity to lose any staff in order to 

valance budgets, but also recognises the constraints under which the report 

was written.  However, the Group does have concerns that replacing paid 

staff with potentially untrained volunteers could have a negative impact on 

the quality of provision. 

 

Councillor Grundy:  All open access youth work will continue to be overseen and 

delivered by qualified staff, sometimes in partnership with volunteers.  Wiltshire’s 

Integrated Youth Service has a volunteering strategy (developed in line with the 

Corporate Volunteering Strategy), and this is clear that all volunteers will be 

supported to work to specific standards and will receive appropriate training and 

supervision. 

Page 41



Page 42

This page is intentionally left blank



Wiltshire Council      Agenda item No 
Children’s Services Select Committee 
27 September 2011 
 

 
 

Coalition Changes – DCE update July to September 2011 
 
 
Families in the Foundation Years 

1. Early years qualifications are to be reviewed to make sure they are sufficiently 
rigorous and high quality as part of wider reforms to early education.    The 
Government wants to raise the status of the professionals working with young 
children to make sure they have the skills they need.  

2. The Government has also confirmed that nine local authorities will be the first to 
trial payment by results for children’s centres. They will test rewards for reaching 
the most vulnerable families, improving family health and wellbeing, and raising 
attainment of children at age five. Up to 21 further trials to be announced early in 
the autumn. The experience of the trial areas will help the Government and local 
authorities develop a final set of measures so payment by results can be rolled 
out nationally from 2013-14. 

3. These announcements are included in a new vision set out by the Government 
for Families in the Foundation Years which sets out what mothers and fathers 
can expect from pregnancy until their child reaches the age of five. Action the 
Government is taking to help parents ensure their children are school ready 
includes: 

§ A new focus on three prime areas of learning in the Early Years Foundation 
Stage (EYFS) so children are ready and able to learn at school. These are: 
personal, social and emotional development, physical development and 
communication and language.  

§ A slimmed down EYFS, more closely aligned with Key Stage 1 to smooth the 
transition from reception class to Year 1.  

§ All early years settings to provide a new check for every two-year-old to pick 
up early any problems in a child’s development or special educational needs.  

§ Children’s centres to have a stronger focus on school readiness and 
supporting families.  

 

 
Key Stage 2 review of testing, assessment and accountability 

4. Michael Gove has accepted all the recommendations of Lord Bew’s independent 
review of testing, assessment and accountability at the end of primary school. 

5. Currently there is statutory teacher assessment in every core subject – maths, 
reading, writing, speaking and listening, and science. There are also external 
tests in maths, writing and reading, and a sample test in science. The changes 
include: 

Agenda Item 8

Page 43



§ Replacing the current writing test with teacher assessment of writing 
composition. This teacher assessment will make up the larger part of the 
overall writing judgement.  

§ Working with the profession to develop a test of some of the essential skills 
needed to become fluent, confident writers – spelling, grammar, punctuation 
and vocabulary. To be introduced from 2013 after trialling in 2012.  

§ Publishing more data in the 2011 performance tables onwards, including new 
three-year rolling averages from 2012, to give a rounded picture of a school’s 
performance.  

§ Placing a greater emphasis on progress made by pupils: 

• Progress will be one of the two main published measures, alongside 
attainment. From now on any overall judgement of a school by the 
Government, local authorities or Ofsted will give at least as much 
weight to progress as attainment.  

• There will be a strong focus on the progress of every pupil. New 
progress measures will be introduced in the 2011 performance tables 
to focus on the performance of low, middle and high attainers. This will 
help stop schools focusing on pupils on the Level 3/4 borderline.  

• New progress and attainment measures will be introduced from 2012 
for pupils who have completed all of Years 5 and 6 in a school. This 
will recognise that schools should not be held wholly accountable for 
the performance of pupils who have just joined them.  

§ Secondary schools will be given teacher assessment judgements before test 
results, from 2012. This will mean there is more weight attached to them and 
allow longer for them to inform Year 7 teaching and learning.  

§ Primary schools will provide more information on pupils’ performance to 
secondary schools so Year 7 teachers know right from the outset children’s 
attainment and the areas where extra work is needed. This will start in 
summer 2013.  

§ There will be a trial in 2012 of an extension to the testing period so that pupils 
who are ill on the day of a test have a week to sit it, rather than two days.  

6. Maths and reading tests will continue to be externally tested but will be refined 
over time. Teacher assessment of science, with a sample test monitoring national 
standards, will continue. Speaking and listening will continue to be teacher 
assessed. 

 

New standards of competence and conduct for teachers 

7. All teachers will be expected to meet new standards of competence and conduct 
from September 2012, following an independent review of the skills that teachers 
should possess.  They are a key part of the Government’s ambition to ensure the 
status and quality of the teaching profession continues to rise. The Government 
has accepted the Review’s of Standards for Teacher’s  recommendations 
including: 

• Improving the rigour of teaching standards and ensuring they focus more on 
the essential teaching skills required in the classroom.  

Page 44



• Recommending a single set of standards for all teachers, replacing the 
current duplication of different standards issued from different bodies – 
reducing them to just eight standards for teaching from 33 standards for QTS 
and 41 for Core and to just three standards for personal and professional 
conduct from the eight principles in the GTCE Code.  

• Setting a clear expectation that teachers must not undermine fundamental 
British values, including democracy, the rule of law, individual liberty and 
mutual respect, and tolerance of those with different faiths and beliefs.  

8. The new standards are practical and clear about the competencies that all 
teachers should have. They will: 

• help headteachers assess teacher performance  

• provide clear requirements on teachers having skills to tackle bad pupil 
behaviour  

• ensure that teachers are able to teach the core basics of reading and writing, 
including understanding systematic synthetic phonics.  

 
 
Academies Update 
 

 Date opened 

Sponsored academies:  

The Wellington Academy September 2009 

Sarum Academy September 2010 

  

Non-sponsored academies:  

Hardenhuish September 2010 

Lavington January 2011 

South Wilts January 2011 

Bishop Wordsworth’s March 2011 

Corsham Primary School April 2011 

The Corsham School April 2011 

Sheldon School April 2011 

Pewsey Vale July 2011 

Wootton Bassett July 2011 

Kingdown School August 2011 

St Laurence August 2011 

Malmesbury August 2011 

The Holy Trinity School, Great Cheverell September 2011 

Saint Edmund’s Catholic Academy September 2011 

St Joseph’s Catholic Primary School, Devizes September 2011 

St Augustine's Catholic School September 2011 

Springfields School September 2011 

 

Schools control over school day 

9. All schools are now able to vary their school day to benefit their pupils. 

10. Up until this September, if a local authority maintained school wanted to change 
its lunchtime, for example, by five minutes or extend its school hours, it had to go 

Page 45



through a bureaucratic process which in some cases took up to three months. 
Foundation, foundation special, voluntary aided schools and academies were 
free from these restrictive regulations and so could already vary their school day. 

11. Under the changes, which came into effect on 1 September 2011, the same 
freedoms are now extended to local authority maintained schools. Schools will 
still be expected to consult and to take account of the views of all interested 
parties before they implement any changes to the school day. They will be 
advised to consult and serve reasonable notice on their local authority, parents, 
pupils and staff, but free from national regulation being imposed on them.  

 
 
Education Funding 

12. On 19 July the Government set out how education funding will be better targeted 
in the future. The key announcements are: 

Schools Capital 

• The Government will provide £500 million to help local authorities provide 
extra school places – meeting the extra pressures caused by increased birth 
rates. Details of how allocations will be made will be provided over the 
summer and finalised in the autumn. 

• A new school rebuilding programme has been launched. It will be targeted at 
those schools in the worst condition. Information and guidance on preparing 
applications will be available from the Partnerships for Schools website. 
Applications can be submitted between 3 and 14 October. 

• School Building regulations will be pared down significantly – cutting red tape 
and costs.  

• The recommendations of Sebastian James’s review on school building will be 
broadly accepted subject to a thorough consultation process on details and 
implementation. This consultation closes 11 October 2011. It covers 
implications for the way the Department allocates funding and manages its 
capital programme.  

Schools Funding 

• A new consultation (closes 11 October 2011) has been launched seeking 
views on proposals for a new, fairer and more transparent school funding 
system. This includes proposals to introduce a new national formula so that 
money is allocated more consistently across the country and to expand the 
eligibility criteria of the Pupil Premium. The consultation also includes 
proposals for funding high need pupils and early education. The current 
funding system for maintained schools will continue in 2012-13.  

• A consultation (opened 19 July, closed 16 August 2011) was launched with 
Local Authorities only about Local Authority Central Spend Equivalent Grant 
academy funding, to ensure that the rapid growth in academy numbers is 
funded fairly and to ensure that local authorities are not double funded for 
services they no longer provide.  

 

Page 46



Reducing bureaucracy for schools 

13. As part of the DFE's ongoing commitment to reducing bureaucracy for schools, 
they have published a myths and facts document outlines a number of common 
misconceptions and provides factual information on the current legal position or 
best practice advice for schools. 

14. Also available is a timeline which sets out important information to help 
headteachers, principals and governors plan ahead, prepare for and implement 
changes that will take place during this academic year, including mandatory legal 
requirements. Some of the timings are indicative and may change. 

 

Compare Schools tool for parents 

15. The DFE website now has a comparison tool where up to 5 schools can be 
compared alongside each other – a range of data is available that covers school 
performance, characteristics and spend per pupil data. 

 

Government responds to the Munro Review of Child Protection 

16. The Government has published its response to Professor Eileen Munro’s 
recommendations to reform the child protection system, set out earlier this year. 
The response outlines the Government’s intention, working with professionals, to 
build a system focused on the needs, views and experiences of vulnerable 
children. The Government will reduce central regulation and prescription and 
place greater trust and responsibility in skilled professionals and local leaders to 
bring about long-term reform.  

Headline messages:  

§ Government will oversee a radical reduction in the amount of regulation 
through the revision of statutory framework to place greater emphasis 
on direct work with children, young people and families.  

§ An amendment to statutory guidance by December 2011 to remove the 
prescription of timescales and the distinction between core and initial 
assessments.  

§ Government supports Professor Munro’s view that the quality of 
relationships between social workers and children and young people 
sits at the heart of an effective child protection system and will support 
and work with the SWRB, the College of Social Work and ADCS to 
develop the knowledge and skills of the profession.  

§ Inspection will continue to be important with a new inspection 
framework that will have at its heart the experiences of children and 
young people  

§ There will be greater transparency and coordination of local 
arrangements to deliver an early help offer to children, young people 
and families  

Page 47



§ A co-produced work programme between the Department for 
Education, the Department of Health, NHS bodies, local authorities, 
professional bodies and practitioners to ensure continued improvement 
of safeguarding arrangements in health reform.  

 

Government announces £6 million for children in care and families who need 
extra support 

17. Thirty seven local authorities will share this extra funding in order to expand their 
own intensive intervention programmes and reach even more vulnerable children 
and their families. Wiltshire is not one of theses authorities. 

18. The programmes supported by the government all address the need for stability 
in a child’s life.  There is increasing evidence that this work reduces the need for 
a child to enter care or custody, or can reduce the length of time spent in care. 
The programmes supported by the government are: 

§ Multidimensional Treatment Foster Care (MTFC) 
§ Keeping Foster and Kinship Carers Trained and Supported (KEEP) 
§ Multisystemic Therapy (MST) 
§ Functional Family Therapy (FFT) 

 
 
Care To Learn 

19. The Department for Education has launched a consultation on changes to how 
Care to Learn will continue to support teenage parents in education and unpaid 
training in England. Currently parents under 20 who meet the scheme 
requirements can claim up to £160 a week for childcare and related transport 
costs under the programme. 

20. The scheme will continue in its current form for all parents in England who are 
under 20 when they start a course in the academic year 2011/12 until they 
complete that course. Any change would be introduced from September 2012. 
The consultation closes 28 October 2011, it outlines four possible options: 

• Moving to a discretionary fund  

• Linking support to income  

• Changing the weekly rates paid  

• Changing the age criteria. This is the Department’s preferred option. It would 
mean that those aged 18 and under at the start of their course would still be 
covered by the scheme. Those aged 19 (and over) would be able to apply for 
childcare support through the discretionary adult learner support 
arrangements funded by the Department for Business, Innovation and Skills 
(BIS). This option would bring eligibility for childcare support in line with other 
forms of financial support for young people and adults.  

 

SEN and Disability Green Paper pathfinder 

Page 48



21. Successful Local Authorities have been notified of their acceptance on to this 

18-month pathfinder programme. A large number of local authorities applied and 

Wiltshire is one of the 20 accepted. We will learn more about next steps at a 

conference at the end of September. 

Alternative Provision Trial 

22. Wiltshire has been accepted as one of eight trial local authorities to develop new 

ways of working to ensure that schools have full responsibility for pupils that they 

permanently exclude. This will involve the use of “freedom to innovate” to work 

around legislation and devolve funds to schools. This work will include reviewing 

preventative response and ensuring appropriate provision for children and young 

people to get the best outcomes.   

 

CAROLYN GODFREY 
Corporate Director, Department for Children and Education 
 
 

 
Report author: Lynda Cox, Head of Performance and Information Management, 
Department for Children and Education. 
 
Largely taken from the DFE website content up to 12 September 2011 

13/09/2011 

Page 49



Page 50

This page is intentionally left blank



Wiltshire Council 
        
Cabinet 
 
13 September 2011 
 

 
Subject:                    Budget Monitoring Period 4 July 2011 
 
Cabinet Member:  Cllr John Brady – Finance, Performance & Risk 
 
Key Decision:  No 
 

 

Executive Summary 
 
This report updates members of progress in delivering savings identified in the 2011-
2015 Financial Plan in relation to the 2011/2012 base budgets, and of any significant 
new cost pressures or changes since the last report on 26 July 2011.  
 
As per the last report, only 2% of savings (£0.599 million) are being classed as no 
longer deliverable (Red). This level of non-deliverable savings is not significant and 
within the tolerable level at this stage identified in the risk assessment reported to 
Council in February and could be covered by General Fund reserves. The red areas 
of concern and reasons for the changes are set out in the body of the report and 
officers are working on actions to introduce alternative proposals in order that the 
budget is delivered by year end so no draw on reserves is needed. 
 
The £31.084 million savings identified in the financial plan have been risk assessed 
as to deliverability. As a result significant improvement have been identified in 
savings on target to be delivered. The levels of low risk savings has increased from 
87% (£27.209 million) in July to 89% (£27.665 million).  
 
Additionally, the last report identified significant cost pressures since budget setting, 
totalling £4.683 million. These were broken down as follows: 

• £3.100 million cost pressure is forecast in Community Services, caused by 
demand for adult care services; 

• £0.300 million pressure in looked after children; 

• £0.500 million estimated shortfall of income from car parks; and 

• £0.783 million under provision in waste assumptions. 
 
Since last month additional cost pressures have been identified of £0.401 million. 
This is made up of an extra £0.222 million caused by demand for adult care services, 
an extra 0.139 million caused by the demand on the Looked After Children budget 
and an extra £0.040 million estimated shortfall of income from car parks.  

 
Following a review of additional unringfenced grant received it is proposed that £2 
million is vired to cover cost pressures identified in adult care services. 
 
These changes lead to revised cost pressures at period 4 of £3.084 million. Action 
plans are being worked on in the appropriate areas to address this. 
 

Agenda Item 9

Page 51



 
 

The report also sets out the future budget monitoring reporting arrangements to 
members for the rest of the financial year. This starts with a full budget monitoring 
report for month 5 will be brought to the next cabinet meeting. This will include full 
appendices showing budgets and expenditure in the new corporate structure. 
 

 
 

Proposals 
 
Members are asked to note the outcome of the Period 4 (July 2011) budget 
monitoring and receive updates on movements since the previous report in July. 
 
Cabinet are requested to approve the virement of £2 million from additional 
unringfenced grant income to cover cost pressures identified in adult care services. 
 

 

Reason for Proposals 
 
To inform effective decision making and ensure a sound financial control 
environment.  
 

 
Michael Hudson 

Chief Finance Officer 

  

Page 52



Wiltshire Council 
        
Cabinet 
 
13 September 2011 
 

 
Subject:                    Budget Monitoring Period 4 July 2011 
 
Cabinet Member:  Cllr John Brady – Finance, Performance & Risk 
 
Key Decision:  No 
 

 
Purpose of Report 
 
1. To update members of progress in delivering savings identified in the 2011-2015 

Financial Plan in relation to the 2011/2012 base budgets, and of any significant new 
cost pressures or changes since the last report on 26 July 2011.  

 
2. Additionally the report sets out the future budget monitoring reporting arrangements 

to members for the rest of the financial year. 
 
Background 
 
2011/12 base budget 

 
3. The Council’s Annual Budget 2011/2012 identified £31.084 million of savings from 

across all areas of the Authority.  These savings are recurring so any non-delivery 
will increase the scale of savings required to be found in future years as well as 
creating an in year cost pressure. 

 
4. The full lists of savings were reported to members as part of the setting of the 

2011/2012 budget. The savings have been restated in line with the revised corporate 
restructure and details are included in Appendix A.  
 

Process for monitoring and reporting the 2011/2012 base budget 
 

5. As per the last report to cabinet in July, this report focuses on the delivery of the 
Financial Plan savings agreed by Council to as these form the most significant risk to 
the Council not delivering on its balanced budget and thus contributing to an 
overspend.  

 
6. To help with the focus on priority areas the budget monitoring format to senior 

officers and members has been revised to use a ‘traffic light’ risk assessment 
process.  Therefore, the reporting against savings is broken down as follows: 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 53



Risk 
assessment 

Definition 

Red There is a high likelihood that this saving will not be delivered in 
2011/2012 at all. This could be caused by changes in such 
factors as legislation, policy or outcomes of further consultations, 
etc. 
 

Red/Amber There is a high likelihood that significant levels of the saving will 
not be delivered in 2011/2012. This could be due to factors such 
as unforeseen changes in demand or other assumptions, slow 
progress in implementation, delays due to external factors such 
as Government policy, etc. 
  

Amber/Green There is still a high likelihood that all or a significant part of the 
saving being delivered. This could be due to a small slippage in 
progress, or a restructure being planned to happen in October is 
on target to meet the deadline but as yet it has not happened 
and posts are yet to be deleted from the system, etc. 
 

Green All of the savings planned have been delivered and signed off as 
such by Accountancy in removal from base budgets. 
 

 
7. The assessment is set out in the following paragraphs and in details by at Appendix 

A to this report. 
 
8. Accountancy have also been reviewing service outturns for 2010/2011 with 

2011/2012 projections to identify and raise any discrepancies for further review, and 
in more volatile demand led risk services such as care of the vulnerable (Adults and 
Children), and car parking. Accountancy have been working with Heads of Service to 
assess the initial costs being incurred in the year to date to assess this against prior 
year experiences. 

 
Savings category 
per Financial Plan 

2011/2012 
Target per the 
Plan £000 

Savings 
risked 

assessed      
£000 

Green Amber / 
Green 

Amber / 
Red 

Red 

A. Management & 
standardising our 
pay 

8.377 8.508 8.205 0.150 0.058 0.095 

B. Reduce & make 
better use of our 
buildings 

0.325 0.325 0.120 0.055 0.150 0.000 

C. Procurement 7.400 7.369 2.416 2.604 1.976 0.373 

D. Service 
Efficiencies 

13.982 14.013 8.583 4.538 0.767 0.125 

E. Systems thinking 1.000 1.000 0.268 0.726 0.000 0.006 

Total £ 31.084 31.215 19.592 8.073 2.951 0.599 

Total % -   63% 26% 9% 2% 

Total reported July £ 31.084   17.368 9.841 3.223 0.652 

Page 54



 
9. When the financial plan was set, the original target was £31.084 million. Since then, 

further management review has identified additional savings in some areas. 
Therefore in some cases the saving vary slightly from the original plan.  

 
10. As part of continual management review savings have been examined since the last 

report. As a result, the table shows a significant improvement savings in the green 
and green/ amber categories. The levels of savings in these two categories has 
increased from 87% in July to 89%. The major movements in risk are highlighted 
below. 

 
11. The Amber/Red risks have similarly improved. The Red assessments are at a similar 

level as last month. Work is continuing in these areas to review and identify required 
actions.  

 
12. Full details of all risks are set out by Department in Appendix A. 

 
Major movements in risk since period 3 

 
13. In the Department for Neighbourhoods and Planning (DNP), £0.797 million has 

moved into Green/Amber from Amber/Red following confirmation of the progression 
of bus services/contract reviews within passenger transport.  Plans in place to realise 
the full benefit as outlined in the financial plan. 

 
14. Also in DNP, £0.422 million of Economy & Enterprise savings have been moved out 

of Amber/Red & into Green and Green/Amber following the transfer of the salaries 
element of the £1.000 million investment to resource the Action for Wiltshire 
programmes. 

 

15. Within the Department for Transformation and Resources (DTR), £0.151 million has 
moved to Green/Amber. This represents a saving within HR related to the service 
review, however the review is being carried out later than planned however the 
budget is still being managed within the overall services bottom line. 

 

16. Also in DTR, £0.059 million management review saving within business 
transformation have now confirmed in light of ICT restructure. 
 

17. In the Department for Children and Education (DCE), there is a movement between 
Green/Amber to Red/Amber of £0.612 million against Nursing Procurement Savings 
as the tendering process has been delayed. 

 
Cost and income assumptions / pressures 

 

18. Accountancy have continued to monitor budgets with a focus on those budgets 
assessed to be subject to a higher risk of volatility due to factors such as changes in 
demand or assumptions.  This has identified the few areas where costs have risen 
quicker than forecast. 

 
19. Significant cost pressures since the budget setting reported to cabinet on 26 July 

2011 totalled £4.683 million. These were broken down as follows: 
 

Page 55



• £3.100 million cost pressure is forecast in Community Services, caused by 
demand for adult care services; 

• £0.300 million pressure in looked after children; 

• £0.500 million estimated shortfall of income from car parks; and 

• £0.783 million under provision in waste assumptions. 
 

20. A review of these cost pressure has been undertaken for period 4. Further detailed 
will be included in period 5 report to members in October. 

 
21. The recent extraordinary Cabinet meeting held on 19 August approved the re-

introduction of 1 hour car parking to Salisbury.  Work is currently on going to develop 
a robust, economic and sensitive model to forecast a revenue outturn on what can be 
a notoriously volatile income stream.   

 

22. The latest projection is a slight increase of £0.040 million to an anticipated full year 
shortfall of £0.540 million; this takes into account the re-introduction of the 1 hour 
charge.  As per the extraordinary Cabinet report this is based on occupancy levels 
increasing back up to 2010/11 levels. 

 

23. Although significant the £0.540 million only represents a 6% shortfall on the total car 
parking income target for the year.  It is envisaged that the shortfall will be contained 
within DNP. Detailed budget monitoring and proposals to fund the shortfall will be 
carried out based on the actual position as at the end August.  This will include a 
revised full year forecast on the income position and be reported to Cabinet in 
October. 

 

24. As discussed in the previous report, the spend on Looked After Children (LAC) is 
higher than budgeted for.  The number of children coming in to care because of 
neglect or emotional abuse is increasing and the number of active court proceedings 
currently stands at 60, against an average in previous years of 38 at any one time.  
Currently placement budgets for looked after children are projected to overspend by 
£0.439 million and the increase in numbers cannot be sustained within the current 
budget. Pressures on the Leaving Care budget are also significant. Overall, this 
represents additional cost pressure of £0.139 million from the figure reported for 
period 3.  Work continues to review options to address these pressures and bring 
further proposals back to Cabinet. 
 

25. As reported in the previous budget monitoring paper, demand for adult social care 
services has exceeded that which was assumed for budget setting.  In addition, the 
death rate during this financial year is also lower than previous trends.  The activity 
experienced to date has been used to forecast demand for the remainder of the year.  
It is now forecast that there will be demand for 129 more placements across the 
remainder of the year, with a potential cost of £3.322 million if no action is taken. This 
represents an additional cost pressure in this area of £0.222 million from the figure 
reported for period 3. 

 
Allocation of additional grant income 

 

26. As proposed to cabinet in July, we have received additional grant income of £2.067 
million. It is proposed that £2 million is used to cover the cost pressures identified in 
Adult Care as Services as mentioned in the Council’s cost pressures above. 

Page 56



 
27. Additionally, as per the last budget monitoring report, the remaining  £0.067 million 

has already been allocated to DCE relating to additional early years intervention 
grant. 
 

Future Monitoring in the New Corporate Structure 
 

 

28. Since the last report to Members in July, a significant piece of work has been 
undertaken to recast the Council’s approved budget into the new corporate structure. 
This work has now been completed and SAP reports to Members have been 
rewritten to reflect the new structure.  

 
29. Period 5 ends on 31 August. A full budget monitoring report for period 5 will be 

brought to the Cabinet meeting in October. This will include full appendices showing 
budgets and expenditure in the new corporate structure. 

 

30. Full revenue budget monitoring reports will be brought to Cabinet on a bimonthly time 
table as shown below. This will allow improvement in the reporting quality and enable 
reports to reflect decisions made in the previous meeting. Capital monitoring reports 
will be taken to Cabinet Capital Assets Committee in the even months to ensure 
financial monthly monitoring to members.  

 

31. Budget monitoring is an ongoing process and budgets and expenditure are reviewed 
between budget managers and accountancy regularly, on a risk based approach.  
 

Future Revenue Monitoring Reports to Members  

Period Cabinet 

Period 5 August October 2011 

Period 7 October December 2011 

Period 9 December February 2012 

Period 11 February April 2012 

Final outturn March June 2012 

 
Overall conclusions 
 

 

32. The July cabinet report suggested an overspend / shortfall on the balanced budget of 
£4.683 million due to cost pressures. Allocation of additional unringfenced grant 
income reduces this by £2.00 million.  

 
33. During the period additional cost pressures have been identified of £0.401 million. 

This is made up of an extra £0.222 million caused by demand for adult care services, 
an extra 0.139 million caused by the demand on the Looked After Children budget 
and an extra £0.040 million estimated shortfall of income from car parks.  

Page 57



 
 
 

Cost pressures reported period 3   £4.683 million    
Additional cost pressures in period £0.401 million 
Release of unringfenced grant  (£2.000) million 
Cost pressures end of period 4 £3.084 million 
 

34. The risk assessment of savings highlights £0.599 million of savings with red risk 
attached to them. Work will continue in all of these areas to review and identify 
required actions and this will inform the next monitoring report to Members in October 
2011.  

 
35. The early identification of potential issues is part of sound and prudent financial 

management. Action to address this year’s forecast should be taken where officers 
have the delegated powers to do so and this is underway.  
 

Implications  
 

36. This report informs member’s decision making. 
 
 

Risks assessment 
 

37. If the Council fails to take actions to address forecast shortfalls, overspends or 
increases in its costs it will need to draw on its reserves. The level of reserves is 
limited and a one off resource that cannot thus be used as a long term sustainable 
strategy for financial stability. Budget monitoring and management, of which this 
report forms part of the control environment, is a mitigating process to ensure early 
identification and action is taken. 

 
Equalities and diversity impact of the proposals 
 
38. None have been identified as arising directly from this report. 
 
 
Financial implications 
 
39. This is a report from the Chief Finance Officer and the financial implications are 

discussed in the detail of this report. 
 
 
Legal Implications 
 
40. None have been identified as arising directly from this report. 
 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 58



Background Papers and Consultation 
 
2011-15 Business Plan 
2011-15 Financial Plan 
Budget Monitoring Cabinet 26 July 2011 
 
Contact Name: 
Michael Hudson, Chief Finance Officer, ext 713601 
Michael.hudson@Wiltshire.gov.uk 
 
Report Author: Matthew Tiller, Chief Accountant, ext 713602 
 
Appendices: 
 
Appendix A: Individual Departmental Risk Analysis  

Page 59



Page 60

This page is intentionally left blank



Appendix A: Individual Departmental Risk Analysis

CHILDREN & EDUCATION SAVINGS 2011/12 - TRACKING

Item Description Staff Procurement Income Other 
Financial 

Plan 2011/12
Green

Amber / 

Green

Amber  / 

Red
Red

SERVICE REVIEW

SCHHOLS & LEARNING - Stephanie Denovan

1 Narrowing of Curriculum Support 464,764 464,764 464,764

2 Reduction in School improvement Partners 150,000 150,000 150,000

3 Removal/Reduction in LA subsidy to Braeside 24,000 24,000 24,000

4 Removal/Reduction in LA subsidy to Urchfont 31,000 31,000 31,000

5 Removal/Reduction in LA subsidy to Wiltshire Music Service 35,000 35,000 35,000

6
Removal/Reduction in LA subsidy to Wiltshire Swindon Learning 

Resources 9,000 9,000 9,000

Schools & Learning Total 614,764 0 99,000 0 713,764 682,764 31,000 0 0

SOCIAL CARE & INTEGRATED YOUTH - Sharon Davies

1 Information, Advice & Guidance (IAG) 341,400 341,400 341,400

2 Savings from Connexions Service 60,664 60,664 60,664

3 Service Reductions across Targeted Services 134,647 134,647 134,647

4 Removal/Reduction in LA subsidy to Traded Services 37,406 37,406 37,406

5 Reductions in grants allocated to youth projects 216,100 216,100 216,100

6 Service Transformation within the Youth Development Service 0

7 Business Support 142,692 142,692 142,692

8 Family Support 105,000 105,000 105,000

9 Family Placement Service 71,000 71,000 71,000

10 Out of Area Placements 0

Social Care & Integrated Youth Total 514,003 0 37,406 557,500 1,108,909 1,108,909 0 0 0

COMMISSIONING & PERFORMANCE - Julia Cramp

1 Reduce net budget for Contact Point 56,000 56,000 56,000

2 Reduce Children's Trust Board Admin Support 7,000 7,000 7,000

3 Reduction in Teenage Pregnancy Worker 31,000 31,000 31,000

4 Reduce Administration within Co-ordination Team 19,000 19,000 19,000

5 Reduction of staffing within Research & Stats Team 16,000 16,000 16,000

6 Service Reductions within Commissioning & Performance 19,648 19,648 19,648

7 Staff Development Team 60,000 60,000 60,000

Commissioning & Performance Total 152,648 0 0 56,000 208,648 148,648 60,000 0 0

POLICY & PERFORMANCE = Sharon Britton

1 Service Review Savings - Policy & Performance 47,000 47,000 47,000

Policy & Performance Total 47,000 0 0 0 47,000 47,000 0 0 0

TOTAL DCE SERVICE REVIEW SAVINGS 1,328,415 0 136,406 613,500 2,078,321 1,987,321 91,000 0 0

MANAGEMENT REVIEW

MR Schools & Learning 1,328,629 1,328,629 1,328,629

MR Social Care & Integrated Youth 653,842 653,842 653,842

MR Commissioning & Performance 266,488 266,488 266,488

MR Policy & Performance 0

TOTAL DCE MANAGEMENT REVIEW 2,248,959 0 0 0 2,248,959 2,248,959 0 0 0

PROCUREMENT BOARD

PR Children's Centre recommissioning 684,957 684,957 684,957

PR Social Care and Aftercare Placements 745,660 745,660 745,660

PR Transport 188,904 188,904 188,904

TOTAL DCE RELATED PROCUREMENT BOARD SAVINGS 0 1,619,521 0 0 1,619,521 873,861 745,660 0 0

P
a
g
e
 6

1



SYSTEMS THINKING REVIEWS

STR Social Care & Integrated Youth 58,333 126,546 2,789 187,668 187,668

TOTAL DCE RELATED SYSTEMS THINKING REVIEW SAVINGS 58,333 0 126,546 2,789 187,668 187,668 0 0 0

CHILDREN & EDUCATION SUMMARY - As per Financial Plan Totals

Service Review 1,328,415 0 136,406 613,500 2,078,321 1,987,321 91,000 0 0

Management Review 2,248,959 0 0 0 2,248,959 2,248,959 0 0 0

Procurement Board 0 1,619,521 0 0 1,619,521 873,861 745,660 0 0

Systems Thinking Review 58,333 0 126,546 2,789 187,668 187,668 0 0 0

CHILDREN & EDUCATION GRAND TOTAL 3,635,707 1,619,521 262,952 616,289 6,134,469 5,297,809 836,660 0 0

P
a

g
e
 6

2



 

Wiltshire Council      
 
Cabinet  
 
13 September 2011 
 

 
Subject:  Business Plan Scorecard Report 
 
Cabinet Member: Councillor John Brady - Finance, Performance and Risk 
 
Key Decision:   No 
 

 

NB. This version of the report has been edited to only include information 
pertinent to the Department for Children and Education. 

 

Purpose of Report 

1. This is the first report to provide a summary of progress against Wiltshire 
Council’s Business Plan.  It provides: 

§ Community Results and Council Performance Scorecards for the 
period April to June 2011.   

§ The status of the Council’s main programmes. (removed from this 
version) 

§ The Workforce Report from Human Resources. (removed from this 
version) 

Background 

2. Wiltshire Council’s four year Business Plan sets out what will be achieved 
between now and 2015.  It highlights the business model for the next five 
to 10 years.  The changes from where we are now will be phased so that 
the first four years sets the foundation to make the council as efficient as 
possible and equipped for the future.  Progress reports are intended to 
give a rounded picture, covering performance against targets, progress on 
major programmes and information about the Council’s workforce. 

3. As well as showing results against targets, the scorecards also show 
performance indicators that will be reported on later once results become 
available.  The reason indicators are reported later in the year is usually 
because the indicators are annual – that is the results are only available 
once a year. 

4. The status of the Council’s main programmes is provided by the 
Programme Office and shows whether each programme is on track. 

5. The Workforce report shows information about the Council’s employees, 
and is also reported to the Staffing Policy Committee. 

Page 63



 

 

Main Considerations for the Council 

6. Progress against the Business Plan is summarised below.    

7. Community and Council Scorecards – To date the majority of these 
measures are shown as on target.  The scorecards include additional 
information for those that are not.    These can be found in Annex 1. 

8. Measures with results available later – These are mainly annual 
measures, but some are new indicators that are still being defined 
nationally.  Once results are available these indicators will be moved into 
the main scorecard tables.  New indicators do not always have data for 
prior years and so results in 2011/12 will be used to set the baselines for 
setting targets from 2012/13 

Environmental Impact of the Proposal 

9. This is a scorecard so the proposal has no direct environmental impact, 
although there are measures on Recycling, Waste Management and 
Energy Efficiency.     

Equalities Impact of the Proposal 

10. As this is a progress report the proposal has no direct impact on 
equalities. 

 Risk Assessment 

11. The Council’s risk management arrangements apply across the Council’s 
services and risk is overseen by the Corporate Risk Management Group 
(CRMG), which reports on significant risks to CLT and to the Audit 
Committee.  No risks arise as a result of this report, but it does highlight 
any difficulties relating to achieving targets and delivering the Council’s 
main programmes.  

Financial Implications 

12. This is a scorecard report so has no direct financial implications.   

Legal Implications 

13. As this is a scorecard report there are no direct legal implications.  

Options Considered 

14. As this is a scorecard report there are no ‘options to consider’. 

Proposal 

15. Cabinet is asked to note progress against the Business Plan.  
 

Sharon Britton 
Service Director Policy, Performance and Partnership 
 

Report Author: Claire Small, Policy and Partnership Officer  
claire.small@wiltshire.gov.uk  

Page 64



 

Date of report: 10th August 2011 

Appendices 

Annex 1: Business Plan Scorecards 

Page 65



 

 

Annex 1: Business Plan Scorecards 

 

 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  

Index 

• Community Results Scorecard 

• Council Performance Scorecard 

• Measures to be added later 

 

Scorecard Key: 
H = High (good performance if actual is higher than target); L = Low (good performance if actual is lower than target) 
3 yr trend: I = Improving; W = Worsening 
On target: Y = Yes; N = No; A = Almost 

Business Plan  
Scorecard Results  

to June 2011 

P
a

g
e
 6

6



 

 

Community Results Scorecard to June 2011 
 
MEASURES TO JUNE 

Ref Wiltshire's Business Plan 2011-15 
COMMUNITY RESULTS 

SCORECARD 

h
ig
h
/l
o
w
 2008/09 

Actual 
2009/10 
Actual 

2010/11 
Actual 

3
 y
r 
tr
e
n
d
 2011/12 
Target 
(year) 

2011/12 
Target to 
June 

2011/12 
Actual to 
June 

O
n
 t
a
rg
e
t?
 

2014/15 
target Lead 

officer 

  Protect and Safeguard Vulnerable 
Children 

                      

2001 5% increase in children in care 
receiving high quality local 
placements: use of in-house foster 
carers (proportion nights) 

H 56.3 60.9 62.8 I 67.4 Not yet 
profiled 

61.4 Y 68 Sharon 
Davies 

 
 
Council Performance Scorecard to June 2011 
 

MEASURES TO JUNE 

Ref Wiltshire's Business Plan 2011-15 
COUNCIL PERFORMANCE SCORECARD 

h
ig
h
/l
o
w
 

2008/09 
Actual 

2009/10 
Actual 

2010/11 
Actual 

3
 y
r 
tr
e
n
d
 

2011/12 
Target 
(year) 

2011/12 
Target to 
June 

2011/12 
Actual to 
June 

O
n
 t
a
rg
e
t?
 

2014/15 
target Lead officer 

  Protect and Safeguard Vulnerable Children                       

2006 Care leavers in suitable accommodation H 81.8% 76.5% 97.1% I 95% 95% 96% Y 95% Sharon 
Davies 

2007 Care leavers in suitable education, jobs or 
training 

H 54.4% 41.2% 65.7% I 68% Not yet 
profiled 

57% Y 72% Sharon 
Davies 

2008 Timely adoptions H 65.2% 92.9% 100% I 90% Not yet 
profiled 

67% 
(10 

adoptions) 

Y 90% Sharon 
Davies 

2009 Safeguarding: initial assessments done in 10 
days 

H   65.1% 63.6% - 70% Not yet 
profiled 

85% Y 80% Sharon 
Davies 

2010 Safeguarding: child protection plan reviewed 
on time 

H 100% 97.9% 100% - 100% 100% 99% A 100% Sharon 
Davies 

 

P
a
g
e
 6

7



 

 

Measures not on target: 
 

Results expected within 5% of target (Almost) 

Ref 2010 – Safeguarding: child protection plan reviewed on time 

Target: 100%, Actual: 99%  

Reason not on target:  1 child’s review was late coming in. 

What is being done:  This is a very exceptional case as the processes that are in place are strong.  

 
Community Results Scorecard – results available later 
 
MEASURES - results available later                 

Ref Wiltshire's Business Plan 2011-15 
COMMUNITY RESULTS SCORECARD 

h
ig
h
/l
o
w
 2008/09 

Actual 
2009/10 
Actual 

2010/11 
Actual 

3
 y
r 
tr
e
n
d
 

2011/12 
Target 
(year) 

2014/15 
target 

Lead officer 

  Protect and Safeguard Vulnerable 
adults 

                

2002 Children with non-accidental 
injuries/10,000 children 

L   109.5 109.3 - Indicator being re-
developed through 

public health 
framework 

Sharon Davies 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

P
a

g
e
 6

8



 

 

Community Results Scorecard – results available later (cont’d) 
 

MEASURES - results available later 

Ref Wiltshire's Business Plan 2011-15 
COMMUNITY RESULTS SCORECARD 

h
ig
h
/l
o
w
 

2008/09 
Actual 

2009/10 
Actual 

2010/11 
Actual 

3
 y
r 
tr
e
n
d
 

2011/12 
Target 
(year) 

2014/15 
target Lead officer 

  Invest in: Children’s Attainment                 

2003 5% more 11 year olds will get Key Stage 2 L4+ 
by 2015 (Maths and English) 

H 73 71 75 I 75.2 79.2 Stephanie 
Denovan 

2004 5% more young people will get 5 A*-C at 
GCSE by 2015 (including English and Maths) 

H 53.2 55.4 55.8 I 56.6 60.6 Stephanie 
Denovan 

 
 
Council Performance Scorecard – results available later  
 
MEASURES - results available later                 

Ref Wiltshire's Business Plan 2011-15 
COUNCIL PERFORMANCE SCORECARD 

h
ig
h
/l
o
w
 2008/09 

Actual 
2009/10 
Actual 

2010/11 
Actual 

3
 y
r 
tr
e
n
d
 

2011/12 
Target 
(year) 

2014/15 
target 

Lead officer 

  Protect and Safeguard Vulnerable Children                 

2005 More children in care get 5 A*-C GCSEs (or 
equivalent) 

H 11.4 14.3 16 I 20 32 Sharon Davies 

 

P
a
g
e
 6

9



Page 70

This page is intentionally left blank



Wiltshire Council       
Children’s Services Select Committee 
27 September 2011 
 

 
 
Ofsted Unannounced Inspection of Contact, Referral and 
Assessment Arrangements 
 

1. This report is to update members on the findings of the recent inspection which 
took place in July 2011. 

 
2. All local authorities are subject to an annual inspection of Contact, Referral and 

Assessment in children’s services. This is a two day inspection when inspectors 
arrive unannounced and spend time with referral and assessment team staff to 
form a view about front-line practice and processes for children in need and who 
may need protection. 

 
3. The inspection outcome was good as there were no priority actions identified and 

it acknowledged that the majority of the areas of development identified at the 
previous inspection in July 2010 have been addressed. It identified areas of 
strength and areas of practice that met requirements, with some areas for 
development. The full inspection report is included at appendix 1. 

 
4. An action plan has been developed to address the areas for development. This is 

included as appendix 2. 
 
5. The Referral and Assessment Teams have been reorganised in the last year, 

finally coming together as a single team based in Devizes in June 2011. The 
inspectors commented positively on this change. A briefing is included as 
appendix 3 to give the Committee an overview of the team’s recent activity, 
improved performance and plans for the next few months. 

 
6. The committee is asked to note: 
 

§ The outcome of the inspection and content of the action plan, 
§ The improved performance of the referral and assessment team in recent 

months. 
 
 
CAROLYN GODFREY 
Corporate Director, Department for Children and Education 
 

 
Report author: Sharon Davies, Service Director for Children & Families Social Care & 
Integrated Youth, Department for Children and Education. 13/09/2011 

Agenda Item 10

Page 71



Page 72

This page is intentionally left blank



27 July 2011 

Ms Carolyn Godfrey 

Director of the Department for Children and Education 
Wiltshire Council 
County Hall 
Bythesea Road 
Trowbridge
Wiltshire
BA14 8JQ 

Dear Ms Godfrey 

Annual unannounced inspection of contact, referral and assessment 
arrangements within Wiltshire Council children’s services 

This letter summarises the findings of the recent unannounced inspection of contact, 
referral and assessment arrangements within local authority children’s services in 
Wiltshire Council which was conducted on 28 and 29 June 2011. The inspection was 
carried out under section 138 of the Education and Inspections Act 2006. It will 
contribute to the annual review of the performance of the authority’s children’s 
services, for which Ofsted will award a rating later in the year. I would like to thank 
all of the staff we met for their assistance in undertaking this inspection. 

The inspection sampled the quality and effectiveness of contact, referral and 
assessment arrangements and their impact on minimising any child abuse and 
neglect. Inspectors considered a range of evidence, including: electronic case 
records; supervision files and notes; observation of social workers and senior 
practitioners undertaking referral and assessment duties; and other information 
provided by staff and managers. Inspectors also spoke to a range of staff including 
managers, social workers, other practitioners and administrative staff.  

The inspection identified areas of strength and areas of practice that met 
requirements, with some areas for development. 

The majority of the areas of development identified at the previous inspection of 
contact, referral and assessment arrangements in July 2010 have been addressed. 

From the evidence gathered, the following features of the service were identified: 

Strengths 

! The Crisis Intervention Service provides highly effective and responsive 
provision to children and young people who need support in the evenings and 

Freshford House 
Redcliffe Way 
Bristol BS1 6NL 

T 0300 1231231  
enquiries@ofsted.gov.uk
www.ofsted.gov.uk 

Direct T 03000 130570 

Safeguarding.lookedafterchildren@ofsted.gov.uk 

Page 73



2

weekends to allow them to stay with their families and or in their placement. 
The service is recognised by social workers and children and families as a 
valuable resource. 

! In partnership with the Housing Options Service, a Host Family Scheme has 
been developed to offer emergency short term placements of up to three 
weeks for young people who have become homeless. It provides the 
opportunity to make a full assessment of their needs and ensures long term 
plans are in place for their future. As a result, a high proportion of young 
people, who are referred to the scheme, have their long term accommodation 
requirements successfully met.

The service meets the requirements of statutory guidance in the 
following areas 

! Contacts and referrals are undertaken in a consistent and timely manner.  

! The timeliness of initial and core assessments has improved over the past 
year. In cases seen by inspectors, the quality of these assessments was at 
least adequate, with good use of historical information and risk and protective 
factors clearly outlined in most cases. 

! Initial child protection conferences are held promptly and there is good multi-
agency involvement.

! The emergency duty service provides a comprehensive response to out of 
hours referrals. Welfare visits to families and child protection investigations are 
undertaken where necessary. Robust communication systems are in place to 
ensure that work is effectively transferred to the daytime services.

! Supervision has become increasingly timely and quality of recording is 
improving. This was an area for development at the last inspection. 

! Case recording is largely up to date. Management oversight and decision 
making was evident on the majority of case files seen during the inspection. 

! An increase in administrative capacity and effective deployment of support 
staff ensures that the clerical functions of the service are undertaken in a 
timely manner. This was an area for development at the last inspection.   

! An effective system of structured case file audits has been introduced to 
improve the quality of assessments and case recording. A designated team of 
experienced staff work alongside social workers and managers to review cases 
and highlight areas for improvement. The results of these audits are monitored 
by senior managers. This was an area for development at the last inspection. 

! The performance of the referral and assessment service is robustly managed 
by senior managers and elected members, through a social care improvement 
board. Rapid and effective action has been taken to address shortfalls. For 

Page 74



3

example, as a response to identified inconsistencies in practice between 
individual teams, a single county-wide referral and assessment service with an 
enhanced management team has been created.

! Research and good practice from other areas is used well to improve the 
quality of services.  

! Managers and social workers have good access to external and internal 
training and development. As a result, an effective learning culture is being 
developed within the team. 

! Satisfactory progress has been made to develop the use of the common 
assessment framework (CAF) for children who do not meet the threshold for 
statutory services. Over the past two years, there has been a significant 
increase in the range of agencies completing CAFs and in the numbers of 
children who have received interventions as a result. This was an area for 
development at the last inspection. 

Areas for development

! Although strategy discussions between children’s social care and the police 
regarding child protection enquiries are timely, they do not routinely include all 
relevant agencies. In some cases, the lack of social work capacity results in an 
inability to carry out joint investigations. 

! The service has a strong working relationship with the police child abuse and 
investigation team (CAIT). However CAIT do not provide an out of hours 
service. As a result, some decisions about the progress of child protection 
investigations are made by police officers who are not always suitably trained 
or experienced in child protection.

! Thresholds for provision of services by children’s social care are not clearly 
understood by all partners. The authority is aware of this deficit and new 
criteria have recently been agreed with partner agencies.

! The quality of information in the referrals received by the service is variable. 
Some require significant follow-up by social workers to clarify the concerns 
about the child or young person and actions expected by the referrer.  

! Despite increased timeliness of assessments, some initial assessments are 
approved by managers without the child being seen. This was an area for 
development at the last inspection. 

! Support to newly qualified social workers is variable. Some newly qualified 
staff are allocated child protection work prior to receiving the appropriate 
training.   

! Assessments do not consistently address the ethnicity and diversity issues of 
children, young people and their families. This was an area for development at 

Page 75



4

the last inspection. 

! In some cases, the voice of the child and their family is not explicitly 
recognised in assessments. This was an area for development at the last 
inspection.

Any areas for development identified above will be specifically considered in any 
future inspection of services to safeguard children within your area.

Yours sincerely 

Karen McKeown 
Her Majesty’s Inspector 

Copy: Andrew Kerr, Chief Executive, Wiltshire Council 
 Andrew Spencer, Department for Education 

Page 76



 1

 

Unannounced Action Plan July 2011 

 

1. Provision of good quality & effective professional supervision 

     

How will we know that we have been successful?  

 
Owner 

Success indicator/targets with dates 
  
( number on left links to objective above) 

RAG 

Baseline 2011/12 2012/13 2012/13 2013/14  

1 Rose 
Case 

Supervision takes place at least four weekly, 
two weekly for Newly Qualified Social 
Workers. 

100%    G 

 

 

 

 

 Priority actions  

( number on left links to objective above)  

  

Completion 
Date 

Who is 
responsible 
for leading 
within 
which 
agency? 

Who is 
responsible 
for monitoring 
+ how? 

(Officer and 

group) 

Who is responsible for 
evaluating + how?  

(Officer and group) 

Links to other 
strategic plans 
where further 
detail is 
available 

(name of plan ) 

R
A
G 

1 Children & Families supervision policy to be updated & circulated to all Team 
Managers, Assistant Team Managers and other staff who have supervisory 
responsibilities 

October 
2011 

Rebecca 
Barson 

Sharon Davies Carolyn Godfrey  A 

2 
Frequency of supervision to be monitored in monthly returns.  System to be 
overseen by PA for Service Director. 

Began June 
2011 

Sue Miluk Sharon Davies Carolyn Godfrey  G 

3 
Supervision to provide sufficient & appropriate rigour and challenge.  Supervision 
notes to be recorded, typed and relevant information inputted onto Carefirst.  
Previous supervision notes to inform current supervision session.  Actions 
agreed in supervision should be SMART with clear dates for completion of tasks 
in order to improve practice and outcomes. 

August 2011 Rose Case Rebecca 
Barson 

Sharon Davies  A 

 

 

 

P
a
g
e
 7

7



 2

 

 

 

Risks 

 Description of risk for each objective, including financial pressures 

( number on left links to objective above) 

Impact  

 1 – 4* 

Likelihood 

 1 –  4*  

Total 
Score 

Comment/mitigation 

 

1. Insufficiently skilled management team are unable to meet supervisory 
expectations 

1 1 1 Management team has been strengthened with an additional 
Assistant team manager to improve management capacity.  Training 
for managers is challenging to ensure robust and analytical 
supervision for Social Workers. 

 
     

 
     

* Key         Impact 1 insignificant, 2 minor, 3 moderate and 4 significant.      Likelihood 1 rare, 2 unlikely, 3 possible and 4 almost certain.

P
a

g
e
 7

8



 

 3

2.  Robust interface between CAF and Children & Families Social Care  

 

How will we know that we have been successful?  

 
Owner 

Success indicator/targets with dates 
 
( number on left links to objective above) 

RAG 

Baseline 2011/12 2012/13 2013/14 2014/15  

1 Julia 
Cramp 

% of “step down “ referrals to CAF co-
ordinators are acted upon & evidence that 
CAF is completed for all inappropriate 
referrals to Referral & Assessment service. 

50% 75% 80% 85% A 

 

 Priority actions  

( number on left links to objective above)  

  

Completion 
Date 

Who is 
responsible 
for leading 
within 
which 
agency? 

Who is 
responsible 
for monitoring 
+ how? 

(Officer and 

group) 

Who is responsible for 
evaluating + how?  

(Officer and group) 

Links to other 
strategic plans 
where further 
detail is 
available 

(name of plan ) 

R
A
G 

1 CAF and Social Care protocol to be fully implemented with all inappropriate 
referrals to the Referral team being signposted to the CAF co-ordinators for 
follow up. 

August 2011 Rose Case Annie Hunter Julia Cramp, Integrated 
Working group 

 A 

2 Carefirst inputting to be reviewed to ensure that accurate information is being 
gathered in relation to CAF activity 

September 
2011 

Rebecca 
Barson 

Annie Hunter Julia Cramp  A 

3 Review levels of service and ways of working relating to processes undertaken 
by the CAF co-ordinators. 

January 
2012 

Julia Cramp  
Rebecca 
Barson 

Carolyn 
Godfrey 

  A 

4 Six monthly report on “step down” activity to be provided to the Integrated 
Working group. 

March 2012 Rebecca 
Barson 

Julia Cramp Carolyn Godfrey  R 

 

 

 

P
a
g
e
 7

9



 

 4

 

 

 

 

Risks 

 Description of risk for each objective, including financial pressures 

( number on left links to objective above) 

Impact  

 1 – 4* 

Likelihood 

 1 –  4*  

Total 
Score 

Comment/mitigation 

 

1 Data is unavailable to support the effectiveness of the CAF in terms of 
improved outcomes for Children & young people in Wiltshire 

2 3 6 Extended leadership team led by DCS have plan in place to measure 
impact of CAF across Wiltshire which will be monitored by the 
Integrated Working Group. 

2 
     

* Key         Impact 1 insignificant, 2 minor, 3 moderate and 4 significant.      Likelihood 1 rare, 2 unlikely, 3 possible and 4 almost certain.

P
a

g
e
 8

0



 

 5

3. Improving the quality of strategy discussions 

 

How will we know that we have been successful?  

 
Owner 

Success indicator/targets with dates 
 
( number on left links to objective above) 

RAG 

Baseline 2011/12 2012/13 2013/14 2014/15  

1 Rose 
Case 

All strategy discussions include at least 
three agencies  

100%    A 

 

 

 Priority actions  

( number on left links to objective above)  

  

Completion 
Date 

Who is 
responsible for 
leading within 
which agency? 

Who is 
responsib
le for 
monitorin
g + how? 

(Officer 

and group) 

Who is responsible for 
evaluating + how?  

(Officer and group) 

Links to other 
strategic plans 
where further 
detail is 
available 

(name of plan ) 

R
A
G 

1 All strategy discussions must include at least three agencies from Social Care, 
health, education, police and other agencies as appropriate to ensure that they 
represent a multi agency viewpoint.   This will be audited by the QA Sub group of 
the LSCB.   

August 2011 Rose Case Rebecca 
Barson 

Sharon Davies  A 

2 Audit of strategy discussions to be undertaken on a three monthly basis to 
measure multi agency involvement in strategy discussions. 

November 
2011 

Rebecca Barson Sharon 
Davies 

Carolyn Godfrey, Social 
Care Improvement Board 

 A 

3 
Development of MASH (Multi Agency Safeguarding Hub) to be progressed which 
will improve and build stronger multi agency working to safeguard and protect 
children & young people in Wiltshire. 

December 
2011 

Rebecca Barson Sharon 
Davies 

Carolyn Godfrey, Public 
Service Board 

 A 

4 
In rare occasions when there is insufficient Assessment team capacity to 
undertake joint Sec 47 investigations with police, Referral team Social Workers 
will be used and a back up rota from Safeguarding and Children with Disabilities 
teams to be developed 

September 
2011 

Rose Case Rebecca 
Barson 

Sharon Davies  A 

5 
       

6 
       

P
a
g
e
 8

1



 

 6

 

 

 

 

 

 

Risks 

 Description of risk for each objective, including financial pressures 

( number on left links to objective above) 

Impact  

 1 – 4* 

Likelihood 

 1 –  4*  

Total 
Score 

Comment/mitigation 

 

1 Insufficient multi agency involvement and sign up to strategy meetings 2  2 4 Developments with MASH are underway with sign up from Senior 
managers in key agencies. 

2 Insufficient Social Work capacity to respond to joint investigations in both 
R& A and across Children & Families Social Work teams. 

1 1 1 R&A management team is constantly reviewing service capacity and 
liaising with their colleagues if needs arise. 

3 
     

* Key         Impact 1 insignificant, 2 minor, 3 moderate and 4 significant.      Likelihood 1 rare, 2 unlikely, 3 possible and 4 almost certain.

P
a

g
e
 8

2



 

 7

4. Agreed multi agency thresholds in place 

 

How will we know that we have been successful?  

 

 
Owner 

Success indicator/targets with dates 
 
( number on left links to objective above) 

RAG 

Baseline 2011/12 2012/13 2013/14 2014/15  

1 Julia 
Cramp 

Number of inappropriate referrals to 
children’s Social Care reduces as a % of the 
overall referrals received by the Referral & 
Assessment team. 

% of referrals “closed at 
referral” reduces from Sept 
2011 onwards. 

   G 

 

 Priority actions  

( number on left links to objective above)  

  

Completion 
Date 

Who is 
responsible 
for leading 
within 
which 
agency? 

Who is 
responsible 
for monitoring 
+ how? 

(Officer and 

group) 

Who is responsible for 
evaluating + how?  

(Officer and group) 

Links to other 
strategic plans 
where further 
detail is 
available 

(name of plan ) 

R
A
G 

1 New agreed Multi agency thresholds document in place.  This will replace the 
internal Children & Families threshold matrix of need. 

July 2011 Julia Cramp Carolyn 
Godfrey 

  G 

2 
Appropriate referrals are made to Social Care in a timely way which evidence 
early intervention where appropriate, CAF’s completed, TAC meetings taken 
place and evidences use of Gateway panels.  This will strongly link with CAF 
actions see number 2 

To begin 
September 
2011 

Julia Cramp  Carolyn 
Godfrey 

  A 

3 
       

4 
       

 

 

 

 

P
a
g
e
 8

3



 

 8

 

 

Risks 

 Description of risk for each objective, including financial pressures 

( number on left links to objective above) 

Impact  

 1 – 4* 

Likelihood 

 1 –  4*  

Total 
Score 

Comment/mitigation 

 

1 Poor multi agency response to agreed threshold document despite 
comprehensive multi agency consultation process 

2 3 6 Threshold document has been widely consulted upon with key 
partners and stakeholders and clear direction provided by the DCS. 

Alongside there will be refresher briefings and pro- active involvement 
of CAF co-ordinators to promote increasing understanding of the 
threshold document. 

Children & Families Social Care reps will attend all MAF’s to promote 
embedding of the threshold document. 

2      

3      

* Key         Impact 1 insignificant, 2 minor, 3 moderate and 4 significant.      Likelihood 1 rare, 2 unlikely, 3 possible and 4 almost certain.

P
a

g
e
 8

4



 

 9

5. Improved quality of referrals 

 

How will we know that we have been successful?  

 

 
Owner 

Success indicator/targets with dates 
 
( number on left links to objective above) 

RAG 

Baseline 2011/12 2012/13 2013/14 2014/15  

1 Rose 
Case 

Evidence that referrals received by Social 
care are appropriate and timely 

% of referrals “closed at 
referral” reduces from Sept 
2011 onwards. 

Reduced repeat referrals 

   A 

 

 Priority actions  

( number on left links to objective above)  

  

Completion 
Date 

Who is 
responsible 
for leading 
within which 
agency? 

Who is 
responsible 
for 
monitoring 
+ how? 

(Officer and 

group) 

Who is responsible for 
evaluating + how?  

(Officer and group) 

Links to other 
strategic plans 
where further 
detail is 
available 

(name of plan ) 

R
A
G 

1 Multi agency referral form to Social care to be reviewed to ensure that relevant 
information is being provided to assist in decision making in the Referral team 
and reduces time needing to be spent by Social Workers clarifying poor 
information.  This piece of work will be informed by the information provided by 
Dr Suzanne Regan and her extensive work with local authorities to get the “Front 
door “services right. 

October 
2011 

Rose Case Rebecca 
Barson 

Sharon Davies, SMT  A 

2 Script to be provided for Social Workers in the Referral team to ensure 
consistency of response to agencies in terms of reinforcing agreed thresholds 
and processes to promote earlier intervention 

September 
2011 

Rose Case Rebecca 
Barson 

Sharon Davies  A 

3 Any changes to the referral form to be shared with the LSCB and Children’s trust 
in order to improve the quality of information required. 

November 
2011 

Rebecca 
Barson 

Pam 
Robinson 

Carolyn Godfrey  A 

4 
Twice yearly reports to be provided to the Social Care Improvement Board which 
analyses referral activity to R&A. 

January 
2012 & July 
2012 

Rebecca 
Barson 

Sharon 
Davies 

Carolyn Godfrey, Social 
Care Improvement Board 

  

P
a
g
e
 8

5



 

 10

 

Risks 

 Description of risk for each objective, including financial pressures 

( number on left links to objective above) 

Impact  

 1 – 4* 

Likelihood 

 1 –  4*  

Total 
Score 

Comment/mitigation 

 

1 Poor understanding of multi agency thresholds, sign up to early intervention 2 3 6 Agreed multi agency threshold document agreed across all agencies 
to be circulated in July 2011 

2 
Managers & Social workers not skilled and confident to challenge 
professionals with regard to the quality of their referrals and expectations of 
what Children & Families Social care can provide 

2 2 4 Script and ongoing on the job training to be provided to all staff in 
R&A regarding this aspect of the work 

3 
Children and young people fall through the net between services at Level 2 
/3. 

2 2 4 Protocol in place to ensure that all cases are passed on to an 
appropriate lead professional through the CAF and Social care 
protocol. 

* Key         Impact 1 insignificant, 2 minor, 3 moderate and 4 significant.      Likelihood 1 rare, 2 unlikely, 3 possible and 4 almost certain.

P
a

g
e
 8

6



 

 11

6. Voice of the child 

 

How will we know that we have been successful?  

 
Owner 

Success indicator/targets with dates 
 
( number on left links to objective above) 

RAG 

Baseline 2011/12 2012/13 2013/14 2014/15  

1 Rose 
Case 

The views of children & young people are 
embedded in all assessments & plans and 
are seen as part of every assessment 

100% evidenced through 
Audit 

   G 

 

 Priority actions  

( number on left links to objective above)  

  

Completion 
Date 

Who is 
responsible 
for leading 
within 
which 
agency? 

Who is 
responsible 
for monitoring 
+ how? 

(Officer and 

group) 

Who is responsible for 
evaluating + how?  

(Officer and group) 

Links to other 
strategic plans 
where further 
detail is 
available 

(name of plan ) 

R
A
G 

1 The views of children and young people must be explicitly recorded as part of 
every assessment and it must be clear how the child’s view have influenced 
plans of work.  No assessments should be signed off by managers without this 
being explicitly recorded. 

August 2011 Rose Case  Rebecca 
Barson 

Sharon Davies  G 

2 
No Initial assessment should be authorised by a manager without the child or 
young person having been seen as part of the assessment process. 

August 2011 Rose Case Rebecca 
Barson 

Sharon Davies  G 

3 Ongoing programme of reflective case audits will monitor this aspect of the work 
in R&A service. 

September 
2011 

Rebecca 
Barson 

Sharon Davies Carolyn Godfrey, Social 
Care Improvement Board 

 G 

4 
Social Workers identified as needing training in this aspect of the work will be 
provided with training as part of their ongoing professional development plan 

September 
2011 

Rose Case Rebecca 
Barson 

Sharon Davies  G 

5 Initial Assessment and Core assessment forms to be reviewed to ensure that 
child’s views are given more prominence on the forms and information is 
requested earlier in forms than towards the end 

September 
2011 

Linda 
McCrum 

Rebecca 
Barson 

Sharon Davies  A 

Risks 

P
a
g
e
 8

7



 

 12

 Description of risk for each objective, including financial pressures 

( number on left links to objective above) 

Impact  

 1 – 4* 

Likelihood 

 1 –  4*  

Total 
Score 

Comment/mitigation 

 

1 Management are unclear of expectations relating to explicit recording of the 
child’s voice and all children to be seen as part of the assessment and 
planning process 

1 2 2 All managers across R&A are clear that assessments cannot be 
authorised without sufficient reference to the child or young persons 
voice being clearly recorded. 

2 
     

* Key         Impact 1 insignificant, 2 minor, 3 moderate and 4 significant.      Likelihood 1 rare, 2 unlikely, 3 possible and 4 almost certain.

P
a

g
e
 8

8



 

 13

7. Newly Qualified Social Workers 

How will we know that we have been successful?  

 
Owner 

Success indicator/targets with dates 
 
( number on left links to objective above) 

RAG 

Baseline 2011/12 2012/13 2013/14 2014/15  

1 Rose 
Case 

All NQSW’s are supported in their first year 
of practice in line with CWDC requirements 

100%    G 

 

 Priority actions  

( number on left links to objective above)  

  

Completion 
Date 

Who is 
responsible 
for leading 
within 
which 
agency? 

Who is 
responsible 
for monitoring 
+ how? 

(Officer and 

group) 

Who is responsible for 
evaluating + how?  

(Officer and group) 

Links to other 
strategic plans 
where further 
detail is 
available 

(name of plan ) 

R
A
G 

1 All NQSW’s have a reduced caseload of 90% to take account of the requirement 
that they engage with Wilts NQSW programme 

Starting July 
2011 

Janet 
Wilson 

Rebecca 
Barson 

Sharon Davies  G 

2 
All NQSW’s will receive fortnightly supervision and external supervision with the 
NQSW programme co-ordinator along with linking in with the NQSW 
programme. 

July 2011 Rose Case Rebecca 
Barson 

Sharon Davies  G 

3 
NQSW’s will not be allocated and responsible for cases of a child protection 
nature without appropriate joint investigation training.  NQSW’s will not lead and 
JI’s without JI training and shadowing more experienced staff.  Their readiness 
to work in the arena of child protection will be assessed and agreed with their 
supervisor in supervison. 

July 2011 Rose case  Rebecca 
Barson 

Sharon Davies  G 

Risks 

 Description of risk for each objective, including financial pressures 

( number on left links to objective above) 

Impact  

 1 – 4* 

Likelihood 

 1 –  4*  

Total 
Score 

Comment/mitigation 

 

1 NQSW’s do not receive adequate support 1 1 1 Management team is committed to supporting staff in their first year 
of practice and Wiltshire has a strong commitment and programme in 
place to support them. Dedicated half time training and development 
officer is in post with the NQSW & EPD specific support brief. 

* Key         Impact 1 insignificant, 2 minor, 3 moderate and 4 significant.      Likelihood 1 rare, 2 unlikely, 3 possible and 4 almost certain.

P
a
g
e
 8

9



 

 14

8. Ethnicity & Diversity 

 

How will we know that we have been successful?  

 
Owner 

Success indicator/targets with dates 
 
( number on left links to objective above) 

RAG 

Baseline 2011/12 2012/13 2013/14 2014/15  

1 Rose 
Case 

All assessments explicitly evidence equality 
and diversity issues 

100% evidenced through 
audit 

   A 

 

 Priority actions  

( number on left links to objective above)  

  

Completion 
Date 

Who is 
responsible 
for leading 
within 
which 
agency? 

Who is 
responsible 
for monitoring 
+ how? 

(Officer and 

group) 

Who is responsible for 
evaluating + how?  

(Officer and group) 

Links to other 
strategic plans 
where further 
detail is 
available 

(name of plan ) 

R
A
G 

1 All assessments to explicitly reference equality & diversity issues as they relate 
to the child, young person and their family.  Managers must not authorise 
assessments without ensuring that this is included with the assessment 

August 2011 Rose Case Rebecca 
Barson 

Sharon Davies  A 

2 All Social Workers and managers must complete the online E&D training along 
with the in house training focussing specifically on how E&D issues impact upon 
practice 

December 
2011 

Rose Case Rebecca 
Barson 

Sharon Davies  A 

3 
Ongoing programme of reflective case audits will monitor E&D issues and feed 
this into the Audit Action group 

September 
2011 

Rebecca 
Barson 

Sharon Davies Carolyn Godfrey  A 

4 
E&D issues to be discussed on every team meeting agenda September 

2011 
Rose Case Rebecca 

Barson 
Sharon Davies  A 

5 
Annual report to be presented to the Social Care Improvement Board updating 
on findings of the reflective audits which will include ethnicity and diversity 
issues. 

October 
2011 

Sarah Webb Ceri Burton , 
Audit Action 
group 

Carolyn Godfrey, Social 
Care Improvement Board 

 A 

 

 

 

 

P
a

g
e
 9

0



 

 15

Risks 

 Description of risk for each objective, including financial pressures 

( number on left links to objective above) 

Impact  

 1 – 4* 

Likelihood 

 1 –  4*  

Total 
Score 

Comment/mitigation 

 

1 Poor understanding of the need to incorporate E&D issues throughout the 
assessment process  

2 3 6 Managers committed to improving practice in this area and keeping 
high on the team agenda.  Assessments not including this key 
information will be returned to Social Workers for inclusion of the 
relevant information 

2 
Social Workers are not confident and do not reflect ethnicity and diversity 
issues clearly in their written work. 

3 3 9 Training in place including online E&D training along with specific 
training for Social Workers on how to integrate E&D issues into 
practice. 

* Key         Impact 1 insignificant, 2 minor, 3 moderate and 4 significant.      Likelihood 1 rare, 2 unlikely, 3 possible and 4 almost certain

P
a
g
e
 9

1



 

 16

 9. Multi agency Child Protection trained staff 

 

How will we know that we have been successful?  

 
Owner 

Success indicator/targets with dates 
 
( number on left links to objective above) 

RAG 

Baseline 2011/12 2012/13 2013/14 2014/15  

1 Sarah 
Webb 

All police officers involved in out of hours 
child protection work are trained 

    G 

 

 Priority actions  

( number on left links to objective above)  

  

Completion 
Date 

Who is 
responsible 
for leading 
within 
which 
agency? 

Who is 
responsible 
for monitoring 
+ how? 

(Officer and 

group) 

Who is responsible for 
evaluating + how?  

(Officer and group) 

Links to other 
strategic plans 
where further 
detail is 
available 

(name of plan ) 

R
A
G 

1 Police to facilitate their 24/7 rapid response supervisors wider on call 
responsibility for all Child Abuse investigation Team (CAIT) matters.   

July 2011 James 
Vaughan, 
Wiltshire 
Police 

Carolyn 
Godfrey 

  G 

2 
    

 
  

 

Risks 

 Description of risk for each objective, including financial pressures 

( number on left links to objective above) 

Impact  

 1 – 4* 

Likelihood 

 1 –  4*  

Total 
Score 

Comment/mitigation 

 

1 Insufficient sign up for need for CP training 2 2 4 Police have programme in place for training appropriate Police 
officers who may be called upon to undertake CP investigations out 
of hours 

 

* Key         Impact 1 insignificant, 2 minor, 3 moderate and 4 significant.      Likelihood 1 rare, 2 unlikely, 3 possible and 4 almost certain. 

P
a

g
e
 9

2



 

 17

 

Key Named officers in the plan 

Rose Case – Team Manager Referral & Assessment Service 

Rebecca Barson – Head of Service Operations/Community Safeguarding North & East ( Lead for R&A services) 

Sharon Davies – Service Director Children & Families and Integrated Youth Services 

Julia Cramp – Service Director Commissioning 

Carolyn Godfrey – Director Children’s Services 

Sarah Webb – Head of Strategic Safeguarding 

Janet Wilson – NQSW programme co-ordinator 

Linda McCrum  - Carefirst Development Officer 

Ceri Burton-  IRO Manager 

Sue Miluk, -PA to Service Director Children & Families 

James Vaughan- DC Superintendent, Head of Protective Services 

 

 

P
a
g
e
 9

3



P
a

g
e
 9

4

T
h

is
 p

a
g

e
 is

 in
te

n
tio

n
a
lly

 le
ft b

la
n
k



1 

 

Report to Social Care Improvement Board 12/09/11 
Referral and Assessment  

 

1. Purpose 
 
1.1 The purpose of this report is to update the board with regard to progress being made within 

the Referral & Assessment service. 
 
2. Background 
 
2.1 The two Referral & Assessment teams covering the North & East and South & West came 

together and went live on the 20th June 2011.  The reason for the change was largely due 
to a lack of consistency across the teams in terms of performance.  There were identified 
inconsistencies in terms of thresholds, timeliness, staff support and supervision and the 
approach of the management teams to manage the workloads of the team.  The service is 
now led and managed by one Head of Service. 

 
2.2 The R&A service, now based in Devizes, is managed by a single Team Manager and a 

team of five Assistant team managers who in turn manage a team of 20 FTE Social 
Workers.  There is a dedicated Business support team comprising a Locality Admin Team 
Leader and six business support staff who compliment the service. 
 

2.3 The R&A service is split into two functions with Social Workers dedicated to the Referral 
aspects and the Assessment element of the service.  This split has allowed for an 
improvement in timeliness and consistency of response across the county. 

 
3. Current Situation 
 
3.1 Unannounced Inspection 
 

The R&A service was subject of an Unannounced Inspection on the 28th & 29th June 2011.  
The Inspection sampled the quality and effectiveness of contact, referral and assessment 
arrangements and their impact on minimising any child abuse and neglect. They identified 
areas of strength and areas of practice that met requirements, with some areas for 
development. The majority of areas for development identified in the previous Inspection 
had been addressed and they were impressed with progress made. There were no serious 
weaknesses requiring priority action. The Inspectors commended the Crisis Intervention 
Service for providing highly effective and responsive provision to children and young people 
who need support in the evenings and weekend to allow them to stay with their families and 
or in placement. They also cited the Host family Scheme as a strength; this service was 
developed in conjunction with the Housing department to offer emergency placements for 
young homeless people, and as a result, a high proportion of young people have had their 
longer term requirements fully met.  

 
The Inspectors also found that the service met statutory guidance and was able to 
demonstrate: 
 
1. Adherence to the statutory timescales, with assessments making good use of historical 

information and risk and protective factors 
 
2. Prompt child protection conferences with good multi-agency involvement 
 
3. A good response by emergency duty 
 
4. Up to date case recording with improved quality since the last Inspection  
    
5. Improved supervision and management oversight 

 
6. Improved administrative support  

Page 95



2 

 

 
7. Regular case auditing 
 
8. A robust Social Care Improvement Board 
 
9. Progress in the use of the Common Assessment Framework 

 
Wiltshire Council has developed an Unannounced Inspection Action Plan to address the 
areas for development, which is monitored both by the Social care Improvement Board and 
the LSCB.  

 
Improvements are being made in the following key areas identified by Ofsted 
 
1. Managers are ensuring that strategy discussions involve at least three agencies from 

health, education, police and social care and these will be audited regularly by the QA 
sub group of the LSCB. 

 
2. The  police child abuse and protection team ( CAIT) have strengthened their out of 

hours response providing senior cover 24/7 in response to issues raised by Ofsted; they 
did this with immediate effect. 

 
3. The Referral and Assessment Service is continuing its improvement journey 

undertaking work with Professor Suzanne Regan and Professor David Thorpe to get 
the “ front door” right. The Team Manager is managing the streamlined referral and 
assessment service and noticeable improvements have already been made in the 
quality and timeliness of assessments. 

 
4.  Innovative service developments are underway to develop an integrated management 

and information sharing service “MASH” involving the police  and other agencies to 
improve the service offered at point of referral. 

 
5. Improvements are being made in multi agency understanding of thresholds with the 

introduction of a new multi-agency threshold document; this will be supported by further 
strengthening of the CAF and the provision of a step up and step down referral process 
to duty. 

 
6. The quality of information in referrals received by the service will be improved by the 

review of the multi agency referral form. Further work will be under-taken to develop a 
consistent response by the Referral and Assessment Team and this will be audited and 
monitored by the Social Care Improvement Board. 

 
7.  All children will be seen as part of the assessment process and the manager will ensure 

that no assessment is signed off without the child being seen. 
 

8. Support to newly qualified social workers will be enhanced. Managers will ensure that 
they have reduced caseloads, have fortnightly supervision, participate in the newly 
qualified development programme ( CWDC) and receive Joint Investigation training 
when required. All NQSW will receive child protection training before they are allocated 
child protection cases. Assistant team managers and senior social workers will mentor 
and coach as necessary and provide the opportunity for joint working on complex 
cases. Co-working will be established for newcomers to child protection. 

 
9. Improvements will be made to address ethnicity and diversity issues by the further 

provision of equalities training and workshops, provision of  reflective case audits and 
managerial oversight. Progress will be reported to the Social care Improvement Board 
on an annual basis.   

 

Page 96



3 

 

10. The voice of the child and their family will be central to assessments undertaken. This 
focus will be strengthened by the provision of training, reflective case audits, 
managerial oversight and re-design of assessment forms.  

4. Team Workloads 
 
4.1 When the service came together in June 2011 there were 1090 children open to both 

Referral &    Assessment teams.  This was broken down into 690 open to the South & West 
team and 400 in the North & East team.  Under the leadership of the Team Manager all of 
the open cases from the South & West have been reviewed and risk assessed.  Current 
workloads for the service are now 589 children.  This review of the service workload means 
that Social Workers have manageable caseloads.  Work is being consistently managed in a 
timely way both in terms of assessment, intervention and transfer of cases into 
Safeguarding and Looked after children’s service.  This means that children being worked 
with by the Referral & Assessment service are more effectively safeguarded which in turn 
promotes positive outcomes for children and young people. 

 
5. Supervision 
 
5.1 Prior to the amalgamation of the teams it was highlighted that there was an inconsistent 

approach to   supervision and support for the Social Workers across both teams.  Since 
becoming a single service all Social Workers are receiving at least monthly supervision.  
Newly Qualified Social Workers are receiving fortnightly supervision and are linked in with 
the NQSW programme. Appraisals are in place for all Social Workers.  Frequency of 
supervision is monitored through a central countywide system and is overseen by the 
Service Director for Children & Families and Integrated Youth service. 

 
6. Performance 
 
6.1 Since the creation of the two specialist Referral & Assessment teams in July 2010 

performance across the teams was inconsistent.  Since June 2011 there has been a 
significant improvement in timeliness of the R&A service responses relating to Initial and 
Core assessments.  In both key areas timeliness has improved significantly.  In 2010/11 the 
outturn in relation to Initial Assessments across Wiltshire was 58% which was below 
comparator authorities and national performance.  As a result performance in these two key 
areas has been reported to the Social Care Improvement Board.  

 
6.2 To date in the 10 weeks since the team went live the average weekly performance for the 

Referral & Assessment service in relation to Initial assessments is significantly improved, 
averaging 83.22% completed within 7 days and 91.76 % completed within 10 days. This is 
set against overall performance for Wiltshire of 79.7% of IA’s completed within 7days and 
85% completed within 10 days.  The target for Wiltshire in 2011/12 is 75%, compared to 
statistical neighbours which is 65% and a national picture of 67.3%. 

 
6.3 With regard to performance of completion of Core assessments the Referral & Assessment 

service is currently 83% completed within 35 working days.  Overall in Wiltshire to date 
completion of Core assessments is 82.2% just below the target set.  This is set against 
comparator completion rate of 66% and a national figure of 78%. 

 
6.4 There is now a strong culture of performance within the Referral & Assessment service led 

by the Referral & Assessment service manager. 
 
7. Future Developments 
 
7.1 We recognise that whilst considerable progress has been achieved in a short space of time, 

there is still work to be done to work towards an outstanding service.  We are ambitious and 
seek to improve the quality of the service that we provide to the children, young people and 
their families in Wiltshire.  There are three key strands of work which the R&A service will 
be engaged with over the next 12 months. 

 

Page 97



4 

 

 
 

 
8. Front Door Service Developments 
 
8.1 We have begun a programme of work with Dr Suzanne Regan who has worked with a 

number of local authorities to assist them in transforming their “front door” services.  Dr 
Regan has undertaken considerable work with Dr David Thorpe who advocates the 
Scandinavian model of service delivery which promotes effective early intervention through 
signposting, and a multi agency approach to the intervention post assessment. Dr Regan 
visited Wiltshire and spent time analysing practice.  This work will be continued through the 
autumn. 

 
9. Development of a Multi Agency Safeguarding Hub 
 
9.1 We are working with key partners across Wiltshire police, Health and Education colleagues 

to develop a Multi Agency Safeguarding Hub (MASH).  The proposed development of these 
key partners aims to promote effective early information sharing, joint risk management & 
contribute to effective decision making in relation to the need for intervention and 
assessment in families.  An operational group comprising key partners led by Nigel Boulton 
of Nib consulting has been created.  Nigel was instrumental in the inception and creation of 
the Devon MASH.  The first meeting of the operational group to take forward the MASH 
developments in Wiltshire took place on the 8th September 2011.  A business case will be 
presented to the Strategic Board in October 2011.  This development will build on strong 
partnerships already in existence. 

 
10. Unannounced Action Plan 
 
10.1 The management team of the R& A service will be working to implement the Unannounced 

Action Plan in order to build upon the progress made to date and to further strengthen case 
planning and management. 

 
11. Recommendations 
 
11.1 For the Social Care Improvement Board to note the progress made and to continue to keep 

this key area of service under review to ensure that effective arrangements are in place 
across Wiltshire to safeguard children and young people. 

 
 
 
 
Author: Rebecca Barson 
Head of Service Community Safeguarding North & East 
Lead for Referral & Assessment Service 

 
 

Date:   12/09/11 
 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 

Page 98



Wiltshire Council       
Children’s Services Select Committee 
27 September 2011 
 

 
Multi-Agency Thresholds Document 
 

1. This report is to brief members on the new Multi-agency Thresholds document 
that is currently being used in Wiltshire. 

 
2. It is good practice for local areas to have this type of document to provide clarity 

for all professionals working with children and young people so that there is a 
common understanding of levels of need and support together with an outline of 
processes to access additional services. 

 
3. Following consultation, a revised version of the Multi-Agency Thresholds 

document was distributed to schools and other partner agencies in July.  A copy 
of the document is attached to this report. It sets out revised processes for 
accessing support for children and young people with additional needs and also 
provides guidance on making decisions on service thresholds to everyone who 
works with children and young people.   

 
4. The revised system set out in the document took effect in September.  In line with 

feedback from schools and other agencies, requests for support from a single 
service will be made on the new Single Agency Referral Form. This is the list of 
services that can be accessed via completion of the SARF 

 
Behaviour Support 
Education Psychology 
Education Welfare 
Ethnic Minority Achievement Service (EMAS) 
Sensory Service (visual and hearing impairment) 
Specialist SEN Service (SSENS) 
Traveller Education Service 
Speech and Language Therapy (through Health) 

Integrated Youth Services 
 
 
5. The CAF will continue to be completed where there is a need for more than one 

service or the child/young person’s needs are not well understood.  It is also 
expected that a CAF will be completed for the vast majority of children and young 
people at risk of, or about to be, permanently excluded as there is evidence that 
these are some of our most vulnerable children and young people.   

 
6. The committee is asked to note this report. 
 
 
 
CAROLYN GODFREY 
Corporate Director, Department for Children and Education 
 

 
Report author: Julia Cramp, Service Director for Commissioning and Performance, 
Department for Children and Education. 13/09/2011 

Agenda Item 11

Page 99



Page 100

This page is intentionally left blank



Wiltshire Children and Young People’s Trust

Multi-Agency Thresholds Document: 

Accessing the right level of support for children and 

young people with additional needs 

DATE:  JULY 2011          Page 1 of 37

Version 5.0 

Page 101



Multi-Agency Thresholds Document v5.0 – July 2011 

Contents 

FOREWORD ..........................................................................................................................................3

FIG. 1. “WHAT TO DO” - FLOWCHART .......................................................................................................5

FIG. 2. THRESHOLDS OF NEED (THE “WINDSCREEN” DIAGRAM) .........................................................10

FIG. 3. DEVELOPMENT OF CHILD OR YOUNG PERSON 1 - HEALTH........................................................12

FIG. 4. DEVELOPMENT OF CHILD OR YOUNG PERSON 2 – BEHAVIOUR ETC..........................................13

FIG. 5. DEVELOPMENT OF CHILD OR YOUNG PERSON 3 - LEARNING ....................................................15

FIG. 6. PARENTS AND CARERS.................................................................................................................16

FIG. 7. FAMILY & ENVIRONMENTAL FACTORS.......................................................................................17

APPENDIX 1: CAF PATHWAY FOR EXPECTANT YOUNG MOTHERS...........................19

APPENDIX 2: SINGLE AGENCY REFERRAL FORM (SARF)...........................................20

APPENDIX 3: PROTOCOL FOR MANAGING THE INTERFACE BETWEEN CAF AND 

CHILDREN’S SOCIAL CARE.........................................................................................................28

APPENDIX 4: THRESHOLD CRITERIA AND REFERRALS TO HEALTHY MINDS AND 

SPECIALIST CAMHS .....................................................................................................................30

DATE:  JULY 2011                                         Page 2 of 37 

Version 5.0 

Page 102



Multi-Agency Thresholds Document v5.0 – July 2011 

DATE:  JULY 2011                                         Page 3 of 37 

Version 5.0 

Foreword

We all want better lives for children and young people.  Most children do well, but some have 

significant disadvantages that currently are only addressed when they become serious.  

Sometimes their parents know there is a problem but struggle to know how to get help.  We 

want to identify these children and young people earlier and work in a coordinated, integrated 

way to help them before things reach crisis point. 

This document is intended to provide an overview of Wiltshire’s model of integrated working 

within children’s services, and also to give some guidance about making decisions on service 

thresholds to everyone who works with children and young people.  Working with children and 

families and identifying their needs is not an exact science and there is no substitute for sound 

professional judgement, dialogue and good knowledge of local services.  This document does 

not seek to replace professional skills and knowledge but to offer professionals an overview of 

indicators and guidance on the need for assessment of a particular kind and at a particular level.

This document indicates thresholds broadly agreed between organisations represented in 

Wiltshire’s Children and Young People’s Trust. 

It cannot be stressed strongly enough that thresholds should not be seen as barriers; 

thresholds are a guide to professional decision-making to support the over-riding purpose 

that children, young people and families are able to access the right service to build 

resilience, improve life chances, and keep children and young people safe. 

For specific information about children and young people with special educational needs, 

please refer to the Wiltshire Indicators and Provision Document (July 2011) for information 

about provision at different levels of the SEN Code of Practice.  

       

Carolyn Godfrey Councillor Lionel Grundy OBE 

Director – Dept. for Children & 

Education

Cabinet Member for Children’s 

Services

Pam Robinson 

Independent Chair – Local Safeguarding 

Children Board 

Page 103



Multi-Agency Thresholds Document v5.0 – July 2011 

Accessing support for children with additional needs

In Wiltshire, the model for integrated working takes into account levels of need when 

determining service provision to support children and young people.  The aim of the model is 

to provide clarity on when children and young people can be supported through universal 

services and the process for accessing both targeted and specialist services.  This includes the 

use of the Common Assessment Framework (CAF) and when a Lead Professional is required.

The overall aim of the model is to: 

! Identify additional needs at the earliest stage; 

! Ensure that the needs of children and young people are met by the most appropriate 

services at the right level: 

! Reduce the numbers of children and young people requiring specialist services from 

children’s social care through effective earlier intervention. 

! Build individual, family and community resilience (in line with Wiltshire’s Children 

and Young People’s Trust’s overall vision). 

The key elements within Wiltshire’s model of integrated working are: 

! Early support within universal settings; 

! Decision by the local Multi-Agency Forum or by a frontline professional on whether a 

child or young person’s difficulty can be resolved through a single agency or whether a 

CAF should be completed; 

! Completion of CAF and bringing together a Team Around the Child (TAC) to provide 

support;

! Gateway Panels for when a CAF Completer or Lead Professional requires additional 

help to ensure there is an effective response to a completed CAF; 

! A protocol covering the interface between Social Care and the CAF to ensure that there 

is effective step-up/step down between targeted and specialist services. 

! Risk Management Panels for a small number of very vulnerable young people who are 

already at Level 3 (Youth Offending Team, specialist Child and Adolescent Mental 

Health Services and Children’s Social Care). 

The flowchart in Figure 1 provides an overview of how to ensure that the needs of children and 

young people are met by the most appropriate services at the right level. 

There is a specific CAF pathway for all pregnant young women who are under 18 at the point 

of conception (see Appendix 1). Further information can be found on the Pathways website at 

www.wiltshirepathways.org.

DATE:  JULY 2011                                         Page 4 of 37 

Version 5.0 

Page 104



Multi-Agency Thresholds Document v5.0 – July 2011 

DATE:  JULY 2011                                         Page 5 of 37 

Version 5.0 

Fig. 1. “What to do” - flowchart

Page 105



Multi-Agency Thresholds Document v5.0 – July 2011 

Early support within universal settings 

It is better to identify problems early at the pre-CAF stage and intervene effectively to prevent 

the difficulty becoming more acute – this is better for individuals, families and society as it 

avoids personal suffering, reduces social problems and is potentially more cost-effective.  

Targeted early intervention and support within universal settings does work, for example, the 

‘Every Child’ programmes have been shown to enable children to make good progress in 

reading and speech.  All schools should now have access to the Triple P Positive Parenting 

Programme through Parenting Support Advisors.  Children’s Centres also deliver a range of 

parenting support programmes including the Webster Stratton Programme.  Many schools and 

Children’s Centres also have some access to counselling services or Health and Wellbeing 

Drop-in sessions where children and young people and parents can receive support.

A range of educational support services, integrated youth services and community health 

services such as Speech and Language Therapy can also be accessed through the Single 

Agency Referral Form (SARF) - for use when a single service is required.  The Form is 

included in Appendix 2. 

Role of the Multi-Agency Forum (MAF) 

In most localities (community areas) across Wiltshire, early years practitioners, primary and 

secondary schools and partner agencies meet on a regular basis to discuss how best to support 

individual children and young people who have been identified as requiring additional help.

Although membership of MAFs varies across the County, an effective MAF is likely to have 

input from the range of educational inclusion support services (ie, Early Years Inclusion 

Advisers, Educational Psychology, Education Welfare, Behaviour Support and Specialist SEN 

Service (SSENS), Integrated Youth Services, community health services and the voluntary 

sector).  Children’s Social Care will also endeavour to attend MAF meetings to contribute to 

discussions about individual children and young people and to support colleagues in working 

with families who do not meet social care thresholds.   

The MAF is well-placed to help support decision-making on whether referral to a single 

service is needed or whether the difficulty is multi-faceted and is likely to require support from 

two or more additional services (actively working with the child/family at the same time).  

Many professionals within schools, local authority services and community health services will 

feel able to make this decision without discussion with other professionals.  However, where a 

decision is less clear-cut, discussion at a MAF may be useful. 

To help make this decision, MAFs may wish to make use of the national pre-CAF checklist or 

other local tools that can help identify vulnerable children and young people. 

All children and young people discussed at a MAF should be anonymised, unless it is 

clear that parents and the young person have given permission for their details to be 

shared with a range of professionals. 

If it is agreed that a referral should be made to a single service, then the Single Agency 

Referral Form (SARF) should be used.  If a decision is made that a child or family is likely to 

need a range of support services, then the MAF should agree who will complete the CAF 

assessment.  Further help on deciding whether a SARF or CAF should be completed can be 

provided by the CAF Team.  If you have concerns about a child or young person suffering or 

DATE:  JULY 2011                                         Page 6 of 37 

Version 5.0 

Page 106



Multi-Agency Thresholds Document v5.0 – July 2011 

being at risk of suffering significant harm, please follow Child Protection procedures which 

can be viewed at www.swcpp.org.uk.

Completion of CAF and bringing together a Team Around the Child 

A CAF should be completed when a child/young person’s needs are not well understood or the 

help of two or more services is needed.  It is also expected that a CAF will be completed for 

the majority of children and young people at risk of, or about to be, permanently excluded.  

There is evidence that these are some of our most vulnerable children and young people.  

Within early years, a CAF is always required as part of the evidence for decision-making in 

relation to 2 year old funding for nursery care for disadvantaged children. 

A CAF assessment cannot take place without the involvement and consent of the parent 

(or young person, if appropriate) and there must be agreement for sharing information 

with relevant agencies that can provide support.  A copy of all completed CAFs needs to 

be sent to the Wiltshire Council DCE Coordination Team at County Hall, Trowbridge, 

BA14 8JN for registration.  The Coordination Team should also be informed when a 

CAF is closed, following intervention and a successful outcome or referral to Level 3.

The person who completes the CAF should then arrange a Team Around the Child meeting 

(TAC).  The CAF Coordinators may be able to provide advice on who to involve and to help 

arrange this meeting if the CAF completer has any difficulty with this task.  The CAF Team 

can be contacted on 01225 713884.  The initial TAC meeting should be held as soon as 

possible after completion of the CAF and preferably within 15 working days of completion of 

the CAF.  The CAF completer acts as the Lead Professional until the TAC meeting at which 

point the role may be re-allocated. 

Parents/carers and the child/young person should be invited to attend the TAC meeting.  The 

focus of the initial meeting should be on developing an intervention plan with/for the family, 

including agreement on what the family wishes to change and how progress will be measured.  

The initial TAC meeting should also clarify who is best placed to act as the Lead Professional.  

TAC meetings should be held regularly (every 6 – 8 weeks) to ensure the intervention plan is 

meeting the identified needs.  When an intervention plan has been in place for six months, the 

TAC members and parent/young person will need to agree if the identified needs have been 

addressed, whether the plan needs to be amended or if a referral should be made to the 

Gateway Panel or advice sought from the Social Care Referral and Assessment Team. 

A parent has the right to refuse support.  It is important to record in your own agency that a 

CAF was offered and the parent or young person refused to consent to the process.  The 

practitioner should continue to monitor the child’s progress, and if the concerns are not 

addressed should contact the CAF Team for advice. 

Where there have been three CAF enquiries to the CAF Register about a child who has no 

recorded CAF, the CAF Co-ordinator will seek advice from a Duty Manager in the Social Care 

Referral and Assessment Team to decide whether statutory intervention is necessary. 

Role of the Gateway Panels 

The main purpose of the Gateway panels is to discuss children and young people where: 

DATE:  JULY 2011                                         Page 7 of 37 

Version 5.0 

Page 107



Multi-Agency Thresholds Document v5.0 – July 2011 

! A CAF has been completed, but the CAF Completer/Lead Professional is finding it 

difficult to identify appropriate agencies to help, or those identified agencies are 

unwilling or unable to provide support or 

! TAC meetings have been held, but there are still unmet or escalating needs and the 

Lead Professional and agencies involved want additional support and advice to ensure 

that the child or young person’s needs are met.  This may include input from another 

service.

The CAF completer or lead professional will therefore need to identify children and 

young people to be discussed at Gateway Panels and contact the CAF Team. 

The Gateway Panels will operate on the basis of the four hubs across Wiltshire – North, South, 

East and West.  The Panels will meet on a fortnightly basis and will be attended by Managers 

from local authority children’s services, community health services, the voluntary sector and 

the police.  Representatives from schools are welcome to attend Gateway Panels.  It is helpful 

if the person who initiated the CAF attends or sends a representative (although it may be 

possible to hold a telephone conference call).  A senior manager will be nominated to chair 

each Gateway Panel (this is likely to be on a rotating basis and the Chair could be from any 

agency involved). 

The administration of the Gateway Panels will be undertaken by the CAF Coordinators.  The 

person sending in the CAF will receive an email acknowledgement (referring to the child or 

young person by their initials) and information on the date the child or young person’s needs 

will be discussed.   

All Gateway Panels will operate to an agreed protocol and will record the outcomes of 

discussions on a standard decision-sheet.  This will be signed off by the Chair of the Gateway 

Panel, with a copy sent to the CAF completer/Lead Professional.  A copy of the completed 

decision-sheet will also be held on the CAF Register alongside the completed CAF assessment. 

Interface between CAF and Children’s Social Care 

The Common Assessment Framework (CAF) is a national tool to support early identification 

of a child’s/family’s needs that cannot be met within universal services (Level 1)  and to ensure 

that there is a co-ordinated response where several  targeted services (Level 2) are involved in 

providing support.  Effective use of the CAF and improved integrated working by targeted 

services should ensure that Children’s Social Care (Levels 3 and 4) are able to focus resources 

on those children and families with the highest levels of need. 

Wiltshire has produced a protocol (see Appendix 3) covering how the Referral and Assessment 

Team within Children’s Social Care needs to work closely with the CAF Team to ensure that 

support is provided at the most appropriate level and that children and families do not slip 

through the net between targeted services (level 2) and Children’s Social Care (levels 3 and 4).   

CAF Co-ordinators will liaise regularly with the Referral and Assessment Team to promote a 

better understanding of each other’s roles and to enable this protocol to become embedded. 

There is now a single Referral and Assessment Team based at Browfort in Devizes.  The team 

can be contacted on 01380 733567 or by email on referrals@wiltshire.gov.uk.  It is always 

helpful to contact a Duty Social Worker to discuss your concerns before making a referral to 

Children’s Social Care.  This will allow for a speedier response and enable the Referral and 

Assessment Team to gather all information required or to assist the referrer in obtaining 

support if the matter does not meet the threshold for social care. 

DATE:  JULY 2011                                         Page 8 of 37 

Version 5.0 

Page 108



Multi-Agency Thresholds Document v5.0 – July 2011 

Risk Management Panels 

These Panels will focus on how we can more effectively manage high risk and 

vulnerability/safeguarding for a ‘critical few’ young people in Wiltshire.  The Risk 

Management Panels will take a multi-agency approach to manage the risks presented by a 

small number of vulnerable adolescents at risk of significant harm to themselves through 

severe self-harm, offending, sexual exploitation, substance misuse, mental health difficulties, 

lack of family support, chaotic living arrangements and absconding.  Young people will only 

be referred to the Risk Management Panel when they have already been allocated to a Level 3 

service through Youth Offending, the Substance Misuse and Harm Reduction Service 

(Motiv8), specialist Child and Adolescent Mental Health Services or Children’s Social Care.

Some young people may be immediately allocated a Level 3 service without being subject to 

CAF and Team Around the Child.  For further information about the process of referring 

young people to the Risk Management Panel, please contact the Head of Service – Integrated 

Youth within Wiltshire Council (mal.munday@wiltshire.gov.uk). 

DATE:  JULY 2011                                         Page 9 of 37 

Version 5.0 

Page 109



Multi-Agency Thresholds Document v5.0 – July 2011 

DATE:  JULY 2011                                         Page 10 of 37 

Version 5.0 

Overview of levels of need

Wiltshire’s Children’s Trust has agreed a framework for helping professionals to identify 

which level of need a child/family is likely to meet.   

Fig. 2.  Thresholds of Need (the “Windscreen” diagram) 

Level 1  These are children and young people who make overall good progress in all areas of 

their development.  These children are likely to have a protective environment where their 

needs are recognised and well met.  These children require no additional support beyond 

that which us universally available.  A common assessment is not needed for these children. 

Level 2a  A child or young person would fall within this band if they can be defined as 

needing some additional support from a single service without which they would be at 

risk of not meeting their full potential.  The support they need may relate to their health, 

educational, or social development.  If ignored these issues may develop into more worrying 

concerns for the child or young person under level 2 or 3.

Level 2b  Children and young people who fall into this band would be defined as having needs 

that are complex in range, depth, and significance.  It is likely that if these needs are not met 

their health, social development, or educational attainment may be significantly impaired and 

they may have poor long term outcomes.  Children in this band may be very vulnerable or 

living in considerable adversity.  A child in this band will need the support of more than one 

professional.  A CAF will be completed and the lead professional will ensure that support and 

services for a particular child are coordinated and provided in an integrated, effective way 

(through putting in place a Team Around the Child – TAC). 

Level 3  A child or young person who falls into this band is defined as requiring specialist 

help. It is likely that for these children their needs and care are at present very significantly 

compromised.  Only a small proportion of children will fall within this band.  These children 

will be those who are highly vulnerable or living in the greatest level of adversity.  Children at 

Page 110



Multi-Agency Thresholds Document v5.0 – July 2011 

this level will require specialist assessment and support from statutory services, for example 

social care, CAMHS, Youth Offending Service, SEN. 

Level 4  represents children and young people with acute needs – this will require a specialist 

or statutory integrated response.  This is also the level at which child protection intervention is 

necessary and in many cases a joint social worker and police investigation is required (Section 

47 Children Act 1989) followed by multi-agency protection planning. 

It is inevitable that children will move from one level of need to another.  As the children and 

family’s needs increase additional services may be required and in some instances delivered 

within a legal framework.  The transition from one level of service to another should happen 

seamlessly to ensure that information is shared appropriately – this applies equally to children 

and families moving ‘downwards’ from Level 3 or 4 to Level 2 support.  It is crucial that the 

‘baton’ is never dropped between different levels of service. 

Descriptor Tables 

The descriptors that follow are designed to assist professional judgement in working out at 

which level a child/young person’s needs should be met. They are not a checklist to be used 

mechanically.  In some cases, the interpretation and significance of the descriptor clearly 

depends on the age of the child/young person. 

For children and young people with special educational needs, the Wiltshire Indicators and 

Provision Document (July 2011) provides more detailed information about appropriate levels 

of support in accordance with the SEN Code of Practice. 

Note: The tables are an illustrative rather than comprehensive list of indicators.

DATE:  JULY 2011                                         Page 11 of 37 

Version 5.0 

Page 111



M
u

lt
i-

A
g

en
cy

 T
h

re
sh

o
ld

s 
D

o
cu

m
en

t 
v

5
.0

 –
 J

u
ly

 2
0
1

1

D
A

T
E

: 
 J

U
L

Y
 2

0
1
1

  
  
  
  
  

P
ag

e 
1

2
 o

f 
3

7

V
er

si
o
n
 5

.0
 

F
ig

. 
3

. 
D

ev
el

o
p

m
en

t 
o
f 

C
h

il
d

 o
r 

Y
o
u

n
g

 P
er

so
n

 1
 -

 H
ea

lt
h

C
h

il
d

re
n

 &
 Y

o
u

n
g

 P
eo

p
le

 w
h

o
 n

ee
d

 a
d

d
it

io
n

a
l 

h
el

p
 

L
ev

el
 1

 –
 R

eq
u

ir
es

 u
n

iv
er

sa
l 

se
rv

ic
es

 o
n

ly
 

L
ev

el
 2

 (
a 

an
d

 b
) 

L
ev

el
 3

 
L

ev
el

 4
 

General health 

!
P

h
y

si
ca

ll
y

 w
el

l 

!
A

d
eq

u
at

e 
d

ie
t/

h
y

g
ie

n
e/

cl
o

th
in

g
 

D
ev

el
o

p
m

en
ta

l 

ch
ec

k
s/

im
m

u
n

is
at

io
n

s 
u

p
 t

o
 d

at
e 

R
eg

u
la

r 
d

en
ta

l/
o

p
ti

ca
l 

ca
re

  

!
H

ea
lt

h
 a

p
p

o
in

tm
en

ts
 a

re
 k

ep
t 

!
C

o
n

ce
rn

s 
re

 d
ie

t/
h

y
g

ie
n

e/
cl

o
th

in
g

 

!
D

ef
au

lt
in

g
 o

n
 i

m
m

u
n

is
at

io
n

/c
h

ec
k

s 

!
S

ta
rt

in
g

 t
o

 d
ef

au
lt

 o
n

 h
ea

lt
h

 

ap
p

o
in

tm
en

ts
  

!
N

o
t 

re
g

is
te

re
d

 w
it

h
 G

P
/d

en
ti

st
 

!
O

v
er

w
ei

g
h

t/
u

n
d

er
w

ei
g

h
t

!
E

n
co

p
re

si
s/

en
u

re
si

s 
 

!
L

o
w

 l
ev

el
 s

u
b

st
an

ce
 m

is
u

se
  

!
A

&
E

 a
tt

en
d

an
ce

 g
iv

in
g

 c
au

se
 f

o
r 

co
n

ce
rn

!
F

ai
lu

re
 t

o
 a

cc
es

s 
ad

eq
u

at
e 

h
ea

lt
h

 

ca
re

!
P

re
g

n
an

cy
 i

n
 y

o
u

n
g

 p
er

so
n
  

!
S

ig
n

if
ic

an
t 

fa
il

u
re

 t
o

 t
h

ri
v

e 
 

!
C

h
ro

n
ic

 h
ea

lt
h

 p
ro

b
le

m
s 

w
it

h
 a

 

se
v
er

e 
im

p
ac

t 
o
n
 e

v
er

y
d

ay
 

fu
n

ct
io

n
in

g
 

!
P

er
si

st
en

t 
ex

ce
ss

iv
e 

al
co

h
o

l 

co
n

su
m

p
ti

o
n

, 
sm

o
k

in
g

 o
r 

o
th

er
 

su
b
st

an
ce

 m
is

u
se

  

!
S

er
io

u
s 

m
en

ta
l 

h
ea

lt
h

 i
ss

u
es

, 

in
cl

u
d

in
g

 s
ig

n
if

ic
an

t 
se

lf
-h

ar
m

 a
n

d
 

su
ic

id
e 

at
te

m
p

ts
 

!
M

u
lt

ip
le

 A
&

E
 a

tt
en

d
an

ce
s 

ca
u

si
n

g
 

co
n

ce
rn

!
C

la
ss

 A
/s

er
io

u
s 

d
ru

g
 m

is
u

se
 

!
A

cu
te

 m
en

ta
l 

h
ea

lt
h

 i
ss

u
es

 

!
S

u
sp

ec
te

d
 n

o
n

-a
cc

id
en

ta
l 

in
ju

ry
/a

b
u

se
/n

eg
le

ct
 

!
N

o
n

-o
rg

an
ic

 f
ai

lu
re

 t
o

 t
h

ri
v

e 

Health – physical 

development

!
D

ev
el

o
p

m
en

ta
l 

m
il

es
to

n
es

 m
et

 i
n

 

re
la

ti
o

n
 t

o
 f

in
e 

an
d

 g
ro

ss
 m

o
to

r 

sk
il

ls
 a

n
d

 v
is

io
n

 a
n

d
 h

ea
ri

n
g

  

!
A

g
e 

ap
p

ro
p

ri
at

e 
in

v
o

lv
em

en
t 

in
 

p
h

y
si

ca
l 

ac
ti

v
it

y
 

!
S

lo
w

 i
n

 r
ea

ch
in

g
 d

ev
el

o
p

m
en

ta
l 

m
il

es
to

n
es

!
S

er
io

u
s 

d
ev

el
o

p
m

en
ta

l 
d

el
ay

  

!
S

ig
n

if
ic

an
t 

p
h

y
si

ca
l 

d
is

ab
il

it
y

 

Speech, language & 

communicationA
g

e 
ap

p
ro

p
ri

at
e 

d
ev

el
o

p
m

en
t 

in
 r

el
at

io
n
 

to
:

!
W

il
li

n
g

n
es

s 
to

 c
o

m
m

u
n

ic
at

e 
  

!
V

er
b

al
 a

n
d

 n
o

n
 v

er
b

al
 

co
m

p
re

h
en

si
o

n
 L

an
g
u

ag
e 

st
ru

ct
u

re
 

an
d

 v
o

ca
b

u
la

ry
 a

n
d

 a
rt

ic
u

la
ti

o
n

  

!
F

lu
en

cy
 o

f 
sp

ee
ch

 a
n

d
 c

o
n

fi
d

en
ce

 

!
R

el
u

ct
an

t 
co

m
m

u
n

ic
at

o
r

!
N

o
t 

u
n

d
er

st
an

d
in

g
 a

g
e 

ap
p

ro
p

ri
at

e 

in
st

ru
ct

io
n

s

!
C

o
n

fu
se

d
 b

y
 n

o
n

 v
er

b
al

 

co
m

m
u

n
ic

at
io

n
 

!
D

if
fi

cu
lt

y
 l

is
te

n
in

g
 f

o
r 

an
 

ap
p

ro
p

ri
at

e 
le

n
g

th
 o

f 
ti

m
e 

 

!
Im

m
at

u
re

 s
tr

u
ct

u
re

 o
f 

ex
p
re

ss
iv

e 

la
n

g
u

ag
e

!
S

p
ee

ch
 s

o
u

n
d

s 
im

m
at

u
re

 

!
S

ev
er

e 
d

is
o

rd
er

 a
n

d
 i

m
p

ai
rm

en
t 

in
 

u
n

d
er

st
an

d
in

g
 s

p
o

k
en

 l
an

g
u

ag
e 

!
C

o
m

m
u

n
ic

at
io

n
 d

if
fi

cu
lt

ie
s 

h
av

e 
a 

se
v
er

e 
im

p
ac

t 
o
n
 e

v
er

y
d

ay
 l

if
e 

!
R

eq
u

ir
es

 a
lt

er
n

at
iv

e 
o

r 
au

g
m

en
te

d
 

m
ea

n
s 

o
f 

co
m

m
u

n
ic

at
io

n
 

Page 112



D
A

T
E

: 
 J

U
L

Y
 2

0
1

1
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
  
  
  
  
 P

ag
e 

1
3
 o

f 
3

7
 

V
er

si
o

n
 5

.0
 

F
ig

. 
4

. 
D

ev
el

o
p

m
en

t 
o
f 

C
h

il
d

 o
r 

Y
o
u

n
g

 P
er

so
n

 2
 –

 B
eh

a
vi

o
u

r 
et

c

C
h

il
d

re
n

 &
 Y

o
u

n
g

 P
eo

p
le

 w
h

o
 n

ee
d

 a
d

d
it

io
n

a
l 

h
el

p
 

L
ev

el
 1

 –
 R

eq
u

ir
es

 u
n

iv
er

sa
l 

se
rv

ic
es

 o
n

ly
 

L
ev

el
 2

 (
a 

an
d

 b
) 

L
ev

el
 3

 
L

ev
el

 4
 

Emotional/Social

development

!
F

ee
li

n
g

s 
an

d
 a

ct
io

n
s 

d
em

o
n

st
ra

te
 

ap
p

ro
p

ri
at

e 
re

sp
o

n
se

s 

!
G

o
o

d
 q

u
al

it
y

 e
ar

ly
 a

tt
ac

h
m

en
ts

 

!
A

b
le

 t
o

 a
d

ap
t 

to
 c

h
an

g
e 

!
A

b
le

 t
o

 d
em

o
n

st
ra

te
 e

m
p

at
h
y

 

!
In

v
o

lv
ed

 i
n

 l
ei

su
re

 a
n

d
 o

th
er

  
so

ci
al

 

ac
ti

v
it

y
 

!
F

in
d

s 
it

 d
if

fi
cu

lt
 t

o
 c

o
p

e 
w

it
h

 a
n

g
er

 

o
r 

fr
u

st
ra

ti
o

n
 

!
D

if
fi

cu
lt

ie
s 

in
 r

el
at

io
n

sh
ip

s 
w

it
h

p
ee

r 
g

ro
u

p
 a

n
d

/o
r 

w
it

h
 a

d
u
lt

s 

!
O

v
er

fr
ie

n
d

ly
 o

r 
w

it
h

d
ra

w
n

 w
it

h
 

st
ra

n
g

er
s

!
F

in
d

s 
co

p
in

g
 w

it
h

 c
h

an
g

e 
d

if
fi

cu
lt

 

ev
en

 w
it

h
 s

u
p

p
o

rt
 

!
D

if
fi

cu
lt

ie
s 

ex
p

re
ss

in
g

 e
m

p
at

h
y

 

!
S

u
ff

er
s 

fr
o

m
 p

er
io

d
s 

o
f 

d
ep

re
ss

io
n

 

!
R

el
at

es
 t

o
 s

tr
an

g
er

s 
in

d
is

cr
im

in
at

el
y

 

w
it

h
o

u
t 

re
g

ar
d

 f
o

r 
sa

fe
ty

 o
r 

so
ci

al
 

n
o

rm
s 

!
D

is
o

rd
er

ed
 a

tt
ac

h
m

en
ts

 t
h

at
 h

av
e 

a 
 

se
v
er

e 
im

p
ac

t 

!
R

ea
ct

io
n

 t
o

 c
h

an
g

e 
tr

ig
g

er
s 

p
ro

lo
n

g
ed

 i
n

ab
il

it
y

 t
o

 c
o

p
e 

!
P

h
o

b
ia

s 
&

 o
th

er
 p

sy
ch

o
lo

g
ic

al
  

d
if

fi
cu

lt
ie

s

!
L

if
e-

th
re

at
en

in
g

 p
sy

ch
ia

tr
ic

 

em
er

g
en

ci
es

 w
h

ic
h

 m
ay

 r
eq

u
ir

e 
u

se
 

o
f 

th
e 

M
en

ta
l 

H
ea

lt
h

 A
ct

 

Behavioural

development

!
A

p
p

ro
p

ri
at

e 
se

lf
-c

o
n

tr
o

l 

!
A

p
p

ro
p

ri
at

e 
so

ci
al

 b
eh

av
io

u
r 

!
A

p
p

ro
p

ri
at

e 
se

x
u

al
 d

ev
el

o
p
m

en
t 

an
d

 a
ct

iv
it

y
 

!
D

is
ru

p
ti

v
e/

ch
al

le
n

g
in

g
 b

eh
av

io
u

r,
 

in
cl

u
d

in
g

 i
n

 s
ch

o
o

l 
o

r 
ea

rl
y

 y
ea

rs
  

se
tt

in
g

!
C

o
n

ce
rn

s 
ab

o
u

t 
se

x
u

al
 d

ev
el

o
p

m
en

t 

an
d

 b
eh

av
io

u
r 

!
E

x
tr

em
e 

d
is

ru
p

ti
v

e/
ch

al
le

n
g

in
g

 

b
eh

av
io

u
r 

at
 s

ch
o

o
l,

 i
n

 

n
ei

g
h

b
o
u

rh
o
o
d

 a
n

d
 a

t 
h
o

m
e 

!
S

ex
u

al
 d

ev
el

o
p

m
en

t 
an

d
 b

eh
av

io
u

r 

w
h

ic
h

 m
ay

 b
e 

in
d

ic
at

iv
e 

o
f 

ab
u

se
 

!
R

eg
u

la
rl

y
 i

n
v

o
lv

ed
 i

n
 a

n
ti

so
ci

al
/ 

cr
im

in
al

 a
ct

iv
it

ie
s/

v
io

le
n

t 
b

eh
av

io
u

r 

!
S

ex
u

al
 e

x
p

lo
it

at
io

n
 

!
R

eg
u

la
rl

y
 p

u
ts

 s
el

f 
o

r 
o

th
er

s 
in

 

d
an

g
er

 t
h

ro
u

g
h

 r
ec

k
le

ss
 a

ct
iv

it
y

 

Identity, self-

esteem/ image 

!
P

o
si

ti
v

e 
se

n
se

 o
f 

se
lf

 a
n

d
 a

b
il

it
ie

s 

!
D

em
o

n
st

ra
te

s 
fe

el
in

g
s 

o
f 

b
el

o
n

g
in

g
 

an
d

 a
cc

ep
ta

n
ce

 

!
A

n
 a

b
il

it
y

 t
o

 e
x

p
re

ss
 n

ee
d

s 

!
S

h
o

w
s 

la
ck

 o
f 

se
lf

 e
st

ee
m

 

!
V

u
ln

er
ab

le
 t

o
 b

u
ll

y
in

g
, 

d
is

cr
im

in
at

io
n

 o
r 

h
ar

as
sm

en
t 

!
L

im
it

ed
 i

n
si

g
h

t 
in

to
 h

o
w

 a
p

p
ea

ra
n

ce
 

&
 b

eh
av

io
u

r 
ar

e 
p

er
ce

iv
ed

 

!
S

er
io

u
sl

y
 a

ff
ec

te
d

 b
y

 p
er

si
st

en
t 

d
is

cr
im

in
at

io
n

, 
e.

g
. 

o
n

 t
h

e 
b

as
is

 o
f 

et
h

n
ic

it
y

, 
se

x
u

al
 o

ri
en

ta
ti

o
n

 o
r 

d
is

ab
il

it
y

 

!
S

u
b
je

ct
 t

o
 s

ev
er

e 
b
u
ll

y
in

g
 

Family & social 

relationships

!
A

w
ar

e 
o

f 
p

er
so

n
al

 a
n

d
 f

am
il

y
 

h
is

to
ry

 

!
S

ta
b

le
 a

n
d

 a
ff

ec
ti

o
n

at
e 

re
la

ti
o

n
sh

ip
s 

w
it

h
 c

ar
eg

iv
er

s 

!
G

o
o

d
 r

el
at

io
n
sh

ip
s 

w
it

h
 s

ib
li

n
g

s 

!
P

o
si

ti
v

e 
re

la
ti

o
n

sh
ip

s 
w

it
h

 p
ee

rs
 

!
A

g
e-

ap
p

ro
p

ri
at

e 
fr

ie
n

d
sh

ip
s 

!
L

im
it

ed
 s

u
p

p
o

rt
 f

ro
m

 f
am

il
y

 a
n

d
 

fr
ie

n
d

s

!
L

ac
k

s 
p

o
si

ti
v

e 
ro

le
 m

o
d

el
s 

!
S

er
io

u
s 

co
n

fl
ic

ts
 w

it
h

 p
ee

rs
/ 

si
b

li
n

g
s

!
D

if
fi

cu
lt

ie
s 

su
st

ai
n

in
g

 r
el

at
io

n
sh

ip
 

!
S

ig
n

if
ic

an
t 

fa
m

il
y

 b
re

ak
d
o
w

n
 

!
C

h
il

d
 o

r 
y

o
u
n
g

 p
er

so
n

 i
s 

m
ai

n
 c

ar
er

 

o
f 

fa
m

il
y

 m
em

b
er

 o
r 

o
f 

o
w

n
 c

h
il

d
 

!
S

u
b

je
ct

 t
o

 p
h

y
si

ca
l,

 e
m

o
ti

o
n

al
 o

r 

se
x

u
al

 a
b

u
se

 o
r 

n
eg

le
ct

 

Page 113



D
A

T
E

: 
 J

U
L

Y
 2

0
1

1
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
  
  
  
  
 P

ag
e 

1
4
 o

f 
3

7
 

V
er

si
o

n
 5

.0
 

Self care skills & 

independence
!

G
ro

w
in

g
 l

ev
el

 o
f 

co
m

p
et

en
ci

es
  

in
 

p
ra

ct
ic

al
 a

n
d

 e
m

o
ti

o
n

al
 s

k
il

ls
 

!
G

o
o

d
 l

ev
el

 o
f 

p
er

so
n

al
 h

y
g
ie

n
e 

!
G

ai
n

in
g

 c
o

n
fi

d
en

ce
 a

n
d

 s
k

il
ls

 t
o

 

u
n

d
er

ta
k

e 
ac

ti
v

it
ie

s 
aw

ay
 f

ro
m

 

fa
m

il
y

 

!
F

ri
en

d
sh

ip
s 

&
 r

el
at

io
n

sh
ip

s 

in
ap

p
ro

p
ri

at
e 

fo
r 

ag
e 

!
N

o
t 

al
w

ay
s 

ad
eq

u
at

e 
se

lf
-c

ar
e,

  
e.

g
. 

p
o

o
r 

h
y

g
ie

n
e 

!
S

lo
w

 t
o

 d
ev

el
o

p
 a

g
e-

ap
p

ro
p

ri
at

e 
 

se
lf

-c
ar

e 
sk

il
ls

 

!
F

ai
li

n
g

 t
o

 d
ev

el
o

p
 c

o
n

fi
d

en
ce

 a
n

d
 

sk
il

ls
 f

o
r 

in
d

ep
en

d
en

ce
 

!
L

ac
k

in
g

 o
p
p

o
rt

u
n

it
ie

s 
to

 m
an

ag
e 

ri
sk

!
Y

o
u

n
g

 p
er

so
n

 l
iv

in
g

 i
n
d

ep
en

d
en

tl
y

  

an
d

 n
o

t 
co

p
in

g
 

!
P

er
si

st
en

t 
an

d
 s

ev
er

e 
p

o
o

r 
se

lf
-c

ar
e 

fo
r 

ag
e,

 i
n

cl
u

d
in

g
 h

y
g

ie
n

e.
 

!
N

eg
le

ct
s 

se
lf

 c
ar

e 
b
ec

au
se

 o
f 

al
te

rn
at

iv
e 

p
ri

o
ri

ti
es

 e
.g

. 
su

b
st

an
ce

 

m
is

u
se

!
N

eg
le

ct
 o

f 
o

w
n

 c
h

il
d

 

Page 114



D
A

T
E

: 
 J

U
L

Y
 2

0
1

1
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
  
  
  
  
 P

ag
e 

1
5
 o

f 
3

7
 

V
er

si
o

n
 5

.0
 

F
ig

. 
5

. 
D

ev
el

o
p

m
en

t 
o
f 

C
h

il
d

 o
r 

Y
o
u

n
g

 P
er

so
n

 3
 -

 L
ea

rn
in

g

C
h

il
d

re
n

 &
 Y

o
u

n
g

 P
eo

p
le

 w
h

o
 n

ee
d

 a
d

d
it

io
n

a
l 

h
el

p
 

L
ev

el
 1

 –
 R

eq
u

ir
es

 u
n

iv
er

sa
l 

se
rv

ic
es

 o
n

ly
 

L
ev

el
 2

 (
a 

an
d

 b
) 

L
ev

el
 3

 
L

ev
el

 4
 

Understanding, reasoning & 

problem solving

!
M

il
es

to
n
es

 f
o
r 
co

g
n
it
iv

e 
d
ev

el
o
p
m

en
t 

ar
e 

m
et

 

!
D

em
o
n
st

ra
te

s 
a 

ra
n
g
e 

o
f 
sk

il
ls

 a
n
d
 

in
te

re
st

s 

!
M

il
es

to
n
es

 f
o
r 
co

g
ni

ti
v
e 

d
ev

el
o
p
m

en
t a

re
 

n
o
t m

et
 

!
H

as
 a

n
 a

ss
es

se
d
 m

o
d
er

at
e 

le
ar

n
in

g
 d

if
fi

cu
lt
y
 

!
S

ev
er

e 
an

d 
p
ro

fo
u
nd

 a
nd

 m
u
lt
ip

le
 

le
ar

ni
ng

 d
is

ab
il
it
y
 

!
S

er
io

u
s 

d
ev

el
op

m
en

ta
l d

el
ay

 

Participation in education or work 

!
A

cc
es

s 
to

 e
d
u
ca

ti
o
n
al

 p
ro

v
is

io
n
 

ap
p
ro

p
ri

at
e 

to
 a

g
e 

an
d
 a

b
il
it
y
 

!
A

cc
es

s 
to

 e
m

pl
oy

m
en

t (
in

cl
ud

in
g 

w
o
rk

 

ba
se

d 
le

ar
ni

ng
) 
ap

pr
op

ri
at

e 
to

 a
ge

 a
n
d 

ab
il
it
y
 

!
R

eg
ul

ar
ly

 a
tt
en

d
s 

ed
u
ca

ti
on

 o
r 
tr

ai
ni

ng
, 

o
r 
in

 f
u
ll
-t

im
e 

w
o
rk

 

!
P

oo
r 
sc

ho
ol

/e
ar

ly
 y

ea
rs

’ 

at
te

n
d
an

ce
/p

u
n
ct

u
al

it
y
 

!
B

eh
av

io
u
r 
li
k
el

y
 to

 le
ad

 to
 r
is

k 
o
f 
ex

cl
u
si

o
n
 

!
H

as
 n

o
 s

ch
o
o
l p

la
ce

m
en

t a
nd

 m
ee

ts
 h

ar
d
 to

 

p
la

ce
 c

ri
te

ri
a 

!
G

ap
s 

in
 s

ch
oo

li
n
g/

le
ar

n
in

g
 d

u
e 

to
 p

re
g
n
an

cy
 

!
M

ul
ti
pl

e 
ch

an
g
es

 o
f 
sc

h
oo

l/
ea

rl
y 

y
ea

rs
 

se
tt
in

g
 

!
N

o
 a

cc
es

s 
to

 e
ar

ly
 e

d
u
ca

ti
o
n
 

!
N

o
 a

cc
es

s 
to

 e
m

p
lo

y
m

en
t (

in
cl

u
d
in

g
 w

o
rk

 

ba
se

d 
le

ar
ni

ng
) 

!
M

u
lt
ip

le
 c

h
an

ge
s 

o
f 
sc

h
oo

l w
it
h
ou

t 

n
o
ti
fi

ca
ti
o
n
 

!
N

o
t i

n
 e

d
u
ca

ti
on

, e
m

p
lo

y
m

en
t o

r 

tr
ai

n
in

g 
an

d 
 d

is
p
la

y
in

g 
se

ri
ou

s 

em
p
lo

y
ab

il
it
y
/e

n
g
ag

em
en

t d
ef

ic
it
s 

an
d 

h
ig

h 
su

pp
o
rt

 n
ee

d
s 

Progress & 

achievement in 

!
A

cq
ui

ri
ng

 a
 r
an

g
e 

of
 s

k
il
ls

 a
nd

 in
te

re
st

s 

!
N

o
 c

o
n
ce

rn
s 

ab
ou

t a
ch

ie
v
em

en
t o

r 

co
gn

it
iv

e 
d
ev

el
o
p
m

en
t 

!
A

cc
es

s 
to

 b
o
o
k
s/

to
y
s,

 p
la

y
 

!
R

eq
ui

re
s 

ad
ap

te
d
 c

u
rr

ic
ul

u
m

 a
n
d 

ti
m

et
ab

le
 

!
Id

en
ti
fi

ed
 le

ar
n
in

g
 n

ee
d
s 

–
 o

n
  E

ar
ly

 Y
ea

rs
 

o
r 
S

ch
oo

l A
ct

io
n/

S
ch

oo
l A

ct
io

n
+

 

!
C

le
ar

ly
 u

n
d
er

-p
er

fo
rm

in
g
 in

 o
pi

ni
on

 o
f 

te
ac

h
er

, p
ar

en
t o

r 
p
ra

ct
it
io

n
er

 

!
L

im
it
ed

 a
cc

es
s 

to
 r
es

ou
rc

es
 f
or

 le
ar

ni
n
g
 a

t 

h
o
m

e 
(e

.g
. b

oo
k
s/

to
y
s)

 

Aspiration

s

!
W

el
l m

o
ti
v
at

ed
 a

n
d
 s

el
f-

co
n
fi

d
en

t 
!

N
o
t a

lw
ay

s 
en

g
ag

ed
 in

 le
ar

ni
n
g 

–
 p

oo
r 

co
n
ce

n
tr

at
io

n
, l

o
w

  m
o
ti
v
at

io
n
 a

n
d
 in

te
re

st
 

Page 115



D
A

T
E

: 
 J

U
L

Y
 2

0
1

1
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
  
  
  
  
 P

ag
e 

1
6
 o

f 
3

7
 

V
er

si
o

n
 5

.0
 

F
ig

. 
6

. 
P

a
re

n
ts

 a
n

d
 C

a
re

rs

C
h

il
d

re
n

 &
 Y

o
u

n
g

 P
eo

p
le

 w
h

o
 n

ee
d

 a
d

d
it

io
n

a
l 

h
el

p
 

L
ev

el
 1

 –
 R

eq
u

ir
es

 u
n

iv
er

sa
l 

se
rv

ic
es

 o
n

ly
 

L
ev

el
 2

 (
a 

an
d

 b
) 

L
ev

el
 3

 
L

ev
el

 4
 

Basic care & ensuring safety 

& protection 

!
P

ro
vi

de
 f
or

 c
h
il
d’

s 
ph

y
si

ca
l n

ee
ds

, 

in
cl

ud
in

g
 a

p
pr

o
pr

ia
te

 c
lo

th
in

g,
 m

ed
ic

al
 

an
d
 d

en
ta

l c
ar

e 

!
P

ro
te

ct
 f
ro

m
 d

an
g
er

 o
r 
si

g
ni

fi
ca

n
t 

p
hy

si
ca

l o
r 
em

o
ti
on

al
 h

ar
m

 (
in

cl
u
di

ng
 

ri
sk

 o
f 
se

x
u
al

 h
ar

m
),
 in

 th
e 

h
o
m

e 
an

d
 

el
se

w
h
er

e

!
P

ar
en

t r
eq

u
ir

es
 a

d
v
ic

e 
o
n
  p

ar
en

ti
n
g
 is

su
es

 

!
P

ar
en

t i
s 

st
ru

gg
li
ng

 to
 p

ro
v
id

e 
ad

eq
u
at

e 

ca
re

!
P

ro
fe

ss
io

na
ls

 b
eg

in
ni

n
g
 to

 h
av

e 
co

nc
er

ns
 

ab
ou

t c
h
il
d’

s 
ph

y
si

ca
l n

ee
d
s 

be
in

g
 m

et
 

!
C

lo
th

in
g
 is

 r
eg

u
la

rl
y
 u

n
w

as
h
ed

 

!
E

x
p
o
su

re
 to

 h
o
u
se

h
o
ld

 h
az

ar
d
s 

o
r 
ri

sk
s 

!
P

ar
en

ta
l s

tr
es

se
s 

st
ar

ti
ng

 to
 a

ff
ec

t a
b
il
it
y
 to

 

en
su

re
 c

h
il
d’

s 
sa

fe
ty

 

!
N

eg
le

ct
/s

ca
p
eg

o
at

in
g
 s

u
sp

ec
te

d
 

!
Y

o
un

g
 c

h
il
d 

re
g
ul

ar
ly

 le
ft

 a
lo

n
e 

o
r 

u
n
su

p
er

v
is

ed
 

!
P

ar
en

ts
/c

ar
er

s 
u
n
ab

le
 to

 p
ro

te
ct

 f
ro

m
 

d
an

g
er

 o
r 
si

gn
if

ic
an

t p
hy

si
ca

l o
r 

em
o
ti
on

al
 h

ar
m

 (
in

cl
u
di

ng
 r
is

k
 o

f 

se
x
u
al

 h
ar

m
),
 in

 th
e 

ho
m

e 
an

d 

el
se

w
h
er

e

!
P

ar
en

t’
s 

m
en

ta
l h

ea
lt
h
 p

ro
bl

em
s 

o
r 

su
b
st

an
ce

 m
is

u
se

 s
ig

n
if

ic
an

tl
y
 a

ff
ec

t 

ca
re

 o
f 
ch

il
d
 

!
P

ar
en

ts
 u

n
ab

le
 to

 p
ro

v
id

e 
‘g

oo
d
 e

n
ou

g
h’

 

p
ar

en
ti
ng

 th
at

 is
 a

d
eq

u
at

e 
an

d
 s

af
e 

!
P

ar
en

ts
 u

n
ab

le
 to

 c
ar

e 
fo

r 
p
re

vi
o
u
s 

ch
il
d
re

n
 

!
C

o
nt

in
u
al

 in
st

ab
il
it
y
 a

nd
 v

io
le

n
ce

 in
 th

e 

h
o
m

e 

!
C

h
il
d 

no
t p

ro
te

ct
ed

 f
ro

m
 s

ex
ua

l 

ex
p
lo

it
at

io
n
 

!
P

ar
en

ts
 in

vo
lv

ed
 in

 s
er

io
u
s 

p
er

so
n-

re
la

te
d
 c

ri
m

e 

Emotional warmth & 

stability

!
S

ho
w

 w
ar

m
 r
eg

ar
d
, p

ra
is

e 
an

d
 

en
co

ur
ag

em
en

t 

!
E

n
su

re
 th

at
 s

ec
u
re

 a
tt
ac

h
m

en
ts

 a
re

 n
o
t 

d
is

ru
p
te

d
 

!
P

ro
v
id

e 
co

n
si

st
en

cy
 o

f 
em

o
ti
on

al
 

w
ar

m
th

 

!
In

co
n
si

st
en

t r
es

p
o
n
se

s 
to

 c
h
il
d
 b

y
 p

ar
en

ts
 

!
D

if
fi

cu
lt
 p

ar
en

t/
ch

il
d
 r
el

at
io

n
sh

ip
 

!
K

ey
 r
el

at
io

n
sh

ip
s 

w
it
h
 f
am

il
y
 

m
em

b
er

s/
si

g
ni

fi
ca

nt
 o

th
er

s 
no

t a
lw

ay
s 

k
ep

t 

u
p

!
H

as
 a

 n
u
m

b
er

 o
f 
d
if

fe
re

n
t c

ar
er

s 

!
S

ta
rt

in
g
 to

 d
em

o
n
st

ra
te

 

!
d
if

fi
cu

lt
ie

s 
w

it
h
 a

tt
ac

h
m

en
ts

 

!
F

re
qu

en
t c

h
an

ge
s 

o
f 
h
o
m

e 
b
as

e 
o
r 

ed
u
ca

ti
o
n
al

 p
la

ce
m

en
t 

!
C

h
il
d/

p
ar

en
t r

el
at

io
n
sh

ip
 a

t r
is

k
 o

f 

b
re

ak
do

w
n
 

!
H

as
 u

n
p
la

n
n
ed

 m
u
lt
ip

le
 c

ar
er

s 

!
P

ri
v
at

el
y
 f
o
st

er
ed

 

!
P

ar
en

ts
 in

co
n
si

st
en

t, 
h
ig

h
ly

 c
ri

ti
ca

l o
r 

ap
at

h
et

ic
 to

w
ar

d
s 

ch
il
d
 

!
P

ar
en

t h
as

 r
ej

ec
te

d
, o

r 
is

 th
re

at
en

in
g
 to

 

re
je

ct
, t

he
 c

hi
ld

 

!
H

as
 n

o 
ca

re
r,
 a

b
an

do
n
ed

 c
h
il
d 

or
 

u
n
ac

co
m

p
an

ie
d
 m

in
o
r 

!
M

is
si

n
g 

ch
il
d
/c

h
il
d 

p
er

si
st

en
tl
y
 r
un

ni
n
g 

aw
ay

 

Guidance boundaries & 

stimulation 

!
P

ro
v
id

e 
g
u
id

an
ce

 s
o 

th
at

 c
h
il
d
 c

an
 

d
ev

el
op

 a
n 

in
te

rn
al

 m
o
d
el

 o
f 
va

lu
es

 a
nd

 

co
n
sc

ie
n
ce

 

!
F

ac
il
it
at

es
 c

og
ni

ti
v
e 

d
ev

el
o
p
m

en
t 

th
ro

u
gh

 in
te

ra
ct

io
n 

an
d
 p

la
y
 

!
E

n
ab

le
 c

h
il
d
 to

 e
x
p
er

ie
n
ce

 s
u
cc

es
s 

!
P

ar
en

t o
ff

er
s 

in
co

n
si

st
en

t b
o
u
n
d
ar

ie
s 

!
B

eh
av

io
ur

 p
ro

bl
em

s 
no

t r
ec

og
ni

se
d 

an
d 

ad
d
re

ss
ed

 b
y
 p

ar
en

ts
 

!
S

p
en

d
s 

co
n
si

d
er

ab
le

 ti
m

e 
al

o
n
e 

e.
g
. 

w
at

ch
in

g
 te

le
v
is

io
n
 

!
N

ot
 r
ec

ei
vi

ng
 p

os
it
iv

e 
st

im
u
la

ti
o
n
 –

 la
ck

 o
f 

n
ew

 e
x
p
er

ie
n
ce

s 
o
r 
ac

ti
v
it
ie

s 

!
P

ar
en

ts
 d

o 
n
ot

 v
al

u
e 

ed
u
ca

ti
on

 

!
H

o
m

e 
n
ot

 c
o
nd

u
ci

v
e 

to
 p

la
y
/e

d
u
ca

ti
o
n
 

!
P

ar
en

t o
ff

er
s 

a 
n
eg

at
iv

e 
 r
o
le

 m
o
d
el

 

e.
g.

 b
y
 b

eh
av

in
g
 in

 a
n 

an
ti
so

ci
al

 w
ay

 

!
E

rr
at

ic
 o

r 
in

ad
eq

u
at

e 
g
u
id

an
ce

 

p
ro

vi
d
ed

 

!
N

o
 c

o
n
st

ru
ct

iv
e 

le
is

u
re

 ti
m

e 
o
r 
g
u
id

ed
 

p
la

y
 

!
N

o 
ef

fe
ct

iv
e 

bo
un

da
ri

es
 s

et
 b

y 
pa

re
nt

s 

!
B

ey
on

d
 p

ar
en

ta
l c

on
tr

o
l 

Page 116



D
A

T
E

: 
 J

U
L

Y
 2

0
1

1
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
  
  
  
  
 P

ag
e 

1
7
 o

f 
3

7
 

V
er

si
o

n
 5

.0
 

F
ig

. 
7

. 
F

a
m

il
y 

&
 E

n
vi

ro
n

m
en

ta
l 

F
a
ct

o
rs

C
h

il
d

re
n

 &
 Y

o
u

n
g

 P
eo

p
le

 w
h

o
 n

ee
d

 a
d

d
it

io
n

a
l 

h
el

p
 

L
ev

el
 1

 –
 R

eq
u

ir
es

 u
n

iv
er

sa
l 

se
rv

ic
es

 o
n

ly
 

L
ev

el
 2

 (
a 

an
d

 b
) 

L
ev

el
 3

 
L

ev
el

 4
 

Family history, functioning & 

wellbeing

!
F

am
il

y
 r

el
at

io
n

sh
ip

s 
p

ro
v

id
e 

p
o

si
ti

v
e 

se
n

se
 o

f 
w

el
lb

ei
n

g
 f

o
r 

al
l 

fa
m

il
y

 m
em

b
er

s 

!
F

ew
 s

ig
n

if
ic

an
t 

ch
an

g
es

 i
n

 f
am

il
y

 

!
P

ar
en

ts
 h

av
e 

fr
eq

u
en

t 
co

n
fl

ic
ts

 o
r 

d
if

fi
cu

lt
ie

s 
th

at
 i

m
p

ac
t 

o
n

 t
h

e 
ch

il
d

 

!
R

is
k

 o
f 

d
o

m
es

ti
c 

v
io

le
n

ce
 

!
H

as
 e

x
p

er
ie

n
ce

d
 l

o
ss

 o
f 

si
g

n
if

ic
an

t 

ad
u

lt
, 

e.
g

. 
th

ro
u

g
h
 b

er
ea

v
em

en
t 

o
r 

se
p

ar
at

io
n

!
P

ar
en

ta
l 

p
h

y
si

ca
l/

m
en

ta
l 

h
ea

lt
h

 

p
ro

b
le

m
s 

!
L

o
w

 l
ev

el
 s

u
b

st
an

ce
 m

is
u

se
 

!
S

ib
li

n
g

 w
it

h
 s

ig
n

if
ic

an
t 

p
ro

b
le

m
 

(h
ea

lt
h

, 
d

is
ab

il
it

y
, 

b
eh

av
io

u
r)

 

!
A

cr
im

o
n

io
u

s 
d

iv
o

rc
e/

se
p

ar
at

io
n

 

!
In

ci
d

en
ts

 o
f 

se
ri

o
u

s 
d

o
m

es
ti

c 

v
io

le
n

ce

!
F

am
il

y
 f

u
n

ct
io

n
in

g
 s

ig
n

if
ic

an
tl

y
 

af
fe

ct
ed

 b
y

 p
ro

b
le

m
s 

o
f 

p
h
y

si
ca

l 
o
r 

m
en

ta
l 

h
ea

lt
h

 o
r 

su
b

st
an

ce
 m

is
u

se
 

!
P

ar
en

t 
h

as
 r

ec
ei

v
ed

 c
u

st
o

d
ia

l 

se
n
te

n
ce

!
C

h
il

d
 h

as
 c

ar
in

g
 r

es
p

o
n

si
b

il
it

ie
s 

th
at

 

si
g

n
if

ic
an

tl
y

 a
ff

ec
t 

ed
u

ca
ti

o
n

/ 

d
ev

el
o

p
m

en
t 

!
P

er
si

st
en

t 
d

o
m

es
ti

c 
v

io
le

n
ce

 

!
‘A

d
u

lt
s 

w
h

o
 p

re
se

n
t 

a 
ri

sk
 t

o
 

ch
il

d
re

n
’ 

 l
iv

in
g

 i
n

 t
h

e 
fa

m
il

y
 

!
R

el
at

io
n

sh
ip

s 
b

et
w

ee
n

 s
ib

li
n

g
s 

se
v

er
el

y
 a

ff
ec

t 
ch

il
d

’s
 d

ev
el

o
p

m
en

t 

!
S

ev
er

e 
m

en
ta

l 
o

r 
p

h
y

si
ca

l 
h

ea
lt

h
 

p
ro

b
le

m
s 

o
r 

su
b

st
an

ce
 m

is
u

se
 s

u
ch

 

th
at

 v
it

al
 p

ar
en

ti
n

g
 r

o
le

s 
ar

e 
n

o
t 

u
n

d
er

ta
k

en

Wider family 

!
S

en
se

 o
f 

la
rg

er
 f

am
il

ia
l 

n
et

w
o

rk
 

!
S

u
p

p
o

rt
 f

o
r 

ch
il

d
 a

n
d

 p
ar

en
ts

 f
ro

m
 

fa
m

il
y

 a
n

d
 f

ri
en

d
s 

!
P

re
ss

u
re

s 
fr

o
m

 w
id

er
 f

am
il

y
 

!
F

am
il

y
 r

ec
ei

v
es

 l
im

it
ed

 s
u

p
p

o
rt

 

fr
o

m
 f

ri
en

d
s 

!
D

es
tr

u
ct

iv
e 

in
v

o
lv

em
en

t 
fr

o
m

 

ex
te

n
d

ed
 f

am
il

y
 a

n
d

/o
r 

‘f
ri

en
d

s’
 

!
P

h
y

si
ca

l 
ac

co
m

m
o

d
at

io
n

 p
la

ce
s 

ch
il

d
 i

n
 d

an
g

er
 

!
E

x
tr

em
e 

p
o

v
er

ty
/d

eb
t 

im
p

ac
ti

n
g

 o
n

 

ab
il

it
y

 t
o

 c
ar

e 
fo

r 
ch

il
d

 

!
L

ac
k

 o
f 

ad
eq

u
at

e 
fo

o
d

, 
w

ar
m

th
 o

r 

es
se

n
ti

al
 c

lo
th

in
g

 

Housing, employment & 

finances

!
A

cc
o

m
m

o
d

at
io

n
 h

as
 b

as
ic

 a
m

en
it

ie
s

!
S

u
ff

ic
ie

n
t 

in
co

m
e 

to
 m

ee
t 

th
e 

fa
m

il
y

’s
 e

ss
en

ti
al

 n
ee

d
s,

 u
se

d
 

ap
p

ro
p

ri
at

el
y

 

!
In

ad
eq

u
at

e/
p

o
o

r/
o

v
er

cr
o

w
d

ed

h
o

u
si

n
g

!
F

am
il

y
 s

ee
k

in
g

 a
sy

lu
m

 o
r 

re
fu

g
ee

s 

!
P

er
io

d
s 

o
f 

u
n
em

p
lo

y
m

en
t 

o
f 

th
e 

w
ag

e 
ea

rn
in

g
 p

ar
en

t(
s)

 

!
L

o
w

 i
n

co
m

e 

!
P

ar
en

ts
 f

in
d

 i
t 

d
if

fi
cu

lt
 t

o
 o

b
ta

in
 

em
p

lo
y

m
en

t 
d

u
e 

to
 p

o
o

r 
b

as
ic

 s
k

il
ls

!
O

v
er

cr
o

w
d

ed
 o

r 
p

o
o

r 
q

u
al

it
y

 

h
o

u
si

n
g
 l

ik
el

y
 t

o
 i

m
p

ai
r 

h
ea

lt
h

 o
r 

d
ev

el
o

p
m

en
t 

!
H

o
m

el
es

s 
fa

m
il

y
 i

n
 t

em
p

o
ra

ry
 

h
o

u
si

n
g

!
C

h
ro

n
ic

 u
n

em
p

lo
y

m
en

t 
th

at
 h

as
 

se
v

er
el

y
 a

ff
ec

te
d

 t
h

e 
p

ar
en

ts
 

!
S

er
io

u
s 

d
eb

ts
/p

o
v

er
ty

 i
m

p
ac

t 
o

n
 

ab
il

it
y

 t
o

 h
av

e 
b

as
ic

 n
ee

d
s 

m
et

 

!
L

iv
in

g
 i

n
d

ep
en

d
en

tl
y

 a
s 

te
en

ag
e 

p
ar

en
t

!
V

u
ln

er
ab

le
 h

o
m

el
es

s 
y

o
u

n
g

 p
er

so
n

 

Page 117



D
A

T
E

: 
 J

U
L

Y
 2

0
1

1
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
  
  
  
  
 P

ag
e 

1
8
 o

f 
3

7
 

V
er

si
o

n
 5

.0
 

Social & community elements 

!
G

o
o

d
 h

ea
lt

h
, 
ed

u
ca

ti
o

n
, 

so
ci

al
 a

n
d

 

co
m

m
u

n
it

y
 s

er
v

ic
es

 i
n

 t
h

e 

n
ei

g
h

b
o
u

rh
o
o
d

 

!
P

o
si

ti
v

e 
p

ee
r 

g
ro

u
p

s 

!
D

is
ad

v
an

ta
g

ed
 n

ei
g

h
b

o
u

rh
o

o
d

 

!
E

x
p

er
ie

n
ci

n
g

h
ar

as
sm

en
t/

d
is

cr
im

in
at

io
n

 

!
S

o
ci

al
ly

 o
r 

p
h
y

si
ca

ll
y

 i
so

la
te

d
 

!
L

ac
k

 o
f 

a 
su

p
p

o
rt

 n
et

w
o

rk
 

!
P

o
o
r 

ac
ce

ss
 t

o
 a

v
ai

la
b
le

 s
er

v
ic

es
 

!
C

o
m

m
u

n
it

y
 n

o
t 

co
n

d
u

ci
v

e 
to

 p
la

y
 

o
r 

ed
u

ca
ti

o
n

 

!
L

ac
k

 o
f 

p
la

y
 f

ac
il

it
ie

s 
o

u
ts

id
e 

th
e 

h
o

m
e 

!
C

h
il

d
’s

 p
ee

rs
 i

n
v

o
lv

ed
 i

n
 a

n
ti

so
ci

al
 

b
eh

av
io

u
r 

in
 t

h
e 

n
ei

g
h

b
o

u
rh

o
o

d
 

!
F

am
il

y
 c

h
ro

n
ic

al
ly

 s
o

ci
al

ly
 

ex
cl

u
d

ed

!
N

o
 s

u
p

p
o

rt
iv

e 
n

et
w

o
rk

 

!
In

v
o

lv
ed

 w
it

h
 p

ee
rs

 i
n

 a
n

ti
so

ci
al

 

b
eh

av
io

u
r

!
S

o
ci

al
 i

so
la

ti
o

n
 r

es
u

lt
in

g
 f

ro
m

  

te
en

ag
e 

p
ar

en
th

o
o

d
 

Page 118



DATE:  July 2011                 Page 19 of 37 

Version 5.0 

Appendix 1: CAF Pathway for expectant young mothers 

Page 119



Appendix 2: Single Agency Referral Form (SARF) 

 SINGLE AGENCY REFERRAL FORM (SARF) GUIDANCE NOTES 

1. WHEN THE FORM SHOULD BE USED 

1.1 The SARF should be used to access a single service.  The services that can be accessed 

through the SARF are: 

! Behaviour Support 

! Educational Psychology (EPS) 

! Education Welfare 

! Ethnic Minority Achievement Service (EMAS) 

! Sensory Service (visual and hearing impairment) 

! Specialist SEN Service (SSENS) – bringing together Learning Support, Physical Impairment, 

SEN ICT and Primary SOCIT 

! Traveller Education Service 

! Speech and Language Therapy 

! Integrated Youth Service, focusing on young people aged 10 – 17, including: 

– accommodation and housing support 

– employment, training and education 

– prevention and reduction of offending and anti-social behaviour 

– substance misuse (including concerns about problematic parental substance misuse). 

Note:  The Integrated Youth Service comprises Connexions staff, Youth Offending, the Youth 

Development Service, Motiv8 (substance misuse), and Youth Inclusion Support Project. 

1.2 The SARF should not be used if: 

! A child or young person has a mental health difficulty.  Healthy Minds provide a single point of 

access for routine referrals to all Child and Adolescent Mental Health Services (psychiatric 

emergencies should always be discussed with the relevant Clinical Team Manager for specialist 

CAMHS).  The integrated threshold criteria and referral forms for Healthy Minds and specialist 

CAMHS are attached at Appendix 4. 

! A child/young person’s needs are not well understood (use Common Assessment Framework - 

CAF)

! The help of two or more services is needed (also use CAF) 

The SARF should not be used for the Early Intervention Team and the wider Early Years Childcare 

Team.  Young children with difficulties will be picked up by the Early Intervention Team in regular 

discussions with early years settings and other professionals. 

If there are child protection concerns, the Local Safeguarding Children’s Board procedures 

should be followed immediately.

2. COMPLETING THE FORM 

2.1 A SARF should focus on one child.

2.2 It is important to clarify that completion of the SARF cannot offer a guarantee that services will be 

delivered.

DATE:  JULY 2011                                         Page 20 of 37 

Version 5.0 

Page 120



2.3 Information sources should be clear and comments attributed and clearly explained, for example, 

the comment “Mum said…” 

2.4 Confidential information, e.g. health information, should only be recorded on the SARF with the 

explicit consent of the child/young person and /or parent – see section 3.  

3. CONSENT 

3.1 When completing a  SARF, the completing worker is responsible for ensuring that they have the 

permission of individuals on whom personal information is provided for that information to be 

shared (except in circumstances where a child or young person may be placed at risk of further 

harm if consent is sought). 

3.2 Consent must be ‘informed’ – this means that the person giving consent needs to 

understand why information needs to be shared, who will see their information, and the 

implications.

3.3 Consent can be ‘explicit’ or ‘implicit’. Obtaining explicit consent is good practice and it can be 

expressed either orally or in writing, although written consent is preferable since that reduces the 

scope for subsequent dispute. Probably the easiest way to do this is via a signature on the SARF.

For more information on Information Sharing go to http://www.wiltshirepathways.org/whattodo.asp

and click on the link entitled “Knowing what information I can share”. 

4.  WHAT TO INCLUDE IN DIFFERENT SECTIONS OF THE FORM

Explanations for some of the fields are detailed below. 

Parent / Carer info - full names are needed here and details about siblings 

SEN Status – refers to whether the child/young person has special educational needs at School Action, 

School Action Plus or has a Statement. 

School attendance – this field should contain details (if known) of the child/young person’s attendance 

at school either as a percentage or a description.  For children with attendance issues, please attach 

school action to date, including letters, meetings. 

Level of attainment – this field should be used to describe approximately what academic levels the 

child/young person is reaching in terms of thresholds and grades.  You should describe: 

! National Curriculum levels/P levels in English and Maths. 

! Reading and spelling age (name of test and date used). 

! Progress with unaided writing. 

Child Protection Plan – this is only relevant if the child/young person has social care involvement 

Disability – Please describe type and level of disability. 

‘Looked after’ refers to whether the child is being looked after by a Local Authority 

Ethnicity – it is advised to use the CAF form ethnic groupings– as listed in the table following: 

DATE:  JULY 2011                                         Page 21 of 37 

Version 5.0 

Page 121



Where you would use a starred grouping (*) please specify 

White British  Caribbean  Indian  White & Black  

Caribbean 

Chinese

White Irish  African Pakistani White & Black 

African

Any other   

ethnic group* 

Any other White  

background* 

Any other 

Black

background* 

Bangladeshi  White & Asian  Not given  

Gypsy/Roma  Traveller of 

Irish Heritage 

Any other 

Asian 

background * 

Any other mixed 

background*  

Reason for referral – Please put as much information in here as possible, including: 

! Any concerns about child’s general health, including physical development and hearing and vision 

! Any issues relating to concerns about the child’s emotional and social development, eg, 

risking/actual self harm, coping with stress, motivation, confidence, relationships with peers 

! Any issues affecting the parents/carers ability to protect or care for the child, eg, family and social 

relationships, difficulties faced by parents, homelessness 

For some services there is specific information you should include in the reason for referral or 

specific information that should be attached to the referral. 

For a referral to the Speech and Language Therapy Service, please state whether the child has a formal 

diagnosis of Autistic Spectrum Disorder, special needs or learning disabilities, a medical diagnosis or a 

hearing impairment.  If the child has had a recent hearing test, please give date and result.  Please also 

describe:

! School’s main cause for concern and the level of concern  (mild to significant) 

! Attention and listening skills 

! Understanding spoken language, eg, following instructions 

! Expressive language, eg, putting words together in sentences, telling stories 

! Speech sounds, eg, immature speech 

! Stammer 

! Voice problems 

! Social communication skills and ability to relate to others 

! Child’s preferred means of communication (if not speech, then signing/makaton, 

picture/symbols, pointing, leading, etc) and whether they are a willing communicator 

! Their first language 

! Whether child is able to link sounds to letters (age appropriate question) 

! Whether child is reading and writing at age appropriate level 

! Impact of the above on the child’s behaviour 

With a referral to Speech and Language Therapy, please enclose copies of relevant reports/IEPs.  It is 

essential to enclose WIPD information from any of the 4 SEN areas relevant to the referral (Cognition 

and Learning, Speech and Language, Social and Communication, and Behavioural, Emotional and 

Social).  A referral cannot be processed without this information.  It is most important to include: 

! The ‘Quickchecker’ 

! Steps 4, 5 and 6 for a child at School Action (for each relevant SEN area) 

! Steps 9,10 and 11 for a child at School Action Plus (for each relevant SEN area) 

For a referral to the Integrated Youth Services please complete the checklist on the final page of the 

Single Agency Referral Form (see appendix 2)

DATE:  JULY 2011                                         Page 22 of 37 

Version 5.0 

Page 122



Please ensure the following information is provided within the SARF or sent as an attachment for 

Education Support Services:

Educational Psychology ! Reviewed provision map/IEPs 

! Reading and spelling age and the tests used 

! Any diagnostic information the school has gathered, eg, 

the class teacher’s Assessment Pack, WESforD 
Specialist SEN Service 

(SSENS)

Former Learning Support, 

Physical Impairment, SEN ICT, 

Primary SOCIT 

! Reviewed provision map/IEPs 

! Reading and spelling age and the tests used 

! Any diagnostic information the school has gathered, eg, 

the class teacher’s Assessment Pack, WESforD 

! Sample of unaided writing (if relevant) 

! Any relevant medical reports or assessments 

Ethnic Minority Achievement 

Service (EMAS) 

! Any overseas paperwork, eg, school reports, assessments 

Traveller Education Service 

(TES)

Note:  As Gypsies, Romas, Travellers and Showmen can be highly 

mobile, schools can contact the TES immediately on 01225 757901 

to discuss needs. 

Sensory Service ! Details of medical contacts 

! Any supporting information from medical professional 

Primary Behaviour Support 

(including Primary Tuition 

Service)

! Reviewed provision map/IEPs 

! Behaviour ABCs or similar 

! For Primary Tuition Service, PEX notification and 

Consultant’s letter 

Education Welfare Service ! Up to date accurate registration certificate 

! Information about school action taken 

! Information on any medical needs (attach any evidence from 

Medical Practitioner) 

! Evidence of minimum of two School Attendance Meetings 

where clear targets have been set 

! How pupil travels to school 

! Record of Fixed Term Exclusions 

! Allegations of bullying 

! Absence for religious observance 

! For children missing from education – please note date the 

child last attended school and give details of attempts made to 

trace the pupil, the date of most recent letter sent to parent 

regarding the pupil’s absence, and details of any known 

circumstances which might have a bearing on the pupil being 

missing (eg, bullying or family issues)..  For children missing 

from education, there will obviously not be parental consent. 

Please use Fast Track Procedure/Issue Fixed Penalty Notice 

Referral Form where appropriate (instead of SARF) 

DATE:  JULY 2011                                         Page 23 of 37 

Version 5.0 

Page 123



PERSONAL INFORMATION – PLEASE KEEP SECURE 

WILTSHIRE SINGLE AGENCY REFERRAL FORM (SARF) 

Please refer to guidance prior to completion - you only need fill out those sections that are applicable. 

Please complete in black ink.

Referral to: 
(Name of Service) 

Date: 

Referrer’s Name: 

Referrer’s Role 

Referrer’s Agency: 

Email:

Address &  

Tel No: 

Signature of Referrer: 
Date: 

Child/Young Person’s Details 

Surname: First Name: AKA / previous names: 

Male Female Date of Birth / Year Group Contact Tel. No: 

Current address  

Name(s) of parents/carer or other household members Parents/carer’s address (if different from above): 

Who has Parental Responsibility: GP Surgery:

Tel No: 

Child/Young Person’s ethnicity (including Traveller 
status):

School/Educational Setting 

School (or early years setting) attended: 

Levels of attainment: 

School attendance record: 

SEN Status: 

DATE:  JULY 2011                                         Page 24 of 37 

Version 5.0 

Page 124



PERSONAL INFORMATION – PLEASE KEEP SECURE

Does the child have a Child Protection Plan? Is the child Looked After? 

Does the child have a disability?  If so, please describe.

Reason for Referral: 

Why is the referral being made?  Please refer to guidance notes on relevant information to include. 

What does the parent, carer or child/young person expect to happen as result of this referral?

What support or strategies prior to referral have been implemented? 
What actions have you taken to date? Please refer to guidance notes on supporting information required for each 
service.

DATE:  JULY 2011                                         Page 25 of 37 

Version 5.0 

Page 125



PERSONAL INFORMATION – PLEASE KEEP SECURE

Other services the child/young person has previously been referred to or is currently in contact with (if 
known): 

Service/Name of 

professional 

Contact Details Date Referred Outcome 

Consent for information sharing to support this referral 

" We/I understand the information that is recorded on this form and that it will be shared and used for 
the purpose of providing services to the child/young person 

" We/I give consent to the involvement of the identified Service to liaise with other professionals and 
to carry out assessment and intervention as appropriate 

" We/I are/am aware of this referral 

Parent /Carer Name:
(If appropriate) 

Signature of Parent/Carer: Date: 

Child/Young Person Name: 
(If appropriate) 

Signature of Child/Young Person: Date:

Please send this form plus relevant additional / requested documents to the Wiltshire Council 
DCE Coordination Team, County Hall, Trowbridge, Wiltshire BA14 8JN.

DATE:  JULY 2011                                         Page 26 of 37 

Version 5.0 

Page 126



PERSONAL INFORMATION – PLEASE KEEP SECURE

Please complete if referring to Integrated Youth Services.  Tick all that apply. 

LIVING AND FAMILY ARRANGEMENTS STATUTORY EDUCATION

Not living with mother Not in mainstream education 

Not living with father Regularly truanting / absent 

Members of family involved in Crime / ASB Statement of Special Educational Needs 

Significant bereavement / loss Bullied at school 

Poor relationship with parents Bullying at school 

Parents feeling loss of control Not on school roll 

Inadequate / crowded housing Currently excluded 

History of exclusions 

NEIGHBOURHOOD AND FRIENDS SUBSTANCE USE

Lack of appropriate facilities  Known to drink alcohol 

Known pro-criminal peers Known to smoke tobacco 

Isolated location Known to take drugs / misuse substances 

Non constructive spare time Sees substance use as a positive part of life 

Few age-appropriate friends 

PHYSICAL AND MENTAL HEALTH PERCEPTION OF SELF AND OTHERS

Has a condition that effects everyday life  Does not trust others 

Physically immature for age Discriminatory towards others 

Emotionally immature for age Victim of discrimination 

Self harms Low self esteem 

Suicide attempts Does not believe s/he commits anti-social acts 

THINKING, BEHAVIOUR AND ATTITUDES MOTIVATION / POSITIVES

Acts impulsively Understands problems in life 

Gets easily bored Can think problems through 

Easily led by others Has some pro-social friends 

Denies part in anti-social behaviour Supportive family / adults 

Lacks an understanding of consequences of actions Good use of spare time 

CHILD’S VULNERABILITY RISK OF HARM BY CHILD

Due to the behaviour of other people Has caused actual serious harm to somebody 

Due to circumstances / offence Has said they would cause serious harm to somebody 

Due to their own behaviour (including self harm) Concerns expressed by others about serious harm issues  

DATE:  JULY 2011                                         Page 27 of 37 

Version 5.0 

Page 127



Appendix 3: Protocol for managing the interface between CAF 

and Children’s Social Care 

Introduction 

The Common Assessment Framework (CAF) is a national tool to support early identification 

of a child’s/family’s needs that cannot be met within universal services (Level 1)  and to ensure 

that there is a co-ordinated response where several  targeted services (Level 2) are involved in 

providing support.  Effective use of the CAF and improved integrated working by targeted 

services should ensure that Children’s Social Care (Levels 3 and 4) are able to focus resources 

on those children and families with the highest levels of need. 

This Protocol refers to how the Referral and Assessment Team within Children’s Social Care 

need to work closely with the CAF Team to ensure that support is provided at the most 

appropriate level and that children and families do not slip through the net between targeted 

services (level 2) and Children’s Social Care (levels 3 and 4).   CAF Co-ordinators will spend a 

day a week with the Referral and Assessment Team to promote a better understanding of each 

other’s roles and to enable this protocol to become embedded. 

1.  Point of Referral 

1.1 Where contact/referrals come into the Referral and Assessment Team (R&A Team) or 

direct to Children with Disability Teams (CWD Teams) and the referral does not meet 

social care thresholds (ie, it is not Child Protection - which includes serious self-harm - 

a situation of imminent family breakdown or a child in need), then the R&A or CWD 

team will: 

! Recommend to the referrer that they obtain consent from the parent to complete a CAF.

! Offer support, through the CAF Team, on completing the CAF along with ensuring the 

referrer has details of the CAF Co-ordinator. 

! Inform the CAF Co-ordinator of this decision and record the contact/referral 

appropriately on Carefirst. 

! Confirm that a CAF is required in writing to the referrer; the referrer’s manager and 

send copy of this to the CAF Co-ordinator for their records. 

1.2 If the contact with the R&A / CWD Team is made by the parent or young person and it 

is assessed by the duty Social Worker that another service might meet the specific 

identified need, the duty Social Worker will explain the benefits of a CAF and agree 

with the family who amongst services already involved could initiate the CAF.  The 

duty Social Worker will follow up this service and this will be recorded on Carefirst as 

a Contact/Referral 

1.3 Where the referrer has not undertaken the Integrated Working Training (access through 

the Pathways website), they should be advised to consult with the designated manager 

or practitioner within their agency about how to progress the CAF.  They should also be 

advised to contact the CAF Co-ordinator for support. 

1.4 If the duty Social Worker is in any doubt about this course of action then the Duty 

Manager should be consulted. 

1.5 The referrer needs to be advised to inform the child / young person and family that they 

have consulted with Children and Families R&A / CWD team and that a CAF has been 

recommended. 

DATE:  JULY 2011                                         Page 28 of 37 

Version 5.0 

Page 128



1.6 A standard letter should be sent to the referrer confirming the above and advising that if 

at any stage in the process of completing the CAF any child protection concerns arise 

they should refer to the R&A / CWD Team.  A copy of the standard letter should also 

be sent to the CAF Co-ordinator so that the process can be tracked and supported. 

1.7 If a CAF has been completed and a referral needs to be made to R&A / CWD Team, the 

CAF form will inform the Initial Assessment. 

2. After Completion of an Initial Assessment

2.1 Where an Initial Assessment has been completed and additional needs are identified, 

but a decision has been made not to offer a service from Social Care on the basis that 

the presenting needs do not meet the threshold, the Social Worker should: 

! Contact the service with whom the family has the most contact (with the consent of the 

family) and ask that service to offer the family the opportunity to participate in a Team 

Around the Child meeting (TAC).  If the family accept, then the receiving service 

should contact the CAF Team to co-ordinate a TAC meeting, so that the child/young 

person needs can be addressed in an integrated way. 

! Record the action on Carefirst. 

2.1 At the TAC meeting, a Lead Professional from the agencies contributing to the action 

plan will be agreed. 

2.3 The Lead Professional will update the delivery plan and review using the CAF 

paperwork.

2.4 Where necessary the CAF Co-ordinator will attend to support the family and/or 

professional.

3. At the Conclusion of a Child in Need Plan 

3.1 Where a Child in Need plan (CIN) comes to an end but additional needs remain which 

could be met by targeted services, the Social Worker will: 

! Convene a CIN Review Meeting inviting the relevant targeted services in order to 

ensure continuing support for the family.  The Social Worker should arrange the 

meeting in consultation with the CAF Co-ordinator who will attend. 

! Summarise the outstanding issues and desired outcomes using the CAF Delivery Plan 

and Review, which can then be given to the newly appointed Lead Professional. 

! Share Initial/Core Assessments, with agreement from the family, with the services 

invited to the CIN Review Meeting.  If the family do not agree to share the complete 

Initial/Core Assessment, the Social Worker should agree with the family the relevant 

content to share with the targeted services that will continue to support the family. 

3.2 The Lead Professional will be a practitioner from the services now contributing to the 

Action Plan, ie, not the convening Social Worker because there is no need for further 

statutory involvement.   

3.3 It should be noted that the family will need to agree to work with targeted support 

services on offer, as there is no compulsion by Court Order or legal requirement. 

(Updated July 2011) 

DATE:  JULY 2011                                         Page 29 of 37 

Version 5.0 

Page 129



Appendix 4: Threshold criteria and referrals to Healthy Minds 

and Specialist CAMHS 

DATE:  JULY 2011                                         Page 30 of 37 

Version 5.0 

Page 130



DATE:  JULY 2011                                         Page 31 of 37 

Version 5.0 

Page 131



DATE:  JULY 2011                                         Page 32 of 37 

Version 5.0 

Page 132



DATE:  JULY 2011                                         Page 33 of 37 

Version 5.0 

Page 133



  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

DATE:  JULY 2011                                         Page 34 of 37 

Version 5.0 

Page 134



  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

DATE:  JULY 2011                                         Page 35 of 37 

Version 5.0 

Page 135



DATE:  JULY 2011                                         Page 36 of 37 

Version 5.0 

Page 136



DATE:  JULY 2011                                         Page 37 of 37 

Version 5.0 

Page 137



Page 138

This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

Wiltshire Council 
 
Children’s Services Select Committee 
27th September 2011  
 

 
 

Task Group updates 

  

 

1. Further Education in the Salisbury Area Task Group 
 

Membership:    Cllr Richard Britton 
  Cllr Mary Douglas 
  Cllr Jon Hubbard 
  Cllr Bill Moss 
  Cllr Jacqui Lay 
  Dr Mike Thompson (Chairman) 

 
 This Task Group has not met since the Committee meeting in July. It is 
scheduled to meet on 14th October and 9th November and a meeting with 
post-16 providers in Hampshire is also currently being arranged to discuss 
this issue.  

 
 
2. Major Contracts Task Group 
 

Membership:   Cllr Peter Colmer 
Cllr Jon Hubbard 
Cllr Jacqui Lay 
Cllr Bill Moss (Chairman) 
Cllr Carole Soden 

 
This Task Group met on 2nd September and Cllr Moss was re-elected as 
Chairman.  
 
Members received an update on the latest position with the Council’s contract 
with Quarriers who provide residential placements for children and young 
people. The contract has recently been resized to a block contract of 5 
placements, providing a saving of £400k. This reduction has been possible 
due to the increasing emphasis on finding alternatives to residential home 
placements. Members resolved to receive further updates on this contract at 
their meetings in December and March. 

 
Members also received updates on the other contracts they had been 
monitoring previously:  
 

• Sodexo School Food – there is no longer a corporate contract for 
providing school food. The contract was terminated due to low take-up 
from schools. 

Agenda Item 12

Page 139



 

 

• White Horse Education Partnership (PFI schools) – it was agreed that 
the Task Group would meet to consider the Partnership’s annual report 
on the three PFI schools on 15th December.  
 

• Sure Start Children’s Centres – savings had been made through the 
reduction to the the number of providers (and contracts) to four. It was 
agreed that members would visit children centres in various community 
areas and would receive further updates on the contracts in March. 

 
 
3. Placements for Looked After Children (LAC) Task Group 
 

Membership:   Cllr Peter Colmer 
Cllr Andrew Davis 
Cllr Jon Hubbard (Chairman) 
Rev Alice Kemp 
Cllr Bill Moss 
Cllr Helen Osborn 

 
This Task Group have not met since the Committee’s meeting in July. Its next 
meeting is scheduled for 14th November, when it will consider the Children in 
Care Commissioning Strategy, with any conclusions being referred for 
endorsement by the Select Committee at its meeting on 24th November. If 
appropriate, they will then be referred to Cabinet who will approve the final 
Strategy on 15th December.  

 
 
4. Special School and Post-16 SEN Task Group 
 

Membership:   Cllr Carole Soden 
     Rev Alice Kemp 
     Cllr Graham Payne (Chairman) 
     Cllr Anthony Trotman 
 

This Task Group will meet on 21st September. An update will be provided at 
the meeting. 
  

 

 
Paul Kelly – Designated Scrutiny Officer and Scrutiny Manager 
 
Report author: Henry Powell, 01225 718052, henry.powell@wiltshire.gov.uk  
 

Page 140



Forward Work Programme – Children’s Services Select Committee 
 

Item and  
Meeting Date 

Purpose of Report Consultation Supporting 
Documents 

Responsible 
Cabinet 
Member 

Officer 
Contact 

Wiltshire Council 
Business Plan 
2011-15 reference 

24th November 2011  

Coalition Changes - Update 
from Department for 
Children and Education 

A standing item detailing 
recent changes made by 
the Coalition Government.  

- - Cllr Lionel 
Grundy OBE 
lionel.grundy@
wiltshire.gov.uk 

Lynda Cox 
lynda.cox@
wiltshire.gov.
uk 
 
Tel: 07500 
605299 

Summary of 
Legislative Change 
 
(Page 11) 
 

Budget & Performance 
Monitoring 

A standing item reporting 
the latest budget and 
performance monitoring 
information for the 
Department of Children & 
Education. 

- -  Henry 
Powell 
henry.powell
@wiltshire.g
ov.uk  
 
Tel: 01225 
718052 

 

Report of the Placements 
for LAC Task Group on the 
Children in Care 
Commissioning Strategy  
 

The Placements for LAC 
Task Group intends to 
receive the draft Strategy in 
mid-November, with 
conclusions and 
recommendations referred 
to the Committee for 
endorsement and if 
appropriate, referral to 
Cabinet. The Children in 
Care Commissioning 
Strategy is scheduled to go 
before Cabinet on 15

th
 

December. 
 
 

- - Cllr Lionel 
Grundy OBE 
lionel.grundy@
wiltshire.gov.uk 

Henry 
Powell 
henry.powell
@wiltshire.g
ov.uk  
 
Tel: 01225 
718052 

Business Plan: 

Protect – Invest – Save    
(Page 52) 
 
Financial Plan: 
Protecting & 
safeguarding vulnerable 
children (Page 13) 

 

A
g
e
n

d
a
 Ite

m
 1

3

P
a
g
e
 1

4
1



Forward Work Programme – Children’s Services Select Committee 
 

Item and  
Meeting Date 

Purpose of Report Consultation Supporting 
Documents 

Responsible 
Cabinet 
Member 

Officer 
Contact 

Wiltshire Council 
Business Plan 
2011-15 reference 

Final Report of the Further 
Education in the Salisbury 
Area Task Group 

To present the conclusions 
and recommendations of 
the Task Group. 

- - Cllr Lionel 
Grundy OBE 
lionel.grundy@
wiltshire.gov.uk 
 

Henry 
Powell 
Henry.powell
@wiltshire.g
ov.uk  
01225 
718052 
 

 

26th January 2012  
 

Coalition Changes - Update 
from Department for 
Children and Education 

A standing item detailing 
recent changes made by 
the Coalition Government.  

- - Cllr Lionel 
Grundy OBE 
lionel.grundy@
wiltshire.gov.uk 

Lynda Cox 
lynda.cox@
wiltshire.gov.
uk 
 
Tel: 07500 
605299 

Summary of 
Legislative Change 
 
(Page 11) 
 

Budget & Performance 
Monitoring 

A standing item reporting 
the latest budget and 
performance monitoring 
information for the 
Department of Children & 
Education. 

- -  Henry 
Powell 
henry.powell
@wiltshire.g
ov.uk  
 
Tel: 01225 
718052 

 

Pupil Performance figures Annual report on 
educational attainment. 
 

- - Cllr Lionel 
Grundy OBE 
lionel.grundy
@wiltshire.gov
.uk 

Stephanie 
Denovan  
stephanie.d
enovan@w
iltshire.gov.
uk 
 

 

P
a
g

e
 1

4
2



Forward Work Programme – Children’s Services Select Committee 
 

Item and  
Meeting Date 

Purpose of Report Consultation Supporting 
Documents 

Responsible 
Cabinet 
Member 

Officer 
Contact 

Wiltshire Council 
Business Plan 
2011-15 reference 

Ofsted Children’s Services 
Rating 2011 

 - - Cllr Lionel 
Grundy OBE 
lionel.grundy
@wiltshire.gov
.uk 

Carolyn 
Godfrey 
carolyn.god
frey@wiltsh
ire.gov.uk 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

29th March 2012   

       

31st May 2012 

       

26th July 2012 

       

27th September 2012 

       

 
 
 
 

P
a
g
e
 1

4
3



Forward Work Programme – Children’s Services Select Committee 
 

Task Groups Terms of Reference Next meeting Chairman Officer 
Contact 

Business Plan 
2011-15 reference 

Further Education in 

the Salisbury Area 

Task Group 

 

a. To identify the number of young people from the 
Salisbury area who travel out of county and for long 
distances to access 16-19 education provision. 

 

b. To identify why those young people travelling long 
distances to access provision do so, the quality of 
life and employment implications, and the financial 
and environmental impact. 

 

c. To seek young people’s perception of the 16-19 
education provision available in the Salisbury area, 
both in and out of county. 

 

d. If a gap is identified in the provision of 16-19 
education in Salisbury area, to make constructive, 
workable recommendations as to how that gap 
might be filled.  

11.00am, 14
th
 

October, Bourne Hill 
 
2.30pm, 9

th
 

November, Bourne 
Hill 

Dr Michael 
Thompson Henry 

Powell 
 

Senior 
Scrutiny 
Officer 

 
01225 
718052 

 
Henry.powell
@wiltshire.g

ov.uk 
 

 

Major Contracts Task 

Group 

 

a. to hold contractors to account for the delivery of public 
services – in relation to those contracts which fall within the 
remit of the Children’s Services Select Committee 
 

b. to carry out mid-year and annual reviews of major contracts 
 

c. to investigate areas of poor performance and concerns 
arising from contract reviews and to make recommendations 
for improvement as appropriate 
 

d. to establish links with the relevant procurement boards so 
as to ensure appropriate involvement in the build up to 
contract renewal  
 

e. to periodically report into the Children’s Services Select 
Committee on matters arising from the task group’s 
activities during the year 
 

f. to produce an annual report for the Children’s Services 
Select Committee on the main findings and 
recommendations arising from the work of the task group. 

 

11.00am, 15
th
 

December, CR7, 
County Hall 
 
(closed to public) 
 

Cllr Bill Moss   

P
a
g

e
 1

4
4



Forward Work Programme – Children’s Services Select Committee 
 

Task Groups Terms of Reference Next meeting Chairman Officer 
Contact 

Business Plan 
2011-15 reference 

Placements for 

Looked After Children 

(LAC) Task Group 

 

a. To monitor and scrutinise the implementation of the 
Placements for LAC Commissioning Strategy and its impact 
upon a) outcomes for Wiltshire’s looked after children and 
their families/carers, and b) the Placements for LAC budget. 

 
b. To consider issues that have particular relevance to looked 

after children, including, but not limited to, accommodation 
and homelessness, fostering and adoption processes, 
educational support for looked after children, and support for 
their parents/carers and families. 

 
c. To monitor and scrutinise how the Council addresses the 

Family Placements Service as a key priority within the 
Business Plan 2011-15, including the specific objectives 
listed under this priority.  

 
d. To meet four times per year, with meeting dates agreed in 

advance where possible. 

 

11.30am, 14
th
 

November, CR7, 
County Hall 
 
(closed to public) 
 

Cllr Jon 
Hubbard 

Business Plan: 

Protect – Invest – Save    
(Page 52) 
 
Financial Plan: 

Protecting & 
safeguarding vulnerable 
children (Page 13) 

 

Special School and 

Post-16 SEN Task 

Group 

 

a. To establish the strengths and weaknesses of current 
special school and post-16 SEN provision in Wiltshire, 
taking into account the views of service users, parents and 
other stakeholder groups; 

 
b. To consider examples of best practice in special school and 

post-16 provision in Wiltshire and other authority areas; 
 
c. To make recommendations with respect to how special 

schools and post-16 SEN provision can be developed to 
ensure improved outcomes for Wiltshire residents with SEN. 

 

2.30pm, 21
st
 

September, CR8, 
County Hall 
 
 

Cllr Graham 
Payne 

Business Plan: 

Invest in: children’s 
attainment 
(Page 60) 
 
Financial Plan: 

Investment in children’s 
attainment 
(Page 19) 
 

 

P
a
g
e
 1

4
5



P
a
g

e
 1

4
6

T
h

is
 p

a
g

e
 is

 in
te

n
tio

n
a
lly

 le
ft b

la
n
k


	Agenda
	2 Minutes of the Previous Meeting
	6 Report of the Denominational Home-to-School Transport rapid scrutiny exercise
	Final Report of the Rapid Scrutiny Exercise - Denominational Transport - Appendix A.docx
	Final Report of the Rapid Scrutiny Exercise - Denominational Transport - Appendix B  and C
	Final Report of the Rapid Scrutiny Exercise - Denominational Transport (Cabinet member response)

	7 Report of the 11 to 19 Commissioning Strategy rapid scrutiny exercise
	Task Group update - Lionel Grundy

	8 Coalition Update
	9 Budget and Performance Monitoring - Department for Children & Education
	Revenue Budget Monitoring Reports - Appendix A (DCE edit)
	Business Plan Scorecard Report (DCE edit)

	10 Ofsted Unannounced Inspection of Contact, Referral and Assessment Arrangements
	Unannounced_inspection 2011 (2)
	DCE Ofsted Inspection Action Plan Jul 2011doc TEMPLATE (2)
	Referral and Assessment Team report 12 09 11

	11 Multi-Agency Thresholds Document
	Multi-Agency_Thresholds_v5

	12 Task Group update
	13 Forward Work Programme

